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Chairman’s Statement

EFRERSE

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of China Nuclear Energy Technology Corporation
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), | am pleased to present to you this annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

BARE :
EANERRPEZERNKERBRAE (BAE - EZREKNE

AE)GEE (THEE) EF (TEF) & (EF5g) MARZEE
BEAEEBE_S_TF+ A=+ ALEELERERS

CrR e

2020 was an extraordinary year. In the face of the unexpected
impact brought by COVID-19 pandemic, the Group strengthened
its organizational leadership, improved the accountability at
various levels, adopted scientific precaution and control measures,
and resumed work and production as early as possible. We have
achieved the goal of “Dual battles, dual victories” in epidemic
prevention and control measures and maintaining manufacturing
operations simultaneously. During the epidemic, certain
subsidiaries of our Company donated money and supplies to the
local governments and epidemic areas respectively through various
channels. A number of our company employees, as community
volunteers, actively participated in the front-line epidemic

prevention work fulfilling social responsibilities with actions.

4 CHINA NUCLEAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

“ECEERBAFAN—F EMRE
BRMAER BHFAMENEE > ~EER
fCHEBRE BEBERE IR EMHEE
i BEUERFEEFLHEIEE BRER
iR EEES TEREE - LRHE B2
Bt/ A B)iRIR % B R 5 B A B 3 BT A
EERBEY — A RARNEIFAHETE
ERB2E-GHEIE BERTHET
HEsEe



During the year, the new energy market was volatile. Affected
by the “epidemic + supply fluctuations” phenomenon, demand
gradually recovered in the second half of the year. The Group has
studied and assessed the macro environment, industry policies and
competitive pressures thoroughly, then focused on the Company
operations, adhered to the operating principles of “Strong
foundation, steady progress, and sustainable profitability”,
consolidated the construction of the management and control
system to further improve operational efficiency and anti-risk
capability.

On the basis of traditional photovoltaic ("PV") EPC, the Group
has continued to expand the scope of general contracting,
implement the concept of full participation in market
development, continuously conduct cost refinement management,
and subdivide cost control timely. Meanwhile, we optimized
supply chain management and enhanced materials and project
procurement procedures comprehensively. Through lowering
the cost and improving efficiency, the Group has further
reinforced its diversified engineering capacity of photovoltaic
power, photothermal power, wind power as well as municipal
environmental protection, and has been recognized as one of the

top players among China EPC brands for five consecutive years.

The Group has made collaborative effort to overcome the lagged
supply of wind turbine and fully secured the —power generation
and grid connection of our wind power projects. By utilizing the
intellectualized system, the operation and maintenance of our
power stations kept improving. The Group’s power generation
level was industry-leading, which contributed to the continuous
consolidation of quality profitability. The Group will further tap
into the market of energy storage and 5G projects, devote extra
investment in scientific research, and pave the way for the Group's

new profit driver.
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EEHRS

The Group raised the overall efficiency of funds utilization and
seized the favorable opportunities arising in the interest and
exchange rate markets. We also adjusted the debt structure of
some projects with short-term repayment pressures or long-term
high financing costs via internal financing platform, by optimizing
the loan combinations and using the “Outbound Guarantee”
measure. The annual financial expenses thus decreased by 20%
year-on-year, and EBITDA to financial expense ratio increased
by 8%. The Group has strictly reviewed and assessed its
accounts receivables and inventories, implemented zero-storage
management, therefore, the cash flow of operating activities has

improved significantly.

The Group optimized the asset structure by actively disposing
of inefficient assets. We continued to intensify compliance
management, strengthen the supervision of internal audits and
inspections. By making full use of audit and supervision results,
we focus on formulating rectification plans to the deficiencies,
unremittingly improve the level of corporate governance, and
enhance the ability to resist risks, laying a solid foundation for the

future development of the Group.
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In September 2020, President Xi Jinping announced at the General
Debate of the Seventy-fiftth United Nations General Assembly
that China’s carbon dioxide emissions will reach its peak by 2030
and strive to achieve carbon neutrality by 2060. Subsequently,
at the Climate Ambition Summit held in December of the same
year, it was further announced that by 2030, China’s carbon
dioxide emissions per unit of GDP will drop by more than 65%
from 2005, and non-fossil energy will account for about 25%
of primary energy consumption, the total installed capacity of
wind power and solar power will reach more than 1.2 billion
kilowatts. In addition to China, many countries and economies
such as Japan and South Korea have also proposed their respective
goals of achieving “Carbon Neutrality” successively. EU member
states have agreed to increase the 2030 greenhouse gas emission
reduction target to 55%. The support from sustainable policy
and the competitiveness brought by grid parity have boosted the
development of renewable energy to an unprecedented strategic
height. The industry whirlwind has already come, the Group will
adhere to the mission of “developing clean energy and promoting
harmonious coexistence between human and nature”, continue to
strengthen its competitiveness, deepen strategic transformation,
constantly improve incentive mechanisms, innovate business
collaboration models, and pay attention to the investment
opportunities for the cleaning energy industry segment, timely
fuel up the Company’s evolvement with capital, create our own
unique business feature, and contribute to the development of

clean energy in the new era.

On behalf of the board, | sincerely express my gratitude to
our shareholders, clients and business partners who have long
supported us, and cordially appreciate all the employees and

colleagues for your contributions to the Group.

Zhao Yixin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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Directors’ Report
EEGHRS

The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities and other particulars of its subsidiaries are set
out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements of this

annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2020, overall revenue
decreased by approximately 24.9% to HK$2,171,194,000
(2019: HK$2,892,578,000), which was mainly attributed by the
engineering, procurement and construction (the “EPC"”) and
consultancy and general construction segment. The Group's profit
for the year ended 31 December 2020 was HK$70,368,000 (2019:
HK$104,021,000), representing a decrease of approximately
32.4% as compared to that for the year ended 31 December
2019. The decrease in profit was mainly due to the effect imposed
by EPC and consultancy and general construction segment of the

Group.
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EPC and Consultancy and General Construction

Revenue of the EPC and consultancy and general construction
segment was recognised based on stage of completion of
the projects. Segment sales to external customers decreased
by approximately 19.0% to HK$1,867,569,000 (2019:
HK$2,306,824,000). The decline of segment revenue was primarily
attributable to (i) the Coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19")
pandemic which decreased the number of EPC projects and
dragged on projects’ percentage of completion recognized
during 2020 and also affected the photovoltaic EPC market
development in 2020; and (ii) the grid-parity and competitive
bidding system facilitates reduction in overall investment costs
of photovoltaic projects, leading to lower bidding prices for EPC
projects. The EPC and consultancy and general construction
segment recorded segment result (before tax and finance cost)
of HK$70,283,000 (2019: segment result (before tax and finance
cost) of HK$139,795,000) for the year ended 31 December 2020,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 49.7%.

In 2020, the Group has obtained 10 authorized patents,
completed technology investment planning and launched 3 new
technology research and development projects. Simultaneously,
the Group has obtained the third-level qualification for general
contracting of communication engineering construction and the
second-level qualification for the power industry (wind power
generation), accreditations of Nanjing Specialized New Enterprise,
Nanjing Top 100 Service Industry Enterprise, Jiangsu Province
Headquarter Enterprise, 2020 Photovoltaic Brand Lab (“PVBL")
top ten ranking of the most valuable power station EPC brands,
“Polaris Cup” Influential Photovoltaic EPC/Employer Unit in 2020,
two awards on 2020 “Polaris Cup” Influential Photovoltaic Power
Plant Operation and Maintenance Brands, which exhibited the
Group's professional excellence.

In spite of the impact of COVID-19 pandemic and grid-parity
pressure, the Group took proactive initiative to respond, overcome
challenges, and adopted various measures to minimize costs and
enhance efficiency. Firstly, the Group strengthened the market
development of photovoltaic EPC and project management.
Secondly, all projects were completed on schedule with high
quality. For example, Suining 85 megawatts (“MW") wind power
project was successfully connected to the grid. Inner Mongolia
100 MW solar thermal project generated power at full capacity.
Zhenjiang GCL 60 MW project, Fengyang GCL 20 MW project,
Yunnan Jianchuan Poverty Alleviation Project, Luquan Poverty
Alleviation Project and Yongping Poverty Alleviation Project were
also connected to the grid on schedule. The Sanlihe resettlement
community project in Baoyuan, Anhui and Liyuan’s main project
had been completed. Outdoor supporting works are conducted
for the Sugian resettlement housing and Suining resettlement
community projects.
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Directors’ Report
EEGHRS

In 2020, the Group continues to actively diversify its EPC and
consultancy and general construction segment to new business
portfolios in other renewable energy segments such as wind
power and other segments. The construction and engineering
company acquired in 2018, by virtue of its numerous building
and installation construction qualifications and specialization
in conducting governmental housing projects and municipal
engineering projects, also contributed significantly to this business
segment in 2020 by generating revenue of HK$685,638,000
(2019: HK$568,916,000), representing an increase of 20.5% as
compared to that for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Manufacturing and Trading

The module plant of the Group in Peixian of Xuzhou recorded
segment sales to external customers of HK$66,626,000 (2019:
HK$388,658,000),
82.9%,
HK$18,267,000 (2019: segment result (before tax and finance

cost) of HK$1,114,000), representing a significant increase of

representing a decrease of approximately

and segment loss (before tax and finance cost) of

loss for the year ended 31 December 2020. The module plant
was principally engaged in assembling silicon wafers and other
components for the formation of solar photovoltaic modules.
Due to keen market competition, this business segment faced
challenges during 2020 with significant decrease in orders. The
module plant has ceased production since the second half of 2020

to integrate the Group’s resources in an efficient manner.
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Power Generation

As at 31 December 2020, the Group owned and operated 52
solar photovoltaic power stations and rooftop distributed solar
photovoltaic power generation facilities in Jiangsu, Hebei and
Yunnan Provinces, with a total scale of 210 MW. In 2020, the
Group completed 263 million kilowatt-hour power generation
output, which contributed steady power generation income
accordingly. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
participated in the construction and development of wind power
projects in Liangji Town and Weiji Town in Jiangsu Province, the
PRC with a total capacity of 145MW. Details of the wind power
projects were included in the circular of the Company dated
27 November 2019. As at 31 December 2020, the wind power
projects were still under construction and development. In spite
of the impact of COVID-19 pandemic which slowed down the
progress, the Group still managed to complete connection of
140MW capacity to the grid during 2020 and started to generate
revenue of HK$21,420,000. The projects are expected to be
completed in 2021 with further revenue contributing to the
power generation segment continuously. For the year ended
31 December 2020, this segment recorded revenue growth of
approximately 24.9%, contributing HK$212,033,000 (2019:
HK$169,803,000) to the Group’'s revenue and segment result
(before tax and finance cost) increased approximately 15.0% to
HK$85,091,000 (2019: segment result (before tax and finance
cost) of HK$74,008,000).

On 21 January 2020, RAZ(BR)EBRZERERLST
(transliterated as CNI (Nanjing) Energy Development Company
Limited (“CNI Nanjing”),
of the Company, entered into two sale and purchase agreements

an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary

with independent third party vendors respectively to acquire
the entire equity interests of BIFEHABEEHERA
& (transliterated as Fuyang Hengming Solar Power Co., Ltd.)
("Hengming”) and $EIHEMERBR QS (transliterated as
Zhenjiang GCL New Energy Co., Ltd.) (“Zhenjiang”). Completion
of the aforesaid two acquisitions had taken place in March 2020
and June 2020 respectively, and accordingly both Hengming and
Zhenjiang became wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company
and they started to contribute to the Group’s power generation
business.
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Simultaneously, the Group continues to proactively research
energy storage technologies and revenue models on the power
generation, grid, and user perspectives, as well as national and
local policies, and actively tracks the research, development
and investigation on energy storage projects in Shandong and
other places. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
completed the feasibility study of supporting energy storage for
the Suining wind power project, which paved the way for the

development of the energy storage projects in 2021.

The solar power plants and facilities of the Group are located in
China with significant portion of the revenue contributed by the
State Grid Corporation of China, which is a state-owned electric
utility enterprise in China and the default risk is low. Therefore,
the Board considered that the credit risk was minimal. On the
other hand, the results of the power generation segment will also
be affected by the hours of daylight during the year ended 31
December 2020.

Financing

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's finance
leasing business recorded segment sales to external customers
of HK$24,966,000 (2019: HK$27,293,000), which decreased by
approximately 8.5% and segment loss (before tax and finance
cost) of HK$30,611,000 (2019: segment loss (before tax and
finance cost) of HK$25,726,000) increased by approximately
19.0%. The increase in segment loss was mainly due to less
finance lease interest income received during the year from certain
financial leasing projects and the increase in finance costs for the
year ended 31 December 2020 as compared with 2019, which
is mainly due to the increase in average total bank and other
borrowings as compared with 2019. For the year under review,
the Group had put more focus on intragroup financial leasing

projects to mitigate business risks.
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Environmental Policy and Performance

As an enterprise specializes in renewable energy development,
the Group unceasingly strives to improve our performance in
environment, social and governance in all business segments so
as to provide the general public with cleaner and more reliable
electricity supply. In order to take accountability for the design,
safety and quality of our construction projects, we regularly
inspect and monitor the EPC procedures of each construction
project and timely execute rectifications and modifications
when defects arise. At the same time, we have established
a comprehensive reporting and analysis mechanism, which
enables the Group to flexibly resolve issues and prevent potential

problems.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the "Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Company will
publish an Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report
in compliance with the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting

Guide in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.

Taking Precautionary Measures Against COVID-19

To Ensure Production Safety and Improve Project
Management Level

Since the beginning of 2020, COVID-19 pandemic has swept the
world. The Group drew up the “New Coronavirus Pneumonia
Prevention and Control Work Plan”, “New Coronavirus Pneumonia
Emergency Plan”, “lIsolation Plan for the Prevention and Control
of New Coronavirus Pneumonia” and other prevention and control
guidance documents on a timely basis. In the face of epidemic,
all employees and business associates of the Group are united to
overcome adversities and persevere both epidemic prevention and
production without procrastination. Under the circumstances of
ascertaining production safety, all projects are fostered to resume
work and production at the soonest possible, so as to minimize
epidemic impact on certain EPC and fixed asset investment

projects under construction.
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The Group strengthens execution of project sites to ensure project
safety, quality, progress, and cost control objectives, improves
and strengthens job responsibilities, implements project economic
responsibility system, strengthens supervision and assessment
of professional positions such as project managers. It enhances
construction site material management especially for storage and
scientific use, reduces unreasonable consumption, strengthens
construction safety management and safety production education,
as well as ameliorates on-site safety measures to implement safety
management goals. The Group also strengthens construction
quality management and engages in high quality projects. It
strengthens construction schedule management, performs well in
management coordination and resource allocation, and earnestly
fulfills the contract duration. It also wraps up project completion
acceptance and settlement, and comprehensively improves project

management.

The Group closely focuses on the safety and environmental
protection management goals, strictly implements production
safety and production responsibility, strengthens the construction
of risk management and control mechanisms, enhances
management of daily production safety hazards and seasonal
safety hazards in spring and summer, and organizes safety
production inspections. The “Production Safety Month” campaign
has achieved the goal of zero production safety accidents and
ensured the smooth operation of the Group’s production and

business activities.
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In order to minimize accounts receivable ageing balance, the
Group implements the payment collection accountability system
which directly links the performance and remuneration of the
responsible persons. At the same time, the Group further improves
the customer credit evaluation system and strengthens customer
credit status and performance evaluation. It establishes a whitelist
system for financial institutions to eliminate bill risks, speeds up
the cleanup of abnormal accounts receivable, increases collection
efforts through legal channels, and strives for favorable collection
conditions through continuous communication with employers

and creditors.

Each power station implements the trinity management of
intelligent operation and maintenance system, video cloud
platform and intelligent inspection. Through the implementation
of 6S management standards (6S covers finishing (SEIRI),
rectification (SEITON), cleaning (SEISO), cleaning (SEIKETSU),
literacy (SHITSUKE)), security (SECURITY),

dangers,

it reduces hidden
improves efficiency, ensures standardization and
refinement of power station operation and maintenance, and
achieves smooth and efficient operations. The Group follows up
timely on the progress of state subsidies to ensure that all power
stations are reflected in the subsidy list. The Group continues
to carry out wind power project operation and maintenance
management, accumulates relevant experience, and conducts

industry benchmarking management.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no evidence
of non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have significant impacts on the Group as far as the Board is

aware.
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Relationship with Employees, Customers and Suppliers
The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not
discriminate on the basis of personal characteristics. Employee
handbook outlined terms and conditions of employment,
expectations for employees’ behaviour and service delivery,
employees’ rights and benefits. We provide ongoing training
and development opportunities to enhance employees’ career

progression.

The Group appreciates the importance of maintaining good
relationship with its customers and suppliers to meet its immediate
and long-term business goals. The Group values the feedback
from customers through regular communication and addressing
their concerns in a timely manner. For suppliers, the Group assures
their performance for delivering quality sustainable products and
services.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there is no
circumstance of any event between the Group and its employees,
customers and suppliers which will have a significant impact on

the Group's business and on which the Group’s success depends.

Business Prospects
The global reduction of carbon emissions becomes prevalent

with acceleration of replacement from renewable energy

The current global reduction of carbon emissions progress is
accelerating: 1) It currently announces that China will strive to
reach the peak of carbon emissions by 2030, achieve carbon
neutrality by 2060, and non-fossil energy will account for 25%
of primary energy consumption in 2030; 2) The European Union
budget will increase the expected target of reduction of carbon
emissions for 2030 from 40% to 55% to achieve consensus. The
new global carbon emission target is expected to accelerate the
replacement of traditional energy by new energy sources, and the

demand for photovoltaic market is expected to accelerate growth.
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The Group actively enriches its corporate qualifications, and
gradually expands the scope of general contracting to solar
thermal power generation, wind power generation, municipal
environmental protection, energy storage and other fields, and

engages in more high quality projects.

The Group obtained Grade B qualification for wind power
generation last year, and has equipped with the necessary
qualification and ability to independently design small and
medium wind farms. In the future, we will continue to increase
the study and research on new technologies, new products,
and new processes in the photovoltaic, wind power, and
energy storage industries, and optimize the design schemes of
photovoltaic, wind power, and energy storage. It will continue to
increase the proportion of scientific research funding. The Group
will deepen industry-university-research cooperation, promote
systematic and in-depth research on photovoltaic, solar thermal,
wind power, and energy storage technologies, reduce engineering
costs, enhance efficiency and promote high-quality development

with expertise and innovation.

The Group will proactively launch investment projects in new
energy development, actively participate in bidding and parity
projects in various regions, accelerate the development of existing
projects. Relying on the Group’s accumulated sophisticated
experience in wind power and photovoltaic development,
construction, operation and maintenance, it has gained a good
market reputation and will fully expand the market. Market
competitiveness is enhanced through striving to implement
refinement management and stringent risk management
measures. The Group will proactively explore investment
opportunities in other new energy and EPC sectors in the PRC and

overseas to achieve positive returns and enable sustainability.
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The Group plans to adopt differentiated competitive strategy
to expand its advantageous growth in emerging industries in
the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and the
Hainan Free Trade Port. It will also seize opportunities on clean
energy industry to cooperate with high-quality enterprises to
achieve balanced and stable development. The Group will utilize
capital strength, focus on promotion of investment-loan linkages
and supply chain finance to expedite development of group
companies, their upstream and downstream customers, realize
closed-loop risks, ameliorate core competitiveness of the factoring
business, create new sources of profits and attain synergistic

effects with stakeholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group's overall revenue decreased by 24.9% from
HK$2,892,578,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 to
HK$2,171,194,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
decrease was mainly due to less revenue generated from the EPC
and consultancy and general construction segment during the
year ended 31 December 2020. Profit attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to HK$57,064,000 for the year ended
31 December 2020, which represented a year-on-year decrease of
41.1% when compared with that for the year ended 31 December
2019. Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2020 was HK4.35 cents when compared with HK7.37

cents recorded for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Financial Results

Year ended 31 December

MEREA
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#E+_A=+—HLEE

2020 2019 Changes
—E-EE “T-hE b=

HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 Percentage

BABTR BT BT Bt

Revenue U &= 2,171,194 2,892,578 (721,384) -24.9%

Other income and gains HMRAREF 25,275 10,904 14,371 131.8%

Cost of sales HERE (913,471) (1,795,521) 882,050 -49.1%

Construction costs BB (962,849) (741,299) (221,550) 29.9%

Staff costs BIMA (49,811) (48,651) (1,160) 2.4%

Depreciation e (102,664) (90,071) (12,593) 14.0%

Other operating expenses H&&EfE (60,755) (63,742) 2,987 -4.7%

Gain on bargain purchases EEBE WG 3,531 - 3,531 N/AZR 38 F
Loss on disposal of financial HERATEFAEE

assets at FVTPL ZEMBEENEE (34) = (34) N/AREF

Finance costs BA TSR (42,601) (53,169) 10,568 -19.9%

Share of results of associates, net DMGHE AT Z2 ¥ 4E B4 21,996 17,499 4,497 25.7%

Profit before income tax expense F&FR1873 58 A& 7 89,811 128,528 (38,717) -30.1%

Income tax expense R x (19,443) (24,507) 5,064 -20.7%

Profit for the year FREA 70,368 104,021 (33,653) -32.4%
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Revenue I &=
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group achieved @MEBEE_ZT_ZT&E+_H=+—HIEEE"
revenue of HK$2,171,194,000 (2019: HK$2,892,578,000), AEEZFBWREBEE2,171,194,0007T (ZF

representing a decrease of 24.9% as compared to that of the year — N : B1§2,892,578,0007T) ' BREBEE_Z
ended 31 December 2019. Composition of revenue for the years —NWE+ZB=+T—HLEFERD24.9% &
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is shown in the following FE_E_EFR_ZFE—HAEFE+RAR=+—H
table: FFEZKRHRASEHIINTER
Year ended 31 December #E+-B=+—BLEE
2020 2019
t ek -3 —E-hE
Percentage Percentage
of the of the
Group's Group's
HK$’000 total revenue HK$'000  total revenue
2 EE HEEE

ATz HBRmEDL BT BEEEIL

EPC and consultancy and EPCRBHARERER

general construction 1,867,569 86.0% 2,306,824 79.8%
Power generation & 212,033 9.8% 169,803 5.8%
Financing = 24,966 1.1% 27,293 1.0%
Manufacturing and trading NEREE 66,626 3.1% 388,658 13.4%
Total Bt 2,171,194 100.0% 2,892,578 100.0%
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, EPC and consultancy and
general construction segment remained the principal source of
the Group's revenue which contributed HK$1,867,569,000 (2019:
HK$2,306,824,000), representing a decrease of approximately
19.0% as compared to that for the year ended 31 December
2019. The decrease in revenue was attributable to (i) the decrease
in numbers of EPC projects and current projects with lower
percentage of completion recognised during the year ended
31 December 2020, which stemmed from COVID-19 pandemic
imposing impact on the photovoltaic EPC market development in
2020; and (ii) the launch of grid-parity and competitive bidding
system which reduced the overall investment costs of photovoltaic

projects, leading to lower bidding prices for EPC projects.

Manufacturing and trading segment achieved a revenue of
HK$66,626,000 (2019: HK$388,658,000), contributing to 3.1%
(2019:
ended 31 December 2020. Due to keen market competition, this

13.4%) of the Group's overall revenue for the year

business segment faced challenges during 2020 with significant
decrease in orders. The module plant has ceased production since
the second half of 2020 to integrate the Group's resources in an
efficient manner.

Benefited from (i) an addition of 47MW self-owned and self-
operated solar power facilities connected to the national grid in
2020, (i) formation of certain scale of the existing solar power
facilities and (iii) the wind power projects in Liangji Town and
Weiji Town in Jiangsu Province, the PRC with a total capacity of
145MW, of which 140MW was connected to the grid during
2020 and started to generate revenue of HK$21,420,000,
revenue derived from power generation segment achieved a
growth of approximately 24.9% to HK$212,033,000 (2019:
HK$169,803,000).

Revenue from financing segment dropped approximately 8.5%
to HK$24,966,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
HK$27,293,000) as the Group received less finance lease interest
income during the year from certain financial leasing projects.
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Profit

Profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to
HK$70,368,000 (2019: HK$104,021,000), representing a decrease
of approximately 32.4% as compared to that for the year ended
31 December 2019. The decrease in profit was mainly due to
the EPC and consultancy and general construction segment of
the Group, which was primarily due to the following reasons:
(i) the COVID-19 pandemic that decreased the number of EPC
projects, slowed down the progress of existing EPC projects and
also affected the photovoltaic EPC market development in 2020;
and (i) the launch of grid-parity and competitive models have
caused to the general decrease in the total investment costs of
photovoltaic projects, leading to lower bidding prices for EPC

projects.

The net profit margin of the Group decreased to 3.2% (2019:
3.6%). Net profit margin of the Group varied in different
segments depending on its business nature. Profit attributable to
owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020
decreased by approximately 41.1% to HK$57,064,000 (2019:
HK$96,820,000) and basic and diluted earnings per share was
HK4.35 cents (2019: HK7.37 cents).

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains for the year ended 31 December 2020
amounted to HK$25,275,000 (2019: HK$10,904,000) which was
primarily derived from interest and sundry income. Details of
other income and gains are set out in note 7 to the consolidated

financial statements of this annual report.
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Cost of Sales and Construction Costs

Cost of sales and construction costs for the year ended
31 December 2020 amounted to HK$913,471,000
(2019: HK$1,795,521,000) and HK$962,849,000 (2019:
HK$741,299,000) respectively, representing corresponding
decrease of 49.1% and increase of 29.9%. Such changes were
primarily due to the increase in governmental housing and
municipal engineering projects in the EPC general construction
segment which led to the increase in construction costs and
the decrease in new energy projects in the EPC and consultancy
segment and significant decrease in orders in manufacturing and

trading segment which led to the decrease in cost of sales.

Staff Costs
The increase in staff costs by approximately 2.4% to
HK$49,811,000 (2019: HK$48,651,000) was due to

competitiveness of labour force market conditions.

Depreciation

Depreciation of the Group increased by approximately 14.0% to
HK$102,664,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
HK$90,071,000). It was mainly contributed by the increase in
number of solar photovoltaic power plants, wind power plants
and related facilities invested and constructed by the Group in

recent years.

Other Operating Expenses

Included in other operating expenses are primarily exchange
differences, bank charges, professional fees, administrative
expenses, research and development fees and travelling expenses
which amounted to HK$60,755,000 for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: HK$63,742,000), representing a decrease
of approximately 4.7% as compared to that for the year ended 31

December 2019.
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Finance Costs

Finance costs primarily represented interest expenses on
bank and other borrowings. Finance costs for the year ended
31 December 2020 decreased by approximately 19.9% to
HK$42,601,000 (2019: HK$53,169,000) which was mainly due
to the capitalization of interest expenses of HK$28,514,000 to
wind power plants and related construction projects, despite the
increase in average total bank and other borrowings during the
year. Having considered the capital intensive nature of the energy
industry whereby the Group enlarged its investment in possessing
and operating power stations and facilities in PRC for power
generation income, as a result, the bank and other borrowings
secured by the Group increased for the expansion of power

generation businesses.

Income Tax Expense

For the year ended 31 December 2020, income tax expense of
the Group decreased by approximately 20.7% to HK$19,443,000
(2019: HK$24,507,000). The decrease is in line with a decline in
revenue during the year. In 2020, a subsidiary of the Group was
accredited as “Advanced Technology Enterprise” by the Science
and Technology Bureau of relevant provinces and authorities in
the PRC for a term of three years from 2020 to 2022 with the
entitlement of applying a reduced 15% enterprise income tax
rate. The Group has engaged a PRC tax adviser to determine the
subsidiary’s eligibility for the reduced 15% enterprise income tax
rate. According to the tax report, the subsidiary has fulfilled the
basic annual requirement and it is eligible for the reduced 15%
enterprise income tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The effective tax rate applicable to the profit of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020 was 21.6% (2019: 19.1%).
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Financial Position BAFEAR R
As at 31 December ®»+=-B=+—H
2020 2019 Changes
—E_EF —E-hEF 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 %
BT BT T BT T Bt
Non-current assets FERBBEE 2,870,421 1,480,259 1,390,162 93.9%
Current assets MEEE 4,402,151 4,206,117 196,034 4.7%
Total assets BEMALE 7,272,572 5,686,376 1,586,196 27.9%
Non-current liabilities FERBERE 1,887,213 786,944 1,100,269 139.8%
Current liabilities mEas 4,258,534 3,962,554 295,980 7.5%
Total liabilities BEE%E 6,145,747 4,749,498 1,396,249 29.4%
Net assets BEETFE 1,126,825 936,878 189,947 20.3%
Share capital iR 131,309 131,309 - 0.0%
Reserves B4 975,535 797,453 178,082 22.3%
Equity attributable to: THATREGER :
— owners of the Company  YNCIEZZ=DN 1,106,844 928,762 178,082 19.2%
- non-controlling interests — IR EE 19,981 8,116 11,865 146.2%
Total equity AR 1,126,825 936,878 189,947 20.3%

FEERNREBEBRAT o
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As at 31 December 2020, total assets of the Group were
HK$7,272,572,000 (2019: HK$5,686,376,000),

an increase of approximately 27.9% as compared to that

representing

for the year ended 31 December 2019. In particular, current
assets increased by approximately 4.7% to HK$4,402,151,000
(2019: HK$4,206,117,000) and non-current assets increased
by approximately 93.9% to HK$2,870,421,000 (2019:
HK$1,480,259,000). The increase in total assets of the Group
was mainly contributed by certain photovoltaic power stations
acquired during the year and the construction and development of

the wind power projects.

Total liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2020 were
HK$6,145,747,000 (2019: HK$4,749,498,000), an increase of
approximately 29.4% as compared to that as at 31 December
2019. In particular, current liabilities as at 31 December 2020
were HK$4,258,534,000 (2019: HK$3,962,554,000), representing
an increase of approximately 7.5% as compared to that as at 31
December 2019, which was principally due to the increase in trade
and bills payables. Non-current liabilities as at 31 December 2020
were HK$1,887,213,000 (2019: HK$786,944,000), representing
an increase of approximately 139.8% as compared to that as at
31 December 2019 as a result of the increase in long-term bank

and other borrowings.

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company as at 31
December 2020 was HK$1,106,844,000 (31 December 2019:
HK$928,762,000),

compared with that as at 31 December 2019, primarily resulted

representing an increase of 19.2% as

from the generation of profit from business operations and the
exchange differences on translating foreign operations contributed

by appreciation of Renminbi during 2020.
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Capital Raising Exercise
The Company did not conduct a capital raising exercise during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

As at 31 December 2020, net current assets of the Group
amounted to HK$143,617,000 (2019: net current assets of
HK$243,563,000). Besides, the Group maintained cash and cash
equivalents of HK$386,473,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
HK$448,553,000), of which approximately 6% was in Hong Kong
dollars, 87% was in Renminbi (“"RMB"), 6% was in United States
dollars and 1% was in Eurodollars (2019: approximately 2% was
in Hong Kong dollars, 75% was in RMB, 22% was in United

States dollars and 1% was in Eurodollars).

As at 31 December 2020,
bank and other borrowings of HK$3,494,561,000 (20109:
HK$2,484,520,000), of which approximately 9% was in Hong
Kong dollars, 81% was in RMB and 10% was in United States

the Group had outstanding

dollars (2019: approximately 18% was in Hong Kong dollars,
72% was in RMB, 8% was in United States dollars and 2% was
in Eurodollars). All of the Group’s borrowings as at 31 December
2020 were arranged on floating rate basis with effective interest
rates ranged from 2.0% to 6.3% per annum (2019: ranged from
2.0% to 6.3% per annum). Except for certain bank and other
borrowings which were committed loan facilities with specific
maturity dates, the Group’s borrowings contained repayment on
demand clause at any time at the discretion of the banks. Under
the Hong Kong Accounting Standards, the Group separated
and classified the bank and other borrowings as current and
non-current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2020 in accordance with terms of
settlement. Of the total bank and other borrowings as at 31
December 2020, HK$1,614,823,000 (2019: HK$1,699,801,000)
was loans repayable within one year and the balance of
HK$1,879,738,000 (2019: HK$784,719,000) was repayable more

than one year.
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As at 31 December 2020, included in other payables of
approximately HK$Nil (equivalent to RMBNil) (2019: approximately
HK$100,575,000 (equivalent to RMB90,000,000)) which
represents an unsecured interest bearing loan from FIZRE A R
‘AF] (transliterated as China Nuclear Investment Company Limited
(“CNICL")), an intermediate holding company of the Company.
The interest rate of the loan is at the prevailing benchmark
lending interest rate to be promulgated by The People's Bank of
China (“PBOC") multiplied by (1+20%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's gearing ratio was 3.11
(2019: 2.77), which was calculated on the basis of total debt over
total equity. Total debt comprises loan amounts included in other
payables and accruals, bank and other borrowings, obligations

under finance lease and lease liabilities.

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had trade receivables,
finance lease receivables and pledged bank deposits amounting to
HK$13,1711,000 (2019:HK$22,350,000), HK$182,082,000 (2019:
HK$238,363,000), and HK$418,183,000 (2019: HK$481,719,000)
respectively which have been pledged to secure the bank and

other facilities granted to the Group.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other charges on its
assets as at 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

Capital Structure

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated resources, bank and other borrowings and capital
raising activities. The liquidity and financing requirements of the

Group are reviewed regularly.
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As the Group's bank balances and cash are mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, RMB and United States dollars, the Directors
considered the Group was exposed to limited exchange risk.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did not use
any financial instruments for hedging purpose and the Group did
not have any hedging instruments outstanding as at 31 December
2020 (2019: Nil).

The Group will monitor closely the exchange rate risk arising from
the Group's existing operations and any new investments in future
and will implement necessary hedging arrangement to mitigate

any significant foreign exchange risk when and if appropriate.

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards it treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group's
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the
Group’s assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its

funding requirements all the time.

Capital Expenditure and Commitments
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had capital
expenditure of HK$1,081,346,000 (2019: HK$71,317,000) which

was used for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any capital
commitments (2019: HK$Nil).
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Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions
and Disposals of Subsidiaries and Associated
Companies, and Future Plans for Material Investments
or Capital Assets

On 21 January 2020, CNI Nanjing, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into two sale and purchase
agreements with independent third party vendors to acquire
the entire equity interests of Hengming and Zhenjiang. As at 31
December 2020, completion of the aforesaid two acquisitions had
been taken place and accordingly both Hengming and Zhenjiang
have become wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company (note
33).

Save for the above-mentioned and those disclosed in notes 18,
20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report, there were no other significant investments held, nor were
there any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

Specific Performance Obligations on Controlling

Shareholder

Certain loan agreements of the Group imposed following
specific performance obligations on the Company’s controlling
shareholder:

() HEZIEEEBRAQT (transliterated as China National
Nuclear Corporation)("CNNC") shall maintain its direct
or indirect shareholdings in the Company of not less than
30% and remain as the single largest shareholder of the
Company; or

(i)  CNNC shall maintain its direct or indirect shareholdings in
the Company of not less than 30% and remain as a single
major shareholder of the Company.

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of outstanding
loans under the above obligations was HK$751,828,000 (31
December 2019: HK$606,000,000). As at the date of this
CNNC,
Company Limited, is interested in approximately 30.46% of the

report, through China He Investment (Hong Kong)

issued shares of the Company and remains as the single largest
shareholder of the Company.
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Financial Ratios

The following table shows the key financial ratios indicating the

performance of the Group for the last five financial years:

Year ended 31 December
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TREJNBELEMBFERLEERRR
EEZMFLEE:

BE+_A=+—HLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—BC2F “EB-hE CT-N\E Bt CT-RE
Net profit margin (%)’ LR (%)! 3.2 36 4 6 4
Return on assets (%)? BE[HR(%)? 1.0 1.8 2 3 3
As at 31 December ®w+=—A=+—H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZBC%FE C—ET-NE ZB-N\FE ZE—tFE ZT-RE
Gearing ratio’ et 3.11 2.77 2.09 1.54 1.40
Current ratio* TEN L 1.03 1.06 0.94 0.99 1.25
Notes: M T
1 Net profit margin = Net profit/Revenue x 100% 1 FF E=4F) W EEXx 100%
2 Return on assets = Net profit/Total assets x 100% 2 BEDR=4T) HEHLEEX 100%
3 Gearing ratio = Total debt (Comprises convertible bonds, loans 3 BRI XR-BERE (BETRRES A

included in other payables and accruals, bank and other borrowings,

obligation under finance lease and lease liabilities)/total equity

4 Current ratio = Current assets/Current liabilities
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Effect Assessment of the Novel Coronavirus Disease
Outbreak

Since the outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) disease
in China, ongoing prevention and control measures have been
carried out throughout the whole country. The epidemic will
impact business operations of certain industries as well as the
overall economy. Therefore, the Group's operations and revenue
may be affected to a certain extent depending on the effects of
the prevention and control measures, duration of the outbreak
and implementation of various policies. As at the date of this
report, COVID-19 has not resulted in material impact to the

Group's operations and financial position.

The Group will closely monitor the development and spread of
COVID-19 subsequent to the date of this report, and assess its
impacts on the Group's financial position and operating results. As

of the date of this report, such assessment is still ongoing.
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RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group in its

operations are outlined as below. It is a non-exhaustive list and

there may be other risks and uncertainties further to the key risk

areas.

Principal Risks
FERME

Description

ikt
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3 iz B A 5 E [ 3=
FERETEEETEAHNTIERRETEE
EAEBIM T -HAIFFRIK BRTHE
ZRKBEBIIEFHEME—DRAKRRIRE
ERAE -

Key Mitigations
FELF R

Business and

strategic risk

8 3 R BB L B

The risk of material adverse changes to the
Group's business performance, development
prospects and/or ability to deliver its
strategy, caused by changes in the business,
economic, competitive, regulatory or political
environment in which the Group operates.
FEFEBRF - BREAISR/NBEEHLSE
%W%tﬁﬂ¢$ﬁ“Lﬁf%EmMﬁ~
KE-BPF BENBARRAEMRIEKR
AR R B FR 75 SR A L B o

o Proactive monitoring of PRC solar
power industry trends, competitors
and innovations;

e BEBERPEXBGREEENITES
B BFHFRAME®M

o Proactive monitoring of and
preparation for global and local
changes in regulations affecting the
Group; and

e HREBERKREFERBUETELRE
ERIRIK R A B E RO E8) ; K

. Responsive project controls to allow
strategic flexibility and dedicated
strategy resources.

e BHEREBRE WBMBRKREE
MRABEZFEEIR
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Principal Risks

FERR

Description

i pus

Key Mitigations
FELFAEE

Foreign currency risk

5 LB

Credit Risk

Bl

The Group’s business mainly operates in the
mainland China, accordingly, its revenue and
transactions arising from its operations were
generally settled in RMB. As the Group's
reporting currency is Hong Kong dollars,
any fluctuations in the value of RMB against
Hong Kong dollars could affect the Group's
performance.

TEBZEBIENPFRAKREET Bt
HEBRELEZWRERRZ—RUAREE
H-HRAEBEZHAREERBE ARER
BEHREMEHIEAEBRREBRTE-

The risk that a counterparty will not settle an
obligation in full value, either when due or at
any time thereafter.
HFEFRIBAFEENETHEAREZH
BT EEFRTERAY A b o
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Proactive monitoring closely the
exchange rate trend; and
RERYEREZBY ; &

Responsive implementation of
hedging arrangement to mitigate
any significant foreign exchange risk
when and if appropriate.

8 E R R RE i 2 BEUAF
A 7] K5I EE LB ©

Default management and recovery
procedures in place;
FIEENEERKRER ;

Established credit risk management
function; and
RIUGEERBREERAE ;

Conduct credit checks on new

customers.
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Principal Risks Description Key Mitigations

FEREE i it FELFRIEE

Liquidity risk The risk of being unable to settle obligations o Regularly monitor the Group' s
TRENE R b as they fall due whether relating to the liquidity requirements so as to

Operational risk
EERRE

Legal and
compliance risk

ERERERER

Group's cash flow requirements and/or
regulatory requirements.

TREERREBITEE (FHREEAMAEASE
BREREFRKR HEEER) MERNE

2
oo
2R ©

The risk of material delay in the Group’s
project which may put burdens on billings,
material and labour costs that adversely
affects the Group’s revenue and financial
performance.
FEBEBHREAERFAERNEAR > B
ERAERIHEER - ME RS THAERK
B - tMEAERZRERPHEREEN
FRIFE-

The risk of loss resulting from breach of
or non-compliance with applicable laws,
regulations or contractual obligations.
HAERHABTHBEN ROUHENER
BBUERIERE -

ensure sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines
of funding from major financial
institutions (when applicable).

e EHERFAEERBETHIR U
BEERENREHBERRKRBAE
TRMBEBZREREESHR (NB
F) o

° Implement stringent budget control

management; and

e EREREFEEHNEE K

o Comprehensive project planning
to avoid design error or faulty
contractual management or other
defaults.

e ETEZHEBERE  UMBLEHER
SARENERNEGNEENEME
HEMH-

° Where necessary, expert legal advice
sought and compliance reviews
conducted on business activities and
new initiatives; and

e MNERERSKREREEERRYH
EREHRMAEETERER
)54

o Legal review of contracts.
o HAEWNETEREE-

hEZEREEBRRIRAR 35
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The Group is committed to monitor and manage its risks in order
to identify and assess risks of major projects and key businesses
at all levels. Through risk reports on weaknesses and potential
risks, the Group supervises and implements risk management and
control measures to improve its comprehensive risk management

practices and initiatives across the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as

FEBRNNERKREEH &R NUHE 5 KT
HEERERTEEBRAMAEENEAR-
FEEE RS N 55 RIE TR R E R R
SO EETETRBEEREERER UNE
FEENEZERBREEERRSEHE-

FEERRIMER

RBEE_E_ZTEFEFR_ZTE—HI&E+H
=+ HLEEE ERTERRKRHEERS
AL EBNEEREAIFEBENERNTT

follows:
Percentage of the Group’s
total revenue
ErEREREELL
2020 2019
—E_8g C"E-hE
The largest customer BRAER 16% 25%
Five largest customers in aggregate AAREREE 51% 44%
Percentage of the Group’s
total purchase
EAERREEETG ST
2020 2019
—E-FH —E-hAEF
The largest supplier RAMER 15% 19%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAREEES 44% 35%
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So far as the Directors are aware, the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's
total number of issued shares) do not have any interest in
these major customers and suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2020.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws
of the Company (“Bye-laws”) and there is no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-rata basis

to existing shareholders of the Company.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2020 are
set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other

Comprehensive Income of this annual report.

The Directors did not declare any interim or final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

DONATIONS
The Group made charitable donations of HK$508,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2020, the Company had no reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of

the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements of property, plant and equipment are
set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements of this

annual report.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE

COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company's listed securities.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who held offices during the year ended 31

December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr Zhao Yixin (Chairman)

Mr Liu Genyu (Vice Chairman)

Mr Chung Chi Shing

Mr Fu Zhigang (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms Jian Qing

Mr Li Jinying

Mr Tang Jianhua (Chief Operating Officer)
Mr Wu Yuanchen

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr Chan Ka Ling Edmond

Mr Kang Xinquan

Mr Tian Aiping

Mr Wang Jimin

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, all directors shall retire from office
as Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company (the "AGM") and, being eligible, have offered

themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers all such

Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary was a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate at any time during the year ended or at
31 December 2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company’s business was entered into or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All Directors have entered into letters of appointment or service
contracts with the Company. As at 31 December 2020, no
Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company or its subsidiary which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment

of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section “Material Related Party
Transactions” in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company, any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year
ended 31 December 2020 or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2020.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, the following Director
had declared interests in the following entity which compete
or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the

businesses of the Group:

On 7 December 2020, Mr. Liu Genyu (“Mr. Liu"), the vice
chairman of the Board and an executive Director, was appointed
as an executive director and vice chairman of GCL New Energy
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 451) (“GCL"), which is principally engaged
in the sale of electricity, development, construction, operation and

management of solar power plants.
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As at the date of this report, as (i) Mr. Liu merely serves as
executive directors of the Company and GCL; (ii) Mr. Liu is not
interested in any equity interests of GCL and is not interested in
5% or above of equity interests in the Company; (iii) the Company
and GCL have separate and independent management teams;
and (iv) there is no direct competing transaction between the
Group and GCL or its associates since Mr. Liu's appointment as
director of GCL, the Board is of the view that Mr. Liu’s overlapping
directorships in the Company and GCL do not affect him
independently discharging his director duty for the benefit of the

Company and do not present any direct conflict of interests.

As at 31 December 2020, save as above disclosed, none of the
Directors and their respective associates had any direct or indirect
interest in a business which competes or may compete with the

business of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered
into the following connected transaction or continuing connected
transactions, details of which were disclosed in compliance with
the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.

On 23 June 2020, Nanjing CNI Energy Engineering Company
Limited (R PIZEETR TIZHERAF) (“"Nanjing Engineering”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a construction subcontract with China Nuclear Machinery
Engineering Company Limited (P W TR EBERAF)
("CNME"), pursuant to which Nanjing Engineering as primary
contractor agreed to subcontract and CNME as subcontractor
agreed to undertake, the construction and installation works
of wind turbines and transformer in 85MW wind farm project
in Weiji Town (BR&E#ESSMWEEIEE BAEZE TE), Xuzhou,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC at the consideration of RMB14,725,000
(subject to price adjustment based on the actual work undertaken
by CNME and the price list(s) for construction works agreed

between Naijing Engineering and CNME.
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As CNME is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of CNNC, a
controlling shareholder of the Company, CNME is considered
to be a connected person of the Company and the transactions
contemplated under the construction subcontract between
Nanjing Engineering and CNME constitute connected transactions
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As one
or more of the applicable percentage ratios calculated pursuant to
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules exceed 0.1% but are less than 5%,
the transactions contemplated under the construction subcontract
are subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
but exempt from the circular, independent financial advice and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. For details of the above transaction, please refer to
the connected transaction announcement dated 23 June 2020
published by the Company on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The related party transactions disclosed in notes (i) to (iii) to note
37(a) to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report were connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Directors considered that the financial assistance
received by the Group from its substantial shareholders (as defined
under the Listing Rules) (a) was conducted on normal commercial
terms or better; and (b) was not secured by the assets of the
Group, the transactions contemplated thereunder were fully
exempt from the disclosure and reporting requirements under rule
14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above and in the section “Material Related Party
Transactions” in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report and the aforementioned, the Group did not
enter into any connected or continuing connected transactions
during the year ended 31 December 2020 which were required to

be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company did not
adopt and/or maintain a share option scheme. At no time during
the year ended 31 December 2020 were there rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any of the Directors or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by
them, or was the Company, its holding company, or its subsidiary
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such

rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or
which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors adopted by the Company (“Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Name of director Capacity
EEpa 515

Fu Zhigang Beneficial owner
5 &/ BEDBEAA

Liu Genyu Benificial Owner
IR BEDBEAA
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company had, as at 31 December 2020, any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2020, the following persons or entities,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, had or
were deemed to have interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO and recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the

BREXFEBEEN RZ_Z_ZTFE+A
E+—H BEESEHAATETETHAE
EARRBHEEFERER (& REH KA
BEIRFIEXVER) Z 17~ MR D HIE S5 P
BARBERESFRIAGRAIEXVEET7 %87 H
MBERRBRGRFANEDSI R B (BIERE
B RAEROAINBREXHEEREFERE
RAEEBNEZIRXE) ; EJZZE%E&%E’*‘Z!K’&ﬂ
RIBES KPS RABIEBTEENE
MmeERE KA ; :‘LJE?FEE#EIJ%D@ZIS
NEI KRR R KA o

FERRES
R-B-BE+ZA=+—B BRESELA

RBEBTHAEN FIALTHEBRERE
AERMVAEBROTFEAARRSERR
BESKIAERAEXVEE2REIDFHBEX
ERRE KRB PAR R R A R E N R
BRESRAGHMNBEIHRATEFENETH
PEmIKA

RAQE G REMRGINEE

Company
Number of Percentage
shares/ of shares of
underlying the Company
Substantial shareholders Notes Capacity shares held in issue
2T
HERR ga#1Thkin
FERR Mz B Rk #®E ZESL
CNNC 1 Interest in controlled corporation 400,000,000 30.46%
hiZEH REREGEEZ
CNICL 1 Interest in controlled corporation 400,000,000 30.46%
PRRE MRREGEEZ
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= ﬂ:
EFERS
Number of Percentage
shares/ of shares of
underlying the Company
Substantial shareholders Notes Capacity shares held in issue
L G
HERK BTN
FTERR MzE % MRk 8 E ZHSEE
China He Investment 1 Beneficial owner 400,000,000 30.46%
(Hong Kong) Company Limited BmEAA
(“China He (HK)")
PG E (F8) BRAE
(Th#z (F#) 1)
Value Convergence 2 Beneficial owner and interest in 92,132,000 7.01%
Holdings Limited controlled corporation
ERERBRAF BRBEA ARRZEFEBEZ#E
Zhao Xu Guang (“Mr Zhao") 3 Interest in controlled corporation 84,676,000 6.45%

ey (M%)

RREGZEZ

Notes:

China He (HK) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CNICL, which in
turn is wholly-owned by CNNC, which is a state-owned enterprise
established in the PRC, being ultimately held by E#EBEEE
EEEEZEZEE (translaterated as State-owned Assets Supervision
and Administration Commission of the State Council). As at 31
December 2020, China He (HK) held 400,000,000 shares and
accordingly, both CNICL and CNNC were deemed to be interested in
the same block of shares which was registered under China He (HK)
by virtue of SFO.

Among the 92,132,000 shares, 33,020,000 shares were held by
Value Convergence Holdings Limited as beneficial owner and
59,112,000 shares were held by VC Brokerage Limited, which was
wholly owned by VC Financial Group Limited. VC Financial Group
Limited was in turn wholly owned by Value Convergence Holdings
Limited. By virtue of SFO, Value Convergence Holdings Limited was
therefore deemed to be interest in 92,132,000 shares.

Mr Zhao was beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital
of Prosper Alliance Investments Limited and Rui Tong Investments
Limited which in turn were directly interested in 60,000,000 shares
and 24,676,000 shares respectively. By virtue of SFO, Mr Zhao was
deemed to be interested in 84,676,000 shares.

BT :

FiZ (BB APRREZE2ERBAT M
FREREHPZEREZEBEE -TRERS
HESCEEEELEEEEEEeRKERY
RABRIZEECE - RIEZSE+Z
B=+—8 iz (%) £5400,000,0008%
B Rt RBEFESRPEREG > PIZBE
EHZEBHERARDZ (FB) A TELEZ
BA—HRGFESER -

592,132,000/ %% & » 33,020,000 B 15
BHERERERATEABEEAARAR
59,112,000 M HEREMEEBRAT
E2EREZARERSSARATRE E
BEREEGRATNEMBERZERERA
BE2ERE -RIEESRPEEM  ERITR
BERABF IR A 192,132,000 %15 &
AR

A EBERAProsper Alliance Investments
Limited&zRui Tong Investments LimitedZ &8 E
BITRAZEZ#TD MZERBADINERE
#£60,000,0008% B2 17 224,676,000 Bz {3
A IRBEESRIERG > HEEWHR
#1284,676,000 I3 P HEH o

REEENEEEERAT  ,c
CEoBEERg



Directors’ Report
EEGHRS

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company
has not been notified by any person or entity who had or was
deemed to have interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO and recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of SFO.

PROFILE OF THE DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Zhao Yixin

Mr. Zhao Yixin, aged 45, has been appointed as the chairman
of the board and the executive Director since 23 January
2019. Mr Zhao is currently the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company
(the "Remuneration Committee”). He graduated from &
EKE (transliterated as Wuhan University) with a bachelor’s
degree in ideological and political education in 1997. He further
obtained a master’s degree in economics from B #3457 & 57 A2
(transliterated as Capital University of Economics and Business) in
2004. Mr. Zhao was recognised as a senior economist in business
administration by China Nuclear Engineering and Construction
Group Corporation Limited)* (“CNECG") (FEIZ T2 &EBERE
PR A& which merged with and into CNNC in May 2019) in 2014.
Mr. Zhao is currently the party committee secretary and chairman
of CNICL, a controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company. From August to December 2018, he was
the party branch secretary and deputy director (department level)
of the operation management department of CNNC, a controlling
shareholder of CNICL. From June 2013 to August 2018, Mr. Zhao
served as deputy director of operation planning department
of CNECG and successively as deputy director and director of
strategic planning department of CNECG. From June 2013 to
December 2017, he also served as deputy director of operation
planning department of China Nuclear Engineering & Construction
Corporation Limited * (FE#Z TEERIRDERAT) ("CNECC”)
and successively as director of operation planning department of
CNECC.
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Liu Genyu

Mr. Liu Genyu, aged 57, has been the vice chairman of the Board
and the executive Director since 30 June 2017. He is also a
member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Liu graduated from
Tsinghua University with an Executive Master degree of Business
and Administration (EMBA). Mr. Liu is currently an executive
director and vice Chairman of GCL New Energy Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 451) and an independent non-executive director of China
Bogi Environmental (Holding) Co., Ltd (a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2377). He was
the chief executive officer and executive director of Huazhong In-
Vehicle Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 6830) from 4 January
2016 to 1 September 2017 and was re-designated as a non-
executive director from 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018.
Mr. Liu was the chief operating officer/chief executive officer and
an executive director of China Power New Energy Development
Company Limited (a company previously listed on the Stock
Exchange and delisted in August 2019, former stock code: 735)
from May 2007 to December 2012. Mr. Liu had also served in
positions including the deputy general manager of Chongging
Jiulong Electric Power Co., Ltd. (currently known as SPIC Yuanda
Environmental-Protection Co., Ltd. (BIRXBER EERERRKRGE
FR‘A &) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock
code: 600292) from 2002 to 2006.
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Chung Chi Shing

Mr. Chung Chi Shing, aged 55, has been the executive Director
since 1 December 2010. He held various directorships successively
in Value Convergence Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 821) as non-
executive director, executive director and chairman from March
2015 to March 2018 and is currently its honourable chairman.
He was also an executive director and chief executive officer of
Central China Enterprises Limited (currently known as Asia Energy
Logistics Group Limited, stock code: 351) from 2000 to 2004, a
director of Vega Science & Technology (HK) Co., Limited (printed
circuit board drilling machine manufacturer) from 2007 to 2012,
and an executive director of GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 451) from 2011 to 2014. Mr. Chung has over 25 years of
experience in corporate and investment management. Mr. Chung
is currently holding various directorships in certain subsidiaries of
the Company.

Jian Qing

Ms. Jian Qing, aged 49, has been the executive Director since
19 October 2009. She is also a member of the Nomination
Committee. Ms. Jian is currently an executive director of Asia
Energy Logistics Group Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 351). She currently is also a director
of each of Boxin Fund Management Co., Ltd and Boxin Asset
Management Co., Ltd. Ms. Jian graduated from Jilin University in
the PRC with a bachelor’s degree in Economics. She also holds
a master’s degree in Business Administration from the Lawrence
Technological University in the United States. She has more than
20 years of experience in different areas of securities and financial
management, which was gained from working at certain securities

companies in the PRC and Hong Kong.
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Li Jinying

Mr. Li Jinying, aged 64, has been the executive Director since
8 April 2016. Mr. Li graduated from Tsinghua University with a
bachelor degree in engineering majoring in Applied Chemistry
in 1982 and subsequently acquired a master degree in Science
at PEEREFAERIZBIAISPT (transliterated as China Institute of
Atomic Energy) (“CIAE") in 1991. He has been engaged in nuclear
scientific research and management for more than 30 years. He
was previously the deputy chief engineer of CNECG from 2016 to
2017 and the deputy general manager of new energy department
of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited from 2012
to 2016. He also held different positions in China Resources New
Energy Group Company Limited from 2011 to 2012 including
cadre and deputy general manager. He served as head of
integrated planning department in CNNC from 2005 to 2011 and
was appointed as associate dean of CIAE from 2000 to 2005.
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Tang Jianhua

Mr. Tang Jianhua, aged 50, has been the executive Director since
30 June 2017 and the chief operating officer since 28 May 2018.
He was also appointed as the executive Director from 14 July
2015 to 8 April 2016. Mr. Tang graduated from Nanjing University
of Science and Technology with a bachelor degree in Industrial
Automation Instrumentation in 1995. He was also qualified as
Class One Registered Architects conferred by State Construction
Administrative Department and a Project Management
Professional conferred by Project Management Institute. He
has been the president of i (AR) EFERAEMBRAT
(transliterated as CNI (Nanjing) Energy Development Company
Limited) and the general manager of RHZAERILIERRL
Bl (transliterated as Nanjing CNI Energy Engineering Company
Limited) since October 2014. He is also an assistant to general
manager of CNICL. Mr. Tang worked for FIZEETRRERE
1E/AT (transliterated as China Nuclear Huayu Project Co., Ltd)
(formerly known as FEMCEZEEETIE AT (transliterated
as Yizheng Huaxian Installation Maintenance and Engineering
Company)) from August 1995 to October 2014, during which he
had held different positions including deputy general manager
in 2012 and became the party secretary and disciplinary
committee secretary in 2013. Mr. Tang is currently holding various

directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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Wu Yuanchen

Mr. Wu Yuanchen, aged 38, has been appointed as the executive
Director since 28 November 2018. Mr. Wu graduated from %
RIEAEE (transliterated as Xi‘an Jiaotong University), majoring
in nuclear engineering and technology, and received a bachelor
degree in engineering in 2005. He further obtained a master
degree in management from HFEIARAKZ (transliterated as
Renmin University of China) in 2011. Mr. Wu was recognised as an
engineer in nuclear engineering by FE#Z TERRERBRLQE
(transliterated as China Nuclear Industry Zhongyuan Construction
Co. Ltd.) in 2010. Mr. Wu is currently the deputy general manager
of CNICL, a controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company. Besides, he was appointed as the party
sub-division secretary of HFIZFBERLEBR AT (transliterated
as China Nuclear New Energy Investment Co., Ltd.), an associate
(as defined in the Listing Rules) of CNICL, from May 2017 to
January 2019. From December 2015 to September 2017, he
served as an assistant to general manager of CNICL. From March
2016 to August 2016, he was head of secretarial division of the
general office of CNECG and division head of president office
of CNECC. Prior to that, Mr. Wu served as head of the general
office of CNECG, and successively as secretary to president of
CNECC and division head of president office of CNECC during the
period from January 2011 to March 2016. He held the position of
AERRI AR AE (transliterated as China
Nuclear Energy Science and Technology Co., Ltd.), an associate
of CNECG, from October 2007 to June 2014. Mr. Wu acted as an
executive Director for the period from 14 December 2016 to 30
June 2017.

board secretary of 1%
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Fu Zhigang

Mr. Fu Zhigang, aged 50, has been the executive Director and the
chief executive officer of the Company since 4 April 2019. Mr.
Fu obtained a bachelor’s degree in financial management from
Central University of Finance and Economics in the PRC. He is also
qualified as an accountant conferred by the Ministry of Finance
of the PRC. He has been a deputy chief accountant and a director
of finance department of CNICL, a controlling shareholder of the
Company since August 2016. During the period from January
2006 to May 2016, Mr. Fu worked for CNICL where he had held
different positions including deputy manager and manager of
finance department, deputy financial controller, deputy chief
accountant and director of finance department. He was also a
financial controller of R EEIRILEBRAHF (transliterated as
China Nuclear New Energy Investment Co. Limited) from August
2013 to April 2014. Mr. Fu was appointed as an executive Director
in December 2013 and was further appointed as a chief executive
officer of the Company in July 2014 where he resigned from both
positions in September 2016.

Independent non-executive Directors

Chan Ka Ling Edmond

Mr. Chan Ka Ling Edmond, aged 62, has been the independent
non-executive Director since 15 July 1992. He is also the Chairman
“Audit

Committee”) and Remuneration Committee, and a member

of each of the audit committee of the Company (the

of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Chan is a partner of Chan
and Chan, Certified Public Accountants. He is a Certified Public
Accountant and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (UK). He is also a director of Kreston CAC
CPA Limited. Mr. Chan was an independent non-executive director
of Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8162) from July 2014 to
April 2017.
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Kang Xinquan

Mr. Kang Xinquan, aged 67, has been the independent non-
executive Director since 14 June 2019. He is also a member of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Kang graduated in computer science
from East China Institute of Engineering (23 T 22 p5%) (currently
known as Nanjing University of Science and Technology (= 52 I8
TK2)) in 1980. Mr. Kang was recognised as a senior engineer
in computer science by China National Nuclear Corporation (F1[E]
I E4EAT)in 1996. During the period from July 1998 to April
2014, Mr. Kang had served as a researcher and deputy director
of System Engineering Division Il for Committee of Science,
Technology and Industry for National Defence (EF5F}E 5 fif T
¥Z%H B 9)of the People’s Republic of China and successively as
a researcher and deputy director of System Engineering Division
Il for State Administration of Science, Technology and Industry
for National Defence (BIRERAFRIIXT2E). He retired in April
2014. Mr. Kang has over 30 years of experience in China nuclear

industry.
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Tian Aiping

Mr. Tian Aiping, aged 70, has been the independent non-
executive Director since 14 July 2015. He is also member of
each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee. He completed £—HREERFIKE
BH¥ (THEAMBEE) AEEIIE (transliterated as Inspector
Training Programme in Accounting and Financial Management)
in Tsinghua University’s School of Economics and Management in
1998 and graduated from & 88#H#} £ P57 (transliterated as Baotou
School of Steel and lIron) (currently known as Inner Mongolia
University of Science & Technology) in the PRC in 1985. He is
also qualified as a senior economist conferred by the Ministry of
Metallurgical Industry of the PRC in 1996 and the supervisor of
the key State-owned Large Enterprises conferred by the SASAC in
2005. He was the general secretary of the Stainless Steel Council
of China Special Steel Enterprises Association. Mr. Tian was
previously the vice supervisor and the secretary of Party Branch
of the SASAC of the State Council Office No. 47. Prior to that,
Mr. Tian held different positions including assistant to inspectors
of BB ELIKREMLES11MER (transliterated as State
Council Compliance Inspectors’ General Office No. 11) and vice
commissioner of the Metallurgical Industry Department of Taiyuan
Iron & Steel (Group) Co., Ltd. Mr. Tian completed his retirement
procedure with SASAC in 2011.
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Wang Jimin

Mr. Wang Jimin, aged 56, has been the independent non-
executive Director since 28 February 2014. He is also member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. He obtained a postgraduate
certificate in accountancy from Central University of Finance and
Economics (A REF4E K E8) (formerly known as Central Institute
of Finance and Banking (R REAELERIZBT) in the PRC. He has
been a partner of an accountant firm, Asia Pacific (Group) CPAs,
in Shenzhen, the PRC, specialising in corporate listings, capital
operation and mergers and acquisitions, since 2002. Prior to this,
Mr. Wang was a manager of Finance and Accounting Division
of Guangdong International Trust and Investment Corporation,
Shenzhen Branch from May 1996 to October 2002. He was also
a project manager and assistant manager in &3I4 015 & @ 516
EFEFR (transliterated as Shenzhen Shekou Xinde Certified Public
Accountants) from October 1993 to May 1996 and worked with
EMEEFEIEBE AT (transliterated as Jilin Province Trust and

Investment Company) from December 1991 to October 1993.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the section “Material Related Party
Transactions” in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements
of the annual report, no Directors or any controlling shareholders
of the Company had a material beneficial interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of
the Group to which the Company, its holding company or its
subsidiaries was a party during the year ended 31 December
2020.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, the
Company maintained a sufficient public float as required under
the Listing Rules.
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SHARE CAPITAL
During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company
nor its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any shares of

the Company.

As at 31 December 2020, the total number of issued shares of
the Company was 1,313,094,192 of HK$0.1 each (31 December
2019: 1,313,094,192 shares of HK$0.1 each).

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 232 of

this annual report.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2020, total number of employees of the
Group was 274 (2019: 406). During the year ended 31 December
2020, staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments) amounted to
HK$49,811,000 (2019: HK$48,651,000).

employees which included salary and discretionary bonus was

Remuneration of the

based on the Group's results and individual performance. Medical
and retirement benefits schemes were made available to qualified

personnel.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong)
when the Directors’ Report prepared by the Directors is approved

in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief and exemption on
taxation available to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings
of the Shares.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 have been audited by BDO Limited. BDO Limited
will retire as auditor at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM

and will offer itself for re-appointment.

By Order of the Board

China Nuclear Energy Technology Corporation Limited

Zhao Yixin

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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Corporate Governance Report
EEXER/RKRS

The Company is committed to enhancing the corporate
governance and transparency of the Group by applying the
principles in the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. The Board reviews its corporate governance practices
from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations of
shareholders and comply with increasingly stringent regulatory
requirements and to fulfill its commitment to maintain a high
standard of corporate governance. To the best knowledge and
belief of the Directors, the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code throughout the year
ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities (the “Code of
Conduct”) on terms no less exacting than the Model Code as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has
been made of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the Code of Conduct and the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Company has also established written guidelines no less
exacting than the Model Code (the "Employees Written
Guidelines”) for securities transactions by employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of
the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.
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THE BOARD

The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of the
Company to enhance long-term shareholders’ value. It is the
responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate corporate
governance practices applicable to the Company's circumstances
and to ensure processes and procedures are in place to achieve

the Company’s corporate governance objectives.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and
the chief executive officer of the Company (the "CEO") (being
defined as chief executive in the CG Code) are held separately
by Mr. Zhao Yixin and Mr. Fu Zhigang with a view to maintain
effective division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
the CEO. The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible
for the effective functioning and operation of the Board and the
overall strategy of the Group. The CEO, with the assistance of
other members of the Board and the senior management, focuses
on the overall management, operation and business development
of the Group and ensures corporate governance compliance.
This segregation of roles ensures the reinforcement of their
independence, accountability and responsibility. The Chairman
ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at
the Board meetings and receive adequate, complete and reliable

information in a timely manner.
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Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight executive
Directors (the “Executive Directors”) and four independent
non-executive Directors (the “Independent Non-executive

Directors”), namely:

Executive Directors:

Mr Zhao Yixin (Chairman)

Mr Liu Genyu (Vice Chairman)

Mr Chung Chi Shing

Ms Jian Qing

Mr Li Jinying

Mr Tang Jianhua (Chief Operating Officer)
Mr Wu Yuanchen

Mr Fu Zhigang (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr Chan Ka Ling Edmond

Mr Kang Xinquan

Mr Tian Aiping

Mr Wang Jimin

The composition of the Board is reviewed regularly to ensure that
it has a good balance of expertise, skills and experience which can
meet the requirements of the business of the Company. The Board
includes four Independent Non-executive Directors, amongst
whom Mr. Chan Ka Ling Edmond is a certified public accountant
in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan possesses extensive experience in the
accountancy profession and has appropriate accounting and
related financial management expertise. The biographical details
of the Directors are set out under the section headed “Profile of

the Directors” under the “Directors’ Report” in this annual report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Executive Directors
and the Independent Non-executive Directors provided the Group
with wide range of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism. The active participation of the Independent Non-
executive Directors in the Board and Board committees meetings
brought independent judgement on issues relating to the Group's
strategy, performance and management process, taking into
account the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the

“Shareholders”) as a whole.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
recognises the benefits of board diversity and endeavours to
ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance and level
of skills, experience and perspectives required to support the
execution of its business strategies. The Company seeks to achieve
board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on the
candidates’ merits and contributions to the Board. The Nomination
Committee will review the board diversity policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its effectiveness from time to time. The Company
considers that the current Board composition is characterised by

diversity. The composition of the Board members is as follows:

Designation

8

00000
000

0000

Executive Directors

HITES

Independent Non-executive Director
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Length of Board Service
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Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company. The Board determines the overall strategies, monitors
and controls operation and financial performance, sets objectives
and business development plans and makes key decisions of
the Company. The day-to-day management and operation are
delegated to the Executive Directors and senior management of
the Company. The delegated functions are closely supervised by
the Board to ensure effectiveness and alignment with the overall
strategies of the Company. Approvals are obtained from the Board
prior to any significant transactions to be entered into by the

senior management of the Company.

The Board is also entrusted with the overall responsibility of
developing, maintaining and reviewing sound and effective
corporate governance policies within the Group and is committed
to ensuring that an effective corporate governance is put in place
to continuously review and improve the corporate governance

practices within the Group.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Profile of the Directors”
under the “Directors’ Report” in this annual report, there is no
financial, business, family or other material relationships among

members of the Board and between the Chairman and the CEO.

Regular Board meetings in each year are scheduled in advance
to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 clear
days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors
who are provided with an opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The company secretary of the Company
(the "Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman and the CEO
in preparing the agenda for meetings and ensures all applicable
rules and regulations are complied with. The agenda and the
accompanying Board papers are normally sent to all Directors
at least three days before the intended date of a regular Board
meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board meetings).
All minutes and resolutions are kept by the Company and are
open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice

by any Director.
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Whereas a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board and the Board has determined it is
material, such matter will then be dealt with by the Board at a
duly convened Board meeting. The Bye-laws stipulates that save
for the exceptions as provided therein, a Director shall abstain
from voting and shall not be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving any contract or arrangement in which such Director

or any of his associates have a material interest.

Each Director can have access to Board papers and other related
materials and have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The Board and individual Director also have
separate and independent access to the senior management of
the Company. Directors are continuously updated with the major
developments of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements so as to ensure the Company’s compliance with
and upkeep of good corporate governance practices. In addition,
Directors are allowed to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances for discharging their duties at the

expense of the Company.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant
to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board and the Nomination
Committee have reviewed the independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors and considered all Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent within the definition of the

Listing Rules.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors was appointed
with a specific term of three years and is subject to retirement by

rotation and re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-laws.

Directors Commitments and Continuous Professional

Development

The Company has received confirmation from each Director that
he has given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2020. Directors have
disclosed to the Company the number and nature of offices
held in Hong Kong and overseas listed public companies or

organisations (if any).

Each newly appointed Director receives an induction at his
appointment to ensure that he has proper understanding of the
operations and business of the Group and is fully aware of his
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules, applicable
laws and other relevant statutory requirements. Directors are
continually provided with updates on statutory and regulatory
developments, evolution of the business environment so as to

facilitate them to discharge their duties.
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According to the records maintained by the Company, Directors
received continuous professional development with an emphasis
on the roles, functions and duties of being a director of a listed
company in compliance with code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code
during year ended 31 December 2020:
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Executive Directors WiTES
Mr. Zhao Yixin HEERE .
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Directors and Officers Policy

During the year ended 31 December 2020, appropriate insurance
coverage on directors’ and officers’ liabilities has been in force
to protect the directors and officers of the Group from their risk

exposure arising from the business of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference specifying its authority and duties which is available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. As
at the date of this report, the Audit Committee consists of
four Independent Non-executive Directors, whose names and
biographies are set out in the section headed “Profile of the
Directors” under the “Directors Report” in this annual report.
Mr. Chan Ka Ling Edmond is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those as set out in the CG Code. The main
duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing
the financial information and reporting process, risk management
and internal control systems, effectiveness of internal audit
function, audit plan and relationship with and appointment of
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of
the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other

matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee
held two meetings to review the interim and annual financial
results and reports and significant issues on the financial
reporting and compliance procedures, the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, scope of work and appointment of external auditors
and the other matters in accordance with the Audit Committee’s
written terms of reference. The Audit Committee also met the
external auditors once without the presence of the Executive

Directors during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms
of reference specifying its authority and duties which is available
on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company. As at
the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprised six
members, amongst whom four are Independent Non-executive
Directors and two are Executive Directors, whose names and
biographies are set out in the section headed “Profile of the
Directors” under the “Directors Report” in this annual report.
Mr. Zhao Yixin is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of directors, and assessing the independence
of Independent Non-executive Directors.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company had adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
selection criteria and nomination procedures of Board members.
The Nomination Committee follows the nomination policy to
identify suitable and qualified individuals, in particular those
who can add value to the management through their expertise
in relevant strategic business areas, to be the Board members,
and recommend the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or reappointment of Directors, if necessary.

The Nomination Committee will apply the objective criteria in
determining the suitability of a proposed candidate as a Director
including his reputation for integrity, his accomplishment
and experience in the industry, his commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest, diversity in all its aspects
which includes but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service; his ability to assist and support
management and make significant contributions to the Company’s
success; and the compliance with the independence criteria as
prescribed under the Listing Rules for the appointment of an

Independent Non-executive Director.
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Selection of the suitable candidate is based on a majority
vote and the view of each committee member will be sought
before voting commences. The chairman of the Nomination
Committee will present the proposal (with the voting results)
and recommendations to the Board. The Board shall have the
final decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of

candidates to stand for election at any general meeting.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings to review the structure and
diversity of the Board, the term of appointment of all Directors,
and the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
and to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and re-appointment of Directors taking into account their
experience and qualifications. On 24 March 2020, the Nomination
Committee, having reviewed the Board’s composition, nominated
all Directors to the Board for it to recommend to Shareholders for
re-election at the AGM held on 26 May 2020. The nominations
were made in accordance with the objective criteria (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service), with due regard for the benefits of
diversity. The Nomination Committee had also taken into account
the respective contributions of the Directors to the Board and their
commitment to their roles, and, as for Independent Non-executive
Directors, it was satisfied with their independence having regard
to the criteria laid down in the Listing Rules. Each Nomination
Committee member had been abstained from voting at the
Nomination Committee meeting when his own nomination was

being considered.
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Pursuant to the Bye-laws, any Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to re-election by the Shareholders
at the next general meeting of the Company after their
appointments, but shall not be taken into account in determining
the Directors who are to retire by rotation at such meeting. In
addition, at each AGM, one-third of the Directors shall retire from
office by rotation (but will be eligible for re-election) such that all
Directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once

every 3 years.

Details of the procedures for Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are outlined in the “Procedures for
Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a Director” which

is also available on the website of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms
of reference specifying its authority and duties which is available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. As at
the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprised
six members, amongst whom four are Independent Non-executive
Directors and two are Executive Directors, whose names and
biographies are set out in the section headed “Profile of the
Directors” under the “Directors’ Report” in this annual report.
Mr. Chan Ka Ling Edmond is the chairman of the Remuneration

Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and
senior management of the Company, the remuneration policy
and structure for all Directors and senior management of the
Company; and establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his associates will participate in deciding his own

remuneration.
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The remuneration package of each Director is determined by
reference to the prevailing market conditions, his duties and
responsibilities to the Company and the Company’s remuneration

policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings to review the remuneration of the
Directors and make recommendations to the Board having taken
into consideration of the current market condition and the results
of the Group.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of senior management by band for

the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

BEEZHFWNGEANDESERITHERR
RINAE QB Z B BB B U R 2 2 B #r B B
REHERE-

RBEZE-EF+-BA=+—HILEE"
FINEESHBITRMRER UGN ESH
B> tEERITHRAREAEREEEANES
TRMUBEERER -

RIFEEEATATAMEXEB 1.5 Z4k
EEERERSE_S_SFE+_BA=+—
HIEFEZHMZEBEHNNT

Number of

Individuals

A

Nil - HK$1,000,000 T EA11,000,0007T 2
HK$1,000,000 — HK$2,000,000 7 1,000,0007T E ##2,000,0007T 3
HK$2,000,000 — HK$3,000,000 7 1&2,000,0007T 2 ##53,000,0007T 1

Further particulars of Directors’ remuneration and the five highest
paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix
16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 10 and 11 respectively

to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Minutes of the Board and Board committees meetings have been
recorded in sufficient details including any matters considered in
the meetings, decisions reached and concerns or queries raised
by the Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final
versions of minutes of the Board and Board committees are sent
to all Directors or committee members for comments and records

respectively within a reasonable time after the meeting.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company held six
Board meetings, two Audit Committee meetings, two Nomination
Committee meetings, two Remuneration Committee meetings
and one general meeting. The individual attendance record of
each Director at the Board meetings, Board committees meetings
and general meetings during the year ended 31 December 2020
is set out below and is presented by reference to the number of

meetings held during their tenure:
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HE/ BTeERY
Audit Nomination  Remuneration

Board Committee Committee Committee Shareholder
Director gz 3 BELZRY RAZRE HMESE R®
Mr Zhao Yixin HEELE 5/6 212 212 1/1
Mr Liu Genyu ZRERE 6/6 212 11
Mr Chung Chi Shing EIWAE 4/6 n
Ms Jian Qing 5Lt 6/6 22 1
Mr Li Jinying FeHRsE 6/6 1/1
Mr Tang Jianhua BRERE 6/6 11
Mr Wu Yuanchen BRERE 6/6 1/1
Mr Fu Zhigang REMEE 6/6 11
Mr Chan Ka Ling Edmond BRE&HLE 6/6 212 212 212 11
Mr Kang Xingquan BEREE 6/6 212 212 212 1/1
Mr Tian Aiping HEFEE 6/6 22 212 22 11
Mr Wang Jimin IFR%E 6/6 212 212 212 1/1

PEEEHNEEEERAT 49
i



Corporate Governance Report
EEXER/RKRS

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, who is a full-time employee of the
Company, is responsible to the Board for ensuring that procedures
are followed and that all applicable laws, rules and regulations
are complied with. The Company Secretary confirmed that she
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 December 2020 in accordance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to maintain sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems of
the Company in order to manage rather than eliminate risks of
failure to achieve business objectives, and to provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Group maintains an internal audit function. Audit plans, risk
assessments and regular internal audit reports are presented to
and reviewed by the Audit Committee, who reports the findings
to the Board. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board
through the Audit Committee had conducted an annual review
on the effectiveness of internal control and risk management of
the Company and considered them effective and adequate. The
review covered material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions of
the Group. Areas of improvement have been identified and
appropriate measures have been put in place to manage the
risks. The improvement of the systems of risk management and
internal control is an ongoing process and the Board maintains
a continuing commitment to strengthen the Company’s control

environment and processes.

72 CHINA NUCLEAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

~EME

AEMERERRNEHES RAEFERE
BREFSUEBBERMBEERZR ZREK
RAGLUEST - RI|ELEHRAE3 2915 BE
—ECEF+_AZ+—HLEEE REMW
ERITHEEZALOMISENGZHABAERE
13 o

[\ Bz 5 12 R P9 BB BE 12

EFEENTHEERERTABBRREN
WEREERANMEERE UEEMIEH
BRARENEBERNAR KMAEEE
ANKRERBHIBRFLHGEMIFEHD
fReE - NEBMEFR H A ELINGE - BiLst
B EBETEREPABELREFIRE

BRZZEGTHESER MEZZEERE
EEgERER - NBE_T_FTE+_A
S+ HLEEE - EEEEBEREZEEN
ARRABEERABEERNETEES
RoUResAREERAREESRBERAER
R-BRAZEAEEMB EERGREER
EEEENESEEREZE -FARBERMIE
FThE®Hk BEEERGEREEUEERZS
R R EE R AR E R ER
BET BEEERFBERNIMBETAF

BRI ROMRE



AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by the independent auditor of the Company,
BDO Limited, for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is

as follows:

Year ended 31 December
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2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T

Services rendered: BIRHEARTE
Audit ZE 1,980 1,980
Non-audit JEIZ - -
Total st 1,980 1,980

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company had adopted a dividend policy which sets out the

factors in determination of dividend payment of the Company
which included the Company's actual and expected financial
performance, retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company, the Group’s working capital requirements, the Group’s
liquidity position, the general economic conditions and any other
factors that the Board deems appropriate. The policy shall be
reviewed periodically and submitted to the Board for approval if

amendments are required.

Having considered the factors as set out the dividend policy, the
Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2020.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS TO CONVENE A
SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING

In accordance with the Bye-laws and the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), each general meeting, other
than an annual general meeting, shall be called a special general
meeting. General meetings may be held in any part of the world
as may be determined by the Board. The Board may whenever it
thinks fit call special general meetings.

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, no person, other than a Director retiring
at the meeting, shall, unless recommended by the Directors for
election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general
meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other than the
person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed by the person
to be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been
lodged at the head office or at the registration office provided
that the minimum length of the period, during which such
notice(s) are given, shall be at least 7 days and that (if the notices
are submitted after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgement of
such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the despatch of
the notice of general meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting.
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PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING
SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES AND PROPOSALS
TO THE BOARD

To foster regular and contribute a two-way communication,
the Board welcomes any enquiries and proposals from the
Shareholders and other stakeholders. Shareholders and other
stakeholders may at any time send their enquiries, concerns and
proposals to the Board by addressing to the Company Secretary
by post to Unit 2801, 28/F, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour

Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, or by email to info@cnetcl.com.

Shareholders may also make enquiries to the Board at the general

meetings of the Company.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Board and senior management recognise the responsibility
of safeguarding the interest of the Shareholders and providing
transparent and real-time disclosure of information of the
Company so as to keep the Shareholders and investors abreast
of the Company’s position and help them to make informed

investment decision.

Information of the Company and the Group are delivered to the
Shareholders through various channels, which include annual
report, interim report, announcements and circulars. The latest
information of the Company and the Group together with the
published documents are also available on the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company holds an annual general meeting every year as an
appropriate media for direct communication between the Board
and the Shareholders. Shareholders can raise questions directly
to the Board in respect of the business performance and future

development of the Group at such annual general meetings.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, there had been no
significant change in the Company's constitutional documents

including the Bye-laws.

Corporate Governance Report
EEXER/RKRS

RERAESTREEHRERN
BF

AEEEMNTHER EEFHIRRRK
HMFHEREEARER RRKEME
MREAZEBRAATMESH U REBEF
BB 26EE M AE 28182801 F) B IXEE
(info@cnetcl.com) Z A BER R ER T X
HEZEH - FETEERES

RRTFANREADRRAELAEFTERY
-

BligRBAERIREERME

EFEAEREERBRNRERRAGMNE
ERREHEEREREFRELADEHD
BEE BERREAREERBFEREQTNRR
AR BIRERE

FRBRFEENEHNNDBBER  PHRK
ERERBEREZEREARRER -T2
BARFAERNRMENURETI X HIRA
RAEQB R RZPAIELER -

FREBERETRRBEFEAE  FREET
HRRZEAETERBENEERMT KRR
ARRRBERG LMAEENERRER
RRERODEFTHZRHEE

BE_Z_ZTF+_A=Z+—HLEFE &
ABMEBEREXH (BEMAR) TEEXE
o

PEEEHNEEEERAT 4o
i



Independent Auditor’s Report
VR 3 TR

IBDO

B/ :
e :

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

+852 2218 8288
+852 2815 2239

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

BERTHER1115E
JKRAID251E

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA NUCLEAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Nuclear Energy Technology Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the
85 to 231,

financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated

“Group”) set out on pages

which comprise the consolidated statement of

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR 3 TR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS - continued

Revenue Recognition From Engineering, Procurement

and Construction (“EPC"”) And Consultancy And

General Construction Segment

Refer to notes 6 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policies under note 4(k).

Key audit matter

E' &g*;gIE n‘E
REIRE- HEBRER (TEPC)) RFEHR
ERESRoE I EESD

nﬁxfﬁﬁa
B

BM BRI EE6RT7 AR M 5E4(k)BY

MRERER

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
has recognised revenue from the provision of EPC and
consultancy services and general construction services
of HK$1,867,569,000, of which majority of revenue of
HK$813,854,000 and HK$1,053,715,000 are recognised
from sales of goods and construction contract revenue

respectively.

Sales of goods are recognised when customers obtain control
of the goods when the goods are delivered to and have been

accepted.

Construction contract revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress toward completing on each
contract, which is estimated based on the actual costs
incurred to date compare with the total budgeted cost for
each contract.

Determination of the total budgeted costs requires significant
management judgement and estimation.

Revenue is also one of the key performance indicators of
the Group which gives rise to an inherent risk that revenue
could recorded in the incorrect period or be subject to

manipulation.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS - continued

Revenue Recognition From Engineering, Procurement
and Construction ("EPC”) And Consultancy And

General Construction Segment - continued

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Our procedures in relation to a sample of revenue
transactions arising from the sales of goods in the provision

of EPC and consultancy services and general construction

services included:

understanding and testing the key controls over the

recognition of sales of goods;

checking the terms set out in the contract agreements;
and assessing whether control of the goods of the
revenue recognised have been transferred to the
customers by reviewing the relevant documents,
including delivery notes and acknowledgement to

receipts;

assessing whether specific revenue transactions
around the financial year end had been recognised
in the appropriate period in accordance with the
terms of sales as set out in the contract agreements,
by comparing the transactions selected with relevant
underlying documentation, including goods delivery
notes or confirmations from customers; and

inspecting significant manual adjustments to revenue
raised during the reporting period, enquiring of
management about the reasons for such adjustments
and comparing the details of the adjustments with

relevant underlying documentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR 3 TR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS - continued
Revenue Recognition From Engineering, Procurement KEIRE -FBRESR (TEPC)) KRiEHHRK

and Construction ("EPC”) And Consultancy And

General Construction Segment - continued

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZFEERE &

ERERo B RmtEsE -8

ABRPHEESE

Our procedures in relation to a sample of revenue

transactions arising from the construction contract revenue

in the provision of EPC and consultancy services and general

construction services included:

8o

understanding and testing the key controls over the

recognition of construction contract revenue;

reading signed contract agreements to identify

contractual arrangements;

obtaining evidence regarding the stage of completion
of contract activity (including, where relevant,
completion certificates and progress reports issued by
architects appointed by customers and agreed between
the Group and customers);

reconciling the amount of construction costs incurred
by reference to the stage of completion of contract
activity stated in progress reports; and

reconciling the amount of revenue recognised based on
the proportion of construction costs incurred.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR 3 TR

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- continued

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in

discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

Independent Auditor’s Report
BitZ AR S
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STATEMENTS - continued

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR 3 TR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS - continued

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Amy Yau Shuk Yuen
Practising Certificate No. P06095

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meaEEkEMEZEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

2020 2019
—EZEF —F—h%E
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
e 5 BETT BETT
Revenue W= 7 2,171,194 2,892,578
Other income and gains HMUKA R&F 7 25,275 10,904
Cost of sales HHE B A (913,471)  (1,795,521)
Construction costs EBRMA (962,849) (741,299)
Staff costs BT (49,811) (48,651)
Depreciation e (102,664) (90,071)
Other operating expenses HM&KEM% (60,755) (63,742)
Gain on bargain purchases EEBEWRE 33 3,531 =
Loss on disposal of financial asset at HERATEF AEGD
fair value through profit or loss (R AFEFABR) Z
("FVTPL") TRMBEENEE (34) -
Finance costs B A 8 (42,601) (53,169)
Share of results of associates, net DML ERT 2 EE TR 21,996 17,499
Profit before income tax expense PRETISM Az Al EF) 9 89,811 128,528
Income tax expense FRISI A 12 (19,443) (24,507)
Profit for the year FE il 70,368 104,021
Other comprehensive income for FRHEMZEE  NRRIE
the year, net of tax 13
Items that will not be reclassified to HBEBIABEN 7HEEAERZ
profit or loss =]
Gain on revaluation of property, BEHME -BREESZEZ
plant and equipment & 16,120 -
Items that may be reclassified BEGHETEN 85
subsequently to profit or loss B ZEHH
Exchange differences on translating BMERINEBELEZ
foreign operations PEREXE 95,616 (24,597)
Share of other comprehensive income A MhEE AT ZEMEE
of associates W & 7,843 (1,871)
103,459 (26,468)
Other comprehensive income FREMEEWRE  HRRIE
for the year, net of tax 119,579 (26,468)
Total comprehensive income for FAZEWELEE
the year 189,947 77,553
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meiEmKkEMEEIRGE R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—E-EHF == AE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
e 5 BETT BETT
Profit for the year attributable to: MU T&SFEMGEERGEF :
Owners of the Company KATHEEA 57,064 96,820
Non-controlling interests JEFERGHE TR 13,304 7,201
70,368 104,021
Total comprehensive income for the U T&EAFEEEADEINE
year attributable to: 4HEE .
Owners of the Company EKRBEE A 178,082 70,472
Non-controlling interests JEFERG TR 11,865 7,081
189,947 77,553
Earnings per share SFREF
- basic and diluted (HK cents per share) —&E7ZxRKki#E (5 EWL) 15 4.35 7.37

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEMY Z M SEMB AR AN AR B B FE ¥R R 2 AR X BB 17 ©

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EEMBIRRAR

As at 31 December 2020 P=E-FEF+_FH=+—H

2020 2019
—EEHE —E—NEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5 BT BT
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- BB KRR E 16 2,421,528 946,290
Right-of-use assets FREEE 07 29,464 28,217
Financial assets at FVTPL BATFEFAERZ
EREE 18 26,756 28,139
Interest in associates REE AT 2w 21 135,145 110,735
Finance lease receivables RETH S EYFIE 27 239,097 333,930
Loan receivables EURE = 25 18,431 32,948
2,870,421 1,480,259
Current assets MEEE
Inventories =78 22 2,987 4,875
Trade and bills receivables FEUR B 5 BRI K Z i 24 1,479,696 1,591,104
Loan receivables FE U & =X 25 101,471 15,167
Prepayments, deposits and FAMRE - REREM
other receivables & U =R I8 26 775,244 758,419
Contract assets BHNEE 23(a) 1,176,454 848,636
Finance lease receivables L TH & e YT A 27 61,643 57,644
Pledged bank deposits BIRIRRITER 28 418,183 481,719
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEY 29(a) 386,473 448,553
4,402,151 4,206,117
Less: Current liabilities W REAaE
Trade and bills payables FEHEZRBEREE 30 2,295,124 1,890,080
Other payables and accruals H{thFE T TRIE K FE 5t R IR 31 252,752 309,834
Contract liabilities SHNEE 23(b) 84,737 45,384
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 32 1,614,823 1,699,801
Lease liabilities HE&E 17 5,460 4,338
Tax payable FE{FFRIE 5,638 13,117
4,258,534 3,962,554
Net current assets MHEEFE 143,617 243,563
Total assets less current liabilities BEEBERTEAR 3,014,038 1,723,822
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE MBI R

As at 31 December 2020 RP=E-FEF+_H=+—H

2020 2019
—EEH —T—NE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt 5 BT BT T
Less: Non-current liabilities o EREaE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBE 32 1,879,738 784,719
Lease liabilities HEaR® 17 1,781 2,225
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE 38 5,694 =
1,887,213 786,944
Net assets BEPHE 1,126,825 936,878
Capital and reserves B s B (5 5
Share capital [N 34 131,309 131,309
Reserves EfE 35 975,535 797,453
Equity attributable to owners of TATBER ARG
the Company 1,106,844 928,762
Non-controlling interests JEPERRER 19,981 8,116
Total equity R iR 1,126,825 936,878
On behalf of the directors
RKRES
Chung Chi Shing Fu Zhigang
EE R TFER
Director Director
EBE EBEXE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

= A 3B 2L 4=
FoREmEHR
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHI-FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BARRE AR
Issued Properties Non-
share Share  Exchange  Statutory revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

LS
BRfThRE  ROEE ERBE  AEEE  EMREE  BRSR BE MR REndE
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
AiTn ARTm  ARTRm  ARTRm  ARTm  ARTRn  ERTm  ERTm  ARTR

Balance 1 January 2020 RZIEZZE-BA-HZ&RH 131,309 1,527,293 (93,492) 2,686 - (639,034) 928,762 8,116 936,878
Profit for the year ERE - - - - - 57064 57064 13304 70,368
Other comprehensive income for the year, EREM2EKE

net of tax: MRHIE
Exchange differences on translating BERMNEBEEL

foreign operations EREE - - 97,055 - - - 97,055 (1,439) 95,616
Gain on revaluation of property, EENETE v

plant and equipment & - - - - 16,120 - 16,120 - 16,120
Share of other comprehensive income ~ MEBEAR ZEM2E

of associates s - - 7,843 - - - 7,843 - 7,843
Total comprehensive income for the year ERZ2ERGAE - - 104,898 - 16,120 57,064 178,082 11,865 189,947
Balance at 31 December 2020 RIZZZE+ZA=+-AZ

G 131,309 1,527,293 11,406 2,686 16,120 (581,970) 1,106,844 19,981 1,126,825

Balance 1 January 2019 RZB-h&F—F—-AZ&H 131309 1,527,293 (65,697) 2,686 - (728719 866,872 14,797 881,669
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - 96,820 96,820 7,201 104,021
Other comprehensive income for the year, EREM2EKE

net of tax: MPRHRE :
Exchange differences on translating BERNEBELZERER

foreign operations = - (24,477) - = - (24,477) (120) (24,597)
Share of other comprehensive income  MEBMEAT 2 HH2EKE

of associates - - (1,871) - - - (1,871) - (1,871)
Total comprehensive income for the year ER2ERELHE = = (26,348) = = 96,820 70,472 7,081 77,553

Acquisition of non-controlling interest B IR RER (zH20)
(note 20) - - (1,447) - - (7,135) (8,582) (13,762) (22,344)

Balance at 31 December 2019 RZZ-nE+ZA=+-H
b33 131,309 1,527,293 (93,492) 2,686 = (639,034) 928,762 8,116 936,878

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEMY Z M SE B PR AN AR B B FE ER R 2 AR A &R 17 ©
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEeHRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—EZEH —E—hEF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
M3 5E BETFT AT IT
Cash flows from operating activities EEEFEZHERE
Profit before income tax expense PRFTIS MR Al A 89,811 128,528
Adjustments for: R
Finance costs B A A 8 42,601 53,169
Interest income FE WA (16,974) (7,335)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERREITE
equipment 16 93,115 79,745
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 17 9,549 10,326
Share of results of associates, net DEBERB Z X EFEE (21,996) (17,499)
Gain on bargain purchases ZEBE WG (3,.531) =
Loss on disposal of financial assets at ~HERAFESAERZ
FVTPL EREENEE 34 =
Expected credit losses on trade and FEW B 2 BRTE K FE IR R4
bills receivables and contract assets BHNEENTEREEBEE 14,126 3,843
Operating cash flows before working  EEBSEEFHFI 2 KERE
capital changes ME 206,735 250,777
Decrease in inventories FEHD 2,092 1,419
Decrease/(increase) in trade and EWE ZRIBERERER LD,
bills receivables (3 1m) 258,249 (172,902)
Increase in loan receivables FEUWR E =R N (64,720) (1,135)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, FEIRIE RS R EMEK
deposits and other receivables FIER D, (1) 36,738 (426,686)
Increase in contract assets SHEEREN (261,439) (681,762)
Decrease in finance lease receivables B E A AR R IE R D 110,319 56,602
Increase in trade and bills payables FE{T B 5 AR TE K ZE 4R 18 0 261,573 571,049
(Decrease)/increase in other payables Hh (I RIE K fE 5T 718
and accruals GRiZb) /1 hn (169,814) 55,468
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities SZA&&E M GRL) 34,034 (45,855)
Cash generated from/(used in) E%EERE FrA)
operations RE 413,767 (393,025)
Profits tax paid BENFIER (27,896) (25,414)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from SR ZIBERAS
operating activities (Rt $%8 385,871 (418,439)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
:ﬁF iﬁiggfuu.gauﬁE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 H#E_E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

2020 2019
b a3 3 —E-NE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
e 5 BETT BETT
Cash flows from investing activities & ;ZEIZIREHE
Purchase of items of property, BAVE BERSREEE
plant and equipment (1,081,346) (71,317)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME -BERZEMER
plant and equipment I8 25 41,631
Interest received BF & 16,974 7,335
Dividend received from an associate BR—EBEATZRKRE 21 5,429 5,385
Acquisition of subsidiaries U BB Kt B A 33 (89,342) =
Payments for right-of-use assets BNEREEE (2,144) =
Net cash outflows from investing KREEBZRE R FEE
activities (1,150,404) (16,966)
Cash flows from financing activities FIE;ZEZHRENE
Interest paid [SENELESS (71,115) (53,169)
Acquisition of a non-controlling interest Uk B&IE#ERG E%ﬁ - (22,344)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank B IRITERUR L, (1)
deposits 68,314 (163,517)
Proceed from an intermediate B EER AT FRSRIE
holding company 31 - 50,996
Repayment to an intermediate holding A RIZEAR A FIER
company 31 (101,229) -
Proceed from a fellow subsidiary BRAZMNBATMERE - 458,962
Repayment to a fellow subsidiary ml[E % M 8 2 Bl iE TR (150,099) (67,994)
Payments of lease liabilities EBNHEaR (5,707) (106,204)
Proceeds from new bank and g IRIT R EMEEFTSRIE
other borrowings 2,556,297 1,561,242
Repayments of bank and BEEBTREAMEE
other borrowings (1,639,981) (1,110,950)
Repayment to a non-controlling mIEERE SR RIENR
interest shareholder - (10,874)
Net cash inflows from financing MEFBZIRERAFE
activities 656,480 536,148
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and IRERRNETLEWZ
cash equivalents GRE2D) 38 NP EE (108,053) 100,743
Cash and cash equivalents at FMZzRERAETEEBY
the beginning of the year 448,553 415,874
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EEXREE) 2 & 45,973 (68,064)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRZ\AETRREEEY
the end of the year 386,473 448,553
Analysis of balances of cash and HEeERREEBY L&D
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances BE KIRITE R 29(a) 386,473 448,553

The accompanying notes form an

consolidated financial statements.

integral part of these
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

92

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Nuclear Energy Technology Corporation Limited
(the “Company”) is incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. The principal place of business of
the Company is located at Room 2801, 28th Floor, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

As at 31 December 2020, the directors consider the
immediate and ultimate controlling parties of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) to be China
He Investment (Hong Kong) Company Limited (“China He
(HK)") which is incorporated in Hong Kong and FR[E]1#% T
¥ E£@MAEMRAT (transliterated as China National Nuclear
Corporation) (“CNNC”) which is a state-owned enterprise
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (“the
PRC") respectively. These entities do not produce financial

statements available for public use.

On 19 February 2019, the Company has been informed
by FEIZTHERERBRAF (transliterated as China
Nuclear Engineering and Construction Group Corporation
Limited) ("“CNECG") that CNECG and CNNC have entered
into a merger agreement, pursuant to which CNECG was
merged with and into CNNC (the “Merger”). As a result
of the Merger, CNECG was dissolved and deregistered and
CNNC survived, and all of the assets, liabilities, businesses,
contracts, qualifications and other rights and obligations of
CNECG vested in CNNC.

The Merger at the time does not involve material asset
restructuring of the Company and has no material impact on

the normal operation of the Company.

CHINA NUCLEAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

CORPORATE INFORMATION - continued
Prior to 19 February 2019, CNECG, through the immediate
controlling party, is interested in approximately 30.46%
of the issued shares of the Company. Upon completion of
the Merger, the ultimate beneficial owner of the Company
was changed to CNNC and BIFREIEEEEBEEEZE
& (transliterated as State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council) ("SASAC")
will remain the de facto controller of the Company.

On 17 May 2019, the Company is informed by China
Nuclear Investment Company Limited (“CNICL"), which
is the controlling shareholder of China He (HK), that
CNICL has completed the procedures on the industrial and
commercial registration (the “Registration”) for the change
of shareholder as part of the procedures under the Merger.
Following the completion of the Registration, the entire
equity interests of CNICL are held by CNNC and China He
(HK) has become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
CNNC whereby SASAC remains the de facto controller of the
Company.

As at the date when the consolidated financial statements
were authorised for issue, China He (HK), is interested in
400,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company, representing
approximately 30.46% of the issued shares of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional

currency of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMBEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(a) Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs -
effective on 1 January 2020 (and 1 June 2020
for the amendment to HKFRS 16)

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") has issued a number of new
or amended HKFRSs that are first effective for the

current accounting period of the Group:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material
HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 Reform

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent

Concessions

Conceptual Framework for

Financial Reporting (revised)

Other than the amendments to HKFRS 3, none of these
new or amended HKFRSs effective on 1 January 2020
(and 1 June 2020 for the amendment to HKFRS 16) has
a material impact on the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior period. The Group has
not early applied any new or amended HKFRSs that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
Impact on the applications of these amended HKFRSs

are summarised below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. BRpBFEAMFHREEDN (TEHB
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") MFEHREEN)) — &
— continued

(a) Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs — (a) IFR4AFRETRBIETEHE BB

effective on 1 January 2020 (and 1 June 2020
for the amendment to HKFRS 16) — continued

Amendments to HKFRS 3 - Definition of a Business

The amendments clarify the definition of a business
and introduce an optional concentration test that
permits a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
The election to apply the concentration test is made
for each transaction. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or
group of similar identifiable assets. If the concentration
test is met, the set of activities and assets is determined
not to be a business. If the concentration test is failed,
the acquired set of activities and assets is further

assessed based on the elements of a business.

The Group elected to apply the amendments
prospectively to acquisitions for which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 January 2020. As described in
note 33, the Group acquired three sets of activities and
assets in January, March and June 2020 and elected
to apply the concentration test to the transactions but
the transactions failed the concentration test. Based on
the assessment of elements of a business, the Group
concluded that the acquired three sets of activities and

assets are businesses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMBEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

- continued

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective
The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the Group. The
Group's current intention is to apply these changes on

the date they become effective.

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, Phase 2!
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 16

Amendments to Proceeds before Intended Use?
HKAS 16

Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
HKAS 37 a Contract?

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual
HKFRS 3 Framework?

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and

HK Interpretation 5 (2020),
Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause*

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts*

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture®

Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs 2018-
20202
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. BRpBFEAMFHREEDN (TEHB
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") MFEHREEN)) — &
— continued

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) BHEMRE R REMBIFRETHER

issued but are not yet effective - continued
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2021.

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022.
g Effective for business combinations for which the date

of acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

% Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.
3 The amendments shall be applied prospectively to

the sale or contribution of assets occurring in annual
periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16 - Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect
financial reporting when a company replaces the old
interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark
rate as a result of the interest rate benchmark reform
(the "Reform”). The amendments complement those
issued in November 2019 and relate to (a) changes
to contractual cash flows in which an entity will not
have to derecognise or adjust the carrying amount
of financial instruments for changes required by the
Reform, but will instead update the effective interest
rate to reflect the change to the alternative benchmark
rate; (b) hedge accounting in which an entity will
not have to discontinue its hedge accounting solely
because it makes changes required by the Reform,
if the hedge meets other hedge accounting criteria;
and (c) disclosures in which an entity will be required
to disclose information about new risks arising from
the Reform and how it manages the transition to

alternative benchmark rates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T MBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

- continued

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective — continued
Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16 - Interest Rate Benchmark

Reform - Phase 2 - continued

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of the amendments in the future will
have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 - Proceeds before
Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. Instead, the proceeds from selling
such items, and the cost of producing those items, is

recognised in profit or loss.

The directors of the Company is currently assessing the
impact that the application of the amendments will

have on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RERAMBEHREEN(TEE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") MEmEER) — &

- continued

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) BHEMRE R REMBIFRETHER

issued but are not yet effective - continued
Amendments to HKAS 37 - Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling” a
contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the
contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract can
either be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(e.g. direct labour and materials) or an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts
(e.g. the allocation of the depreciation charge for an
item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling

the contract).

The directors of the Company is currently assessing the
impact that the application of the amendments will

have on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements amends a number of

standards, including:

o HKFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards”, which permit
a subsidiary that applies paragraph D16(a) of
HKFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation
differences using the amounts reported by its
parent, based on the parent’s date of transition
to HKFRSs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
- continued
(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective — continued
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

- continued

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, which clarify
the fees included in the 10 per cent’ test in
paragraph B3.3.6 of HKFRS 9 in assessing
whether to derecognise a financial liability,
explaining that only fees paid or received
between the entity and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the entity or the lender

on other’s behalf are included.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”, which amend lllustrative
Example 13 to remove the illustration of
reimbursement of leasehold improvements by the
lessor in order to resolve any potential confusion
regarding the treatment of lease incentives that
might arise because of how lease incentives are

illustrated in that example.

HKAS 41 “Agriculture”, which remove the
requirement to exclude taxation cash flows when
measuring the fair value of a biological asset

using a present value technique.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. FWEEMBREEN(FE

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") MBMEEN) — &

- continued

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) BIEMERKREMBIFETRE
issued but are not yet effective - continued EIERBMBHREEN B
Amendments to HKFRS 3 — Reference to the ERMBBREENEIRZET -
Conceptual Framework BISER Z R
The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers ZEBITEMTERBUBEREE
to the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial BE3R  FHEH2EREBITI S
Reporting 2018 instead of the version issued in 2010. —N\FHMBERSHOESEZRMIE
The amendments add to HKFRS 3 a requirement “E—EEEMIARE c ZEEE]
that, for obligations within the scope of HKAS 37, an EEBAMBREEREIHPIER
acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine whether at the —IERE M E BT ERFE37
acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result REEANETNS WEHER
of past events. For a levy that would be within the BRAGHEREI7TREET N INE
scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 “Levies”, the acquirer applies HERERETEHMEREERE
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether the obligating B -HNERE (BRMBEHRS:
event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has BZE8E) 2BF21RNHRUE
occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments BANEBR WESERESE (B
also add an explicit statement that an acquirer does BRIBERERBEEY) RES
not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business QIMUBEERZAHEREEN
combination. BEESEHERSERKWERES:-

ZEEFT IR G R —THEAFEE AR > B
BWEAFAEHRBEEXHEHTK

BHHAEE-
The directors of the Company do not anticipate that AREEEFHEABRERZEE
the application of the amendments in the future will SR EHAERGEMBRRE
have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial AR IR E -

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T MBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

- continued

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective - continued
Amendments to HKAS 1 - Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and HK
Interpretation 5 (2020), Presentation of Financial
Statements - Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause
The amendments clarify that the classification of
liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting period,
specify that classification is unaffected by expectations
about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of a liability and explain that rights are in
existence if covenants are complied with at the end of
the reporting period. The amendments also introduce a
definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement
refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash,

equity instruments, other assets or services.

HK-Int 5 (2020) was revised as a consequence of the
Amendments to HKAS 1 issued in August 2020. The
revision to HK-Int 5 (2020) updates the wordings in
the interpretation to align with the Amendments to
HKAS 1 with no change in conclusion and do not

change the existing requirements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of the amendments and revision in the
future will have an impact on the Group's consolidated

financial statements.

102 CHINA NUCLEAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

RERMBWMSER (TEE
MBHREEN) — &

(b)

SRR Se s d: sE R e
EBIIEBMBHRSEN B
EARAGHENSIRZET -8R
HRBNERB S EREERE
B50 (CFEFF) > MBERERD
2 -ERAHSERERBER
MZERERZOE

ZEFETMR REREIER RS
HIFRBDERBESHREEZ
A WETR EARARMER
REETHHEEESEERZ#
FIBTARAR & > I AR F2 (e 72 3R 5 17
RETEsH MEANDNSEEE &
FEFITSIA TR ZEE > A
EEEEERRE - REIA -H
thEENRBERTENHES -

ERARRBESR(CTEH) ER
—ECEFEN\BEMNEBRGE
ZERF15E 2T ML IEET o 48
BIIEBREESH (CE_ZHF)
EMTERBPNER UEEET
StERBISRZIET — B BER
W EREE) > FAGERRITHRE

ARBERRGBREAZSEE
AIRERTEHEAERGEME
WREMERTE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. BRpBFEAMFHREEDN (TEHB
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") AR ER)) — &

- continued

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) BIEMEIRREMBIFTRE

issued but are not yet effective — continued
HKFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts

The new standard establishes the principles for
the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of insurance contracts and supersedes
HKFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”. The standard outlines
a 'General Model’, which is modified for insurance
contracts with direct participation features, described
as the "Variable Fee Approach’. The General Model is
simplified if certain criteria are met by measuring the
liability for remaining coverage using the Premium

Allocation Approach.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of this standard in the future will
have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

104

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. FPWEEMBREEN(TEE

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") MBWMEEN)) —&

- continued

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) BIEMERREMBIFETRE
issued but are not yet effective - continued EIERBMBEHREEN B
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 - Sale or ERMBREENF10NRER
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and Gt ERE28RZ BT R EENR
its Associate or Joint Venture HBEARNAEEEZHNE

EHEHIE

The amendments clarify with situations where there ZEETHBERESHERER
is a sale or contribution of assets between an investor EREECEZEAEERIEZ
and its associate or joint venture. When the transaction Hne BB RAEREARNE S
with an associate or joint venture that is accounted for REHEECHEETRZR > FAE
using the equity method, any gains or losses resulting AHEFTEIEBZMBEATINE
from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not HEMEEZEAMKREREGIEE
contain a business are recognised in the profit or loss UIERABMBREETEZBHE AT R
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests BELEZEGAREBEPRE
in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, any gains 0o B B ERAIKEBAE (B
or losses resulting from the remeasurement of retained RAMEATAREGERE) ZRY
interest in any former subsidiary (that has become an HHEBEATEENGEMEEZ
associate or a joint venture) to fair value are recognised Ef eS8 > LRI E IR &
in the profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated ERHHMERT I EGELE R
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint mAMREEGE R
venture.
The directors of the Company anticipate that the ERABEEFTES WERARXSZ E
application of these amendments may have an impact R EAZEET e H R K
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in BN AEEFEMBRRENRE
future periods should such transaction arise. o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “HKFRS"”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
certain properties and financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values as explained in the accounting

policies set out below.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is the same as the functional currency of
the Group and all amounts are rounded to the nearest
thousand ("HK$'000") except otherwise indicated.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Business combinations and basis of

consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Group. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies
together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in

profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T MBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., EEGHBE-&
— continued

() EBESHRESAREE-§

(a) Business combinations and basis of

consolidation - continued

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the dates of acquisition or up to the
dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line

with those used by other members of the Group.

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate
of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the
Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value. The Group's previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or
losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may
elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure
the non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS. Acquisition-
related costs incurred are expensed unless they are
incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the

costs are deducted from equity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(a) Business combinations and basis of

consolidation - continued

The Group accounts for business combinations using
the acquisition method when the acquired set of
activities and assets meets the definition of a business
and control is transferred to the Group. In determining
whether a particular set of activities and assets is
a business, the Group assesses whether the set of
assets and activities acquired includes, at a minimum,
an input and substantive processes and whether the

acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that
they arise from new information obtained within
the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months
from the acquisition date) about the fair value at the
acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to
contingent consideration classified as an asset or a

liability are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(a)

Business combinations and basis of
consolidation - continued

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity,
separately from equity attributable to owners of the
Company. Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.
Total comprehensive income is attributed to such non-
controlling interests even if this results in those non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amount of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly

in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(a)

(b)

Business combinations and basis of
consolidation - continued

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the relevant assets

or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls an
investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (i) power over the investee, (ii) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (iii)
the ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in

any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position
disclosed in note 19, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the

basis of dividend received and receivable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(c)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint

control over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition change in the
associates’ net assets except that losses in excess of
the Group's interest in the associate are not recognised
unless there is an obligation to make good those

losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses
resulting from these transactions are eliminated against
the carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised
losses provide evidence of impairment of the asset
transferred, they are recognised immediately in profit

or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(c)

(d)

Associates - continued

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value
of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and

included in the carrying amount of the associate.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. Where there is objective
evidence that the investment in an associate has been
impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same way as other non-

financial assets.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates are carried at cost less
impairment losses, if any. The results of associates
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of

dividends received and receivable during the year.

Goodwiill

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
acquisition date fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value
of identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the

acquisition date.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration
paid, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on

the acquisition date, after re-assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T MBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., EEGHBE-&
— continued

(d) Goodwill - continued (d) BHE-E&

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash generating units that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. A cash generating
unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that
generates cash inflows that are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of
assets. A cash generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment annually, by
comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable
amount, and whenever there is an indication that the

unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the cash generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
first allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to the other
assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. However, the loss
allocated to each asset will not reduce the individual
asset’s carrying amount to below its fair value less
cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value in use (if
determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is

not reversed in subsequent periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

4. BEEGHHR-&

(e) Property, plant and equipment (e) ME-BERZE

The building component of owner-occupied leasehold
properties is stated at valuation less accumulated
depreciation. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying
amount does not differ materially from that which
would be determined using fair values at the end of
the reporting period. Increases in value arising on
revaluation are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of properties revaluation reserve. Decreases in value
arising on revaluation are first offset against increases
on earlier valuations in respect of the same property
and thereafter recognised in profit or loss. Any
subsequent increases are recognised in profit or loss up
to the amount previously charged and thereafter to the

properties revaluation reserve.

Upon disposal, the relevant portion of the properties
revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous
valuations is released from the properties revaluation

reserve to retained earnings.

Other property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(e) Property, plant and equipment - continued

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the

financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as
to write off their cost or valuation net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The

useful lives are as follows:

Buildings BF
Furniture and fixtures RREE
Air-conditioning plant RREE
Electrical appliances Eas

Office equipment L YNES
Motor vehicles AE

Power plants 2B

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s

estimated recoverable amount.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued
(e) Property, plant and equipment - continued

(f)

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is the difference between the
net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is
recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

Leasing

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy
choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise
(i) leases which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases
for which the underlying asset is of low-value. The
Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for
which at the commencement date have a lease term
less than 12 months. The lease payments associated
with those leases have been expensed on straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at cost
and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (ii) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate
of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories. Except for
right-of-use asset that meets the definition of an
investment property or a class of property, plant and
equipment to which the Group applies the revaluation
model, the Group measures the right-of-use assets
applying a cost model. Under the cost model, the
Group measures the right-of-use asset at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

(f)

Leasing — continued

Right-of-use asset — continued

The Group accounts for buildings which is held for own
use under HKAS 16 and are stated at valuation less
accumulated depreciation. Other than the above right-
of-use assets, the Group also has leased a number of
properties under tenancy agreements which the Group
exercises its judgement and determines that it is a
separate class of asset. The related right-of-use assets
are carried at depreciated cost less impairment, if any.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not
paid at the commencement date of the lease are
considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at commencement
date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees; (iv) exercise price of
a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain
to exercise that option and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, or to reflect revised in-substance fixed
lease payments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(f)

(9)

Leasing - continued

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment property to
a number of tenants. Rental income from operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised as an expense on the

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists

or may have decreased:

o property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets under cost model;

o Investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s

statement of financial position; and

. Interest in associates (except for those classified
as held for sale or included in a disposal group

that is classified as held for sale).

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

4. BEEGHHKR-&

(9) BERE (ERMEERI) —&

(g) Impairment of assets (other than financial

assets) — continued

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
HKFRS, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that
HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows expected to be derived from the asset or cash
generating unit (see note 4(d)), discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating

unit.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(h) Financial Instruments

()

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item
not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
its acquisition or issue. Trade receivable without
a significant financing component is initially

measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the

market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of

principal and interest.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(h) Financial Instruments — continued

()

Financial assets — continued

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group

classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial
assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is

recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"): Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows and for
selling the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at FVTOCI.
Debt investments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value. Interest income calculated
using the effective interest rate method, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in other comprehensive income are

reclassified to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(h) Financial Instruments — continued

()

Financial assets — continued

Debt instruments — continued

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial
assets mandatorily required to be measured at
fair value. Financial assets are classified as held
for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not solely payments of principal and interest
are classified and measured at FVTPL, irrespective
of the business model. Notwithstanding the
criteria for debt instruments to be classified at
amortised cost or at FVTOCI, as described above,
debt instruments may be designated at FVTPL
on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or

significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(h) Financial Instruments — continued

()

Financial assets — continued

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in the investment’s FVTOCI. This election is made
on an investment-by-investment basis. Equity
investments at FVTOCI measured at fair value.
Dividend income are recognised in profit or loss
unless the dividend income clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investments.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and are not reclassified
to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value,
dividends and interest income are recognised in

profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(h) Financial Instruments — continued

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on trade and
bills receivables, contract assets, financial assets
measured at amortised cost and debt investments
measured at FVTOCI. The ECLs are measured
on either of the following bases: (1) 12 months
ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from possible
default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are
ECLs that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over

which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’

original effective interest rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4,

124

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(h) Financial Instruments — continued

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

- continued

The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for trade and bills receivables and
contract assets using HKFRS 9 simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.

For other debt financial assets, ECLs are based
on lifetime ECLs except when there has not been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the allowance will be
based on the 12 months ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs,
the Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including

forward-looking information.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(h) Financial Instruments — continued

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

- continued

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in
default when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset
is more than 90 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criteria

is more appropriate.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial
assets interest income is calculated based on the

gross carrying amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T MBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

4. BEEGHHKR-&

(h) EMITA-&
(iii) EHEE

(h) Financial Instruments — continued

(iii) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are
initially measured at fair value and financial
liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured
at fair value, net of directly attributable costs

incurred.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities

designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are

recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more
embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract
may be designated as a financial liability at FVTPL,
except where the embedded derivative does not
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear
that separation of the embedded derivative is
prohibited.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EEGHBE-&
— continued
(h) Financial Instruments - continued (h) EMTH-4E

(iii) Financial liabilities — continued (iii) EMEaE-&

Financial liabilities at FVTPL — continued

Financial liabilities may be designated upon
initial recognition as at FVTPL if the following
criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or
significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment
that would otherwise arise from measuring the
liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them
on a different basis; (i) the liabilities are part of
a group of financial liabilities which are managed
and their performance evaluated on a fair value
basis, in accordance with a documented risk
management strategy; or (iii) the financial liability
contains an embedded derivative that would need

to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial
liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except
for the gains and losses arising from the Group's
own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent
reclassification to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss does not include any interest charged on

these financial liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

(h) Financial Instruments — continued

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Financial liabilities — continued

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade and other payables, borrowings, certain
preference shares and the debt element of
convertible loan note issued by the Group are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest

expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as

through the amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a

shorter period.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct

issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EEGHBE-&
— continued
(h) Financial Instruments - continued (h) EMTH-4E

(vi) Derecognition (vi) #21FFEER

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is

discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial
liability in whole or in part as a result of
renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid
and are recognised initially and measured at their
fair value on the date the financial liability or
part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of
the equity instruments issued cannot be reliably
measured, the equity instruments are measured
to reflect the fair value of the financial liability
extinguished. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability or part thereof
extinguished and the consideration paid is

recognised in profit or loss for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T MBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., EEGHBE-&
— continued

(i) Inventories (i) =8

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.
Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs

necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and short-term bank deposits, and highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial positions, cash and bank balances comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits
which original maturity of less than three months,

which are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EEGHBE-&

- continued
(k) Revenue recognition (k) UrzstEsR
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised EREHEEETE AR

when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after

deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over

time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and

consumed simultaneously by the customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the customer

controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over
time, revenue is recognised over the period of the
contract by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the goods or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T MBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

(k)

132

Revenue recognition — continued

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For
contracts where the period between the payment and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for
the effects of a significant financing component, using
the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS 15").
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

(k) Revenue recognition - continued

()

Provision of EPC and consultancy services

The Group has determined that for contracts
with customers for the provision of EPC and
consultancy services, there is generally one
performance obligation, which refer to the
construction of photovoltaic power plant. Such
contracts are entered into before the services
begin. Under the terms of the contracts, the
Group is contractually required to perform the
services at the customers’ specified sites that
the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs. Revenue from provision of
such services is therefore recognised over time
using input method, i.e. based on the actual
costs incurred by the Group to date compared
with the total budgeted cost for the project to
estimate the revenue recognised during the year.
The management of the Group considers that
input method would faithfully depict the Group’s
performance towards complete satisfaction of
these performance obligation under HKFRS 15.
Invoices are issued according to contractual
terms. Uninvoiced amounts are presented as

contract assets.

4. BEEGHHR-&

(k) Uy 6858 — 48

(i)

RIEEPCR L IR TS
FEBBEDBMIBMHEPC
RBHARBEERITLNG
HWHRBEERE—HEHBONEMT,
BZEXARBH -ZEEH
RIRFEEBRIGIIL - RIES
HWEF AEEBERBER
REFISEMBIRERE
MAEBNBOG EERIY
B—ERAEEBNRBEE
FEGNEE -RLL 2 3#
ZERBEEZWENRER
BAERE D BRI A
EERBESHELEER
FABEHZEERAQEEE
Tz B EREZRH U
o AEEERENRA KA
AR SRR ERBLNE
HREBMBREERF 1558
EHTZERANEEZTEM
E-RBENGIBAERE.
KAAAEENSEENASE
HNEE-

2“‘: N £E I'\E



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
zrb A E

117 N = :\j 5% iﬁ i% Izﬁ- %-I

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4,

134

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

(k) Revenue recognition — continued

()

(ii)

Provision of EPC and consultancy services

- continued

In some circumstances, the Group provides
consultancy service related to design which
either included in the above EPC contracts
or a standalone contract. Under the terms of
the contract, the customer has right to the
design and could provide the design to another
contractor to complete the construction.
Consultancy service related to design is regarded
as a separate performance obligation. Revenue
from provision of such service is recognised
over time using input method as the Group's
performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use and the Group has enforceable
right to payment for performance complete to
date. The management of the Group considers
that input method would faithfully depict
the Group's performance towards complete
satisfaction of these performance obligation
under HKFRS 15.

General construction contracts

Revenue from general construction contract
is recognised over time as the Group satisfies
the performance obligation over time, by
reference to contract costs incurred up to the
end of reporting period as a percentage of total
estimated costs for each contract (input method
for measuring progress). The management of
the Group considers that input method would
faithfully depict the Group's performance towards
complete satisfaction of these performance
obligation under HKFRS 15.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued
(k) Revenue recognition - continued

4. BEEGHHR-&

(k) Uy 6528 — 48

(iii) Sales of goods under manufacturing and

trading business

Customers obtain control of the products when
the goods are delivered to and have been
accepted. Revenue is thus recognised at a point
in time upon when the customers accepted the
products. There is generally one performance
obligation. In the comparative period, revenue
from sales of goods is recognised on transfer of
risks and rewards of ownership, which was taken
as at the time of delivery and the title is passed to
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customer.

(iv) Sales of electricity (iv) BHIHE
Sale of electricity is recognised when electricity BHHENSHEEERR
is supplied to and consumed by the customers. REREHENRHET &
Revenue from sales of electricity is recognised JIHE KRS RE BRI ER
over time on the basis of periodic meter readings. —ESBREREAREST o

(v) Other income (v) EgA
Interest income, on an accrual basis using the FMEWA HEAEERE
effective interest method by applying the rate BRFEREESRD NN/
that discounts the estimated future cash receipts TEZEFEHS G EREK
through the expected life of the financial HEWARKREESHEEZ
instrument to the net carrying amount of the BREFEE
financial asset.

Contract assets and liabilities EHNBERERE

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

(k)

136

Revenue recognition - continued

Contract assets and liabilities — continued
Contract asset is recognised when (i) the Group
completes the infrastructure construction works under
such services contracts but yet certified by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by
customers, or (i) the customers retain retention money
to secure the due performance of the contracts. Any
amount previously recognised as a contract asset is
reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which
it is invoiced to the customer. If the considerations
(including advances received from customers) exceeds
the revenue recognised to date under the input
method then the Group recognises a contract liability

for the difference.

Contract costs
The Group recognises an asset from the costs incurred
to fulfil a contract when those costs meet all of the

following criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the entity can

specifically identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of
the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in

the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the cost relate. The asset is subject to

impairment review.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

)

Income taxes
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and

deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period. The amount of
current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate
of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and
initial recognition of assets and liabilities that are not
part of the business combination which affect neither
accounting nor taxable profits, taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised, provided that
the deductible temporary differences are not arises
from initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction other than in a business combination that
affects neither taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to
the expected manner in which the carrying amount of
the asset or liability is realised or settled and that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
reporting period, and reflects any uncertainty related to

income taxes.
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138

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

V)

Income taxes - continued

An exception to the general requirement in
determining the appropriate tax rate used in measuring
deferred tax amount is when an investment property
is carried at fair value under HKAS 40 “Investment
Property”. Unless the presumption is rebutted, the
deferred tax amounts on these investment properties
are measured using the tax rates that would apply on
sale of these investment properties at their carrying
amounts at the reporting date. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather than

through sale.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or when
they relate to items recognised directly in equity in
which case the taxes are also recognised directly in

equity.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

4. BEEGHHR-&

(m) Foreign currencies (m) 5p¥E

Transactions entered into by the Group in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets
and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the
end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a

foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which
case, the exchange differences are also recognised in

other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

4. BEEGHHKR-&

(m) Foreign currencies — continued (m) Sh¥E—48

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions
took place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign
operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss of
group entities’ separate financial statements on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group's net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive

income and accumulated in equity as exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the exchange
reserve relating to that operation up to the date of
disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the

profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are

recognised in the exchange reserve.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

(n) Employee benefits

()

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short-term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees

render the related service.

Pension scheme
The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
“MPF Scheme")

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,

scheme (the under the
for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in the PRC are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The contributions are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of

the central pension scheme.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., EEGHBE-&
— continued

(n) EEHEH-&

(n) Employee benefits — continued

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the

payment of termination benefits.

(o) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which will probably result in an outflow of

economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

(p) Related parties

(a)

A person or a close member of that person’s

family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel

of the Group or the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is

related to the others);

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which

the other entity is a member);

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same

third party;

4. BEEGHHR-&

(p) FAEAL

(a)

HEUTAL BIZALH
ZATZERAEEEREARH
&

(i) ERIHHEFIERE
£

(il HEAEBMBEAZE
14

(i) HEEEHATEEFZA
BXEEEEMS-

il fF & T SR A% 4 > Bl —
BEREAEBARE:

() BEBRAEEARN—
EEEAAD (NS
BAT - -WEARDRA
I B 2 5 EAERAE) ;

(i —EAEERAR®—18
ZHERTREGELRE
(XE—BERARER
BlZEEMERTEZH

ERBHRAELRE) ;

(i) MEER

BZEE

BHR—%
aE

2“‘: N £BE I'\E



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T MBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

- continued
(p) Related parties — continued
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: — continued
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of the

Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled

by a person identified in (a);

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or

of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the

Group's parent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

(p) Related parties - continued
Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic

partner,

(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s

spouse or domestic partner.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Given COVID-19 pandemic has created and may
continue to create significant uncertainty in macroeconomic

conditions, actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.
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146

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5. EXEsHERE&SFHEER

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION RZ2EERE-E

UNCERTAINTY - continued

(a) Income taxes (a) Frigif
Determining income tax provisions involves judgement EEMSRBEAHETISN
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions. RIRMERIBEHAIE - NEEFT
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of B R ZHNRE L WAEE
transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly. EMBERE-ARAXZNRERIE
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered ThEHAEE B > Ut RIRFE R A
periodically to take into account all changes in tax WP E 28 -
legislations.

(b) Estimated useful lives and impairment of (b) ME-BERREGTHE
property, plant and equipment R R {8
In accordance with HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and AEERBESEGHENFE 165
Equipment”, the Group estimates the useful lives of % -MEKRREI ZHRE M
property, plant and equipment in order to determine ME -BRERZHEZIBER %
the amount of depreciation expenses to be recorded. MEBEEREIRZITESZ H KE
The useful lives are estimated at the time the asset BERBABEER  BEUFLH
is acquired based on historical experience, the BEEZHEAERAE - BEEE U
expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well EEMEERTEERIEED
as technical obsolescence arising from changes in the REEEMERAR Lt EBE
market demands or service output of the assets. The H-AERMTENSFEEHRT
Group also performs annual reviews on whether the UHEBEETRERMAEL Z /&
assumptions made on useful lives continue to be valid. BEEMACE - AEBSFEURE
The Group tests annually whether the assets have EESTEZEMAEETAR &
suffered any impairment. The recoverable amount of EXREELEEM 2T REE£E
an asset or a cash generating unit is determined based ThiREBEREEETEE  LEX
on value in use calculations which require the use of ERRR Rt

assumptions and estimates.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

(c)

(d)

Revenue recognition from EPC and

consultancy segment

As explained in note 4(k), revenue recognition on an
uncompleted project is dependent on estimating the
total outcome of the construction contract, as well as
the work done to date. Based on the Group’s recent
experience and the construction activities undertaken
by the Group, the Group makes estimates of the point
at which it considers the work is sufficiently advanced
such that the costs to complete and revenue can
be reliably estimated. As a result, until this point is
reached, the contract assets as disclosed in note 23(a)
will not include profit which the Group may eventually
realise from the work done to date. In addition, actual
outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be
higher or lower than estimated at the end of the
reporting period, which would affect the revenue and
profit recognised in future years as an adjustment to

the amounts recorded to date.

Fair value measurement
A number of assets included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements require measurement

at, and/or disclosure of, fair value.

EXGFAEREHFEER
RZEERF-E

(c)

(d)

EPCR % 58 90 48 B9 Uy 25 FE 52

AN sEA(K)FRIRE - RTRIE B
P mEERDRBRNE I RESHE
ERIOMGE URESBETHNI
RBoRBEFAEBIOHERKRESE
BETHEREZNOUEE - Fs&H
EEAERATIEERITIR
AE 7] 58 i 5t 52 Al A 45 K Wi 7 Y Bf
IR - EIt > EZE R Z K E AT 1
MzE23(a)PI BN ENEER T
CEEFEERKRITBESEE
THIRERMEF UL R
MW TNBERERATES
RBERBEAROG  ERE
TRENRRREEFERESARK
EEAR AR ED N RER] o

ATEE
SAATEERREHBREREZZE
BEEABATENER Y
NFERE-

cA N NG
qﬂ@hﬂbﬂ?;ggg;& 147



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T MBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5. BEAEHHER G FiEEE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION RZXTERE-&
UNCERTAINTY - continued
(d) Fair value measurement - continued (d) ATEA=ZE-E

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial rEEEMAFEMEERER

and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market ZATEFEZAEERTSA

observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs HRmABBERBE - EEQATE

used in determining fair value measurements are STEFERZEASEDERG

categorised into different levels based on how {875 & ¥ PR 152 F & A 3R RO BT R

observable the inputs used in the valuation technique RREEDATRANER ((AFEE

utilised are (the “fair value hierarchy”): 1) :

. Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical . F—H  HRBEBEREES
items (unadjusted); BETIREN (REHE) ;

e Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other o B4 FE—MHRWAMEN
than Level 1 inputs; SNEEHEETRRHAR

%

e Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from e B4Rk FUHRE AR
market data). (BNEZBEHIBEBIEITE) ©

The classification of an item into the above levels is DA LMERENEBBEBERMR

based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a FRHEZEBATEAEELES

significant effect on the fair value measurement of the HEZRBERMABIREE

item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised EHhzHMEEEENREESHME

in the period as they occur. i

The Group measures a number of items at fair value: NEEBUATEHENATETIE

B .

e Revalued buildings - Property, plant and e EHfEBEF-WE- -BEMRE
equipment (note 16); and (Mizk16) 3 &

o Financial assets at FVTPL (note 18). . BRAFEt A IERZEREE

(M$zE18) ©

For more detailed information in relation to the fair B LELHMIEBATFENEZELHME
value measurement of the items above, please refer to il 52 RN EE -

the applicable notes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s top management for the purposes of
allocating resources to and assessing the performance of the

Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of business activities. No operating segments

have been aggregated to form the reporting segments.

Segment revenue, expenses, results and assets include items
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can
be allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment, but
exclude exceptional items. Segment capital expenditure is
the total cost incurred during the year to acquire segment
assets (both tangible and intangible) that are expected to be
used for more than one year. Corporate portions of expenses
and assets mainly comprise corporate administrative
and financing expenses and corporate financial assets

respectively.
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REDBREDERENGEMHRRE
ERZEENRECHRNEIERARTE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING - continued
The Group has five (2019: five) reportable segments. The

segments are managed separately as each business offers

different products and services and requires different

business strategies. The following summary describes the

operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

the EPC and consultancy and general construction
segment comprises the Group’s EPC and consulting
services operations relating to construction of
photovoltaic power plants and general construction

services;

the power generation segment comprises the Group's

power generation operations;

the financing segment comprises the Group's financing

operations;

the manufacturing and trading business segment
comprises the Group’s manufacturing and trading of

solar power related products; and

the all other segments comprise the Group’s corporate

management, investment and treasury services.

Inter-segment transactions are priced with reference to

prices charged to external parties for similar orders. Central

revenue and expenses are not allocated to the operating

segments as they are not included in the measurement of

the segments’ results that are used by the chief operating

decision-maker for assessment of segment performance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

SEGMENT REPORTING - continued

All of the Group’s revenue from external customers is
derived from the Group’s operations in the PRC. All
external customers of the Group are located in the
PRC. As at 31 December 2020 except for the interest
in associates amounted to HK$135,145,000 (2019:
HK$110,735,000), property, plant and equipment amounted
to HK$2,421,445,000 (2019: HK$946,168,000) and
right-of-use assets amounted to HK$27,290,000 (2019:
HK$23,271,000) are located in the PRC, all other non-
current assets, other than financial instruments, are located

in Hong Kong.

Included in revenue arising from EPC and consultancy
and general construction segment of HK$339,718,000
and HK$241,347,000 (2019: HK$725,928,000 and
HK$178,731,000) arose from the Group's first and second
largest customers. For the year ended 31 December 2020,
except for the above first and second largest customers,
there was one customer (2019: one customer) of the
Group’s EPC and consultancy and general construction
segment with revenue represents more than 10% of the

Group's revenue.

DERE &
AEERBIIBELRZWHEGRE A
EERFTREZEF -AEEFRBIINSE
EHURYBE-R_ZT_FF+_HA
=+—H BREEEABI135,145,000
T (ZE—HhE: &¥110,735,000
T)RBMEATAZEGE SEABE
2,421,445,0007% (ZZ2—N5F : B
946,168,0007T) FU4 % ~ R BB R 5 8 L
R&EABN27,290,000T (ZE—Ah
1 B%523,271,0007T) MEREEET
URPABER MAEEMIERSEE PR
SR TR HEUREE-

EPCRBARERBERSBELE Z W
#51%£339,718,0007T K A #241,347,000
T (ZZ2—NF  A1725,928,0007T &
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

6.

15

: st =
SEGMENT REPORTING - continued 6. NEERE—&
EPC and
consultancy Manufacturing
and general Power and trading All other
construction generation Financing business segments Total
EPCRIEAR RiER FiE
BRER B ME BEER Hitt 38 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETR BETT AR AR
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-F-TE+-A=+-HLEE
Segment revenue: Bl
Sales to external customers HEFINIER 1,867,569 212,033 24,966 66,626 - 2,171,194
Intersegment sales NEMBE - - 56,574 - - 56,574
Other income and gains HitMA KRBT - 1,380 - 13 6,808 8,301
Reportable segment revenue RENENE 1,867,569 213,413 81,540 66,739 6,808 2,236,069
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment sales SEREEERY (56,574)
Consolidated revenue RalE 2,179,495
Segment results PEEE 70,283 85,091 (30,611) (18,267) (16,551) 89,945
Reconciliation: E:/
Bank interest income RITHSKA 16,974
Finance costs BBMA (42,601)
Gain on bargain purchases AEEEKE 3,531
Loss on disposal of financial asset HERATEAABRZ
at FVTPL EREENBR (34)
Share of results of associates, net AMERENRZEETE 21,996
Profit before income tax expense AR EXAER 89,811
Income tax expense B (19,443)
Profit for the year EERT 70,368
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

- st =2
SEGMENT REPORTING - continued 6. DHEERE—&

EPC and

consultancy Manufacturing
and general Power and trading All other
construction generation Financing business segments Total
EPCRiEHAR RIER FiE

BRER %8 HE BEXY HittHE s

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI AR AETT BETR BETT AETT
Year ended 31 December 2019 HE-T-AE+ZB=t+-HLEE
Segment revenue: NERE
Sales to external customers HEFINIER 2,306,824 169,803 27,293 388,658 - 2,892,578
Intersegment sales NERHE = = 46,623 = = 46,623
Other income and gains HitBA KRBT 1,210 1,672 34 653 = 3,569
Reportable segment revenue RENENE 2,308,034 171,475 73,950 389,311 - 2,942,770
Reconciliation: E:/
Elimination of intersegment sales SEEEERY (46,623)
Consolidated revenue RalE 2,896,147
Segment results PEEE 139,795 74,008 (25,726) 1,114 (32,328) 156,863
Reconciliation: E:/
Bank interest income RITFSKA 7335
Finance costs BB (53,169)
Share of results of associates, net MEBERR 2 EEFE 17,499
Profit before income tax expense FRFRS 1R B Sl R A 128,528
Income tax expense FigiES (24,507)
Profit for the year FEEHF 104,021
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

6.

154

SEGMENT REPORTING - continued

6. ﬁ *E gE e n\E

EPC and
consultancy Manufacturing
and general Power and trading All other
construction generation Financing business segments Total
EPCRIEAR RiER FiE
BRER 88 HE BEEH Hih A st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRTR BRI BBTR BBTR BBTR BBTR
At 31 December 2020 RZ€-8¥£+-A=+-H
Segment assets NEEE 3,233,317 3,166,852 577,990 104,237 55,031 1,137,427
Reconciliation: k-
Unallocated assets RAREE 135,145
Total assets BEAE 7,212,572
Segment liabilities RERRA 2,712,642 1,862,192 934,530 10,400 625,983 6,145,747
Reconciliation: k-
Unallocated labilities FAREHE -
Total liabilities BELE 6,145,747
Other segment information HittpEEH
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1%BERREIFE 645 87,107 109 5,191 63 93,115
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 3,848 2,558 - 3N 2,112 9,549
Additions to property, plant and equipment ~ FEE \BERRE 439 1,106,086 8 3,303 24 1,109,860

Included in the unallocated assets, there are interest in
associates amounted to HK$135,145,000. Details of the

interest in associates are set out in note 21.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING - continued 6. SHEBE—&

EPC and

consultancy Manufacturing

and general Power and trading All other

construction generation Financing business segments Total
EPCRiEHA Rig

RERER £+ #E REEEH FAEEMNE ozt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ABTR AT Vet BBTR Vel Ao ABTR

At 31 December 2019 RZE-hE+ZR=+-H

Segment assets PERE 3,224,619 1,557,091 698,386 73,019 22,526 5,575,641
Reconciliation: g

Unallocated assets APEREE 110,735
Total assets BEAE 5,686,376
Segment liabilities HEER 2,635,343 377,472 965,789 106,905 663,989 4,749,498
Reconciliation: g

Unallocated liabilities AEEE -
Total liabilities BELE 4,749,498
Other segment information HittpEEH

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1%BERREIFE il 73,530 107 5,277 60 79,745
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 3,987 3,152 - 374 2,813 10,326
Additions to property, plant and equipment B \BERRE 1,179 69,730 17 316 75 71317
Included in the unallocated assets, there are interest in RO EEBEEEE®110,735,000
associates amounted to HK$110,735,000. Details of the TZRBE AR ZEZ RBEATZ
interest in associates are set out in note 21. R BEH N EE21 0
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 7. B -HtWAREZR
An analysis of the Group's revenue, other income and gains ERAEERE HEtMBRARRHNZ 2
is as follows: wuF
2020 2019
—EC-EF —E-hE
HKS$'000 \HK$’000
BETT BT T
Revenue: Yrss -
Sales of goods HESm 798,691 1,658,448
Construction contract revenue TIRESHW=E 1,053,715 955,987
Service income AR FE U A 90,033 84,207
Finance lease interest income MEMAEZF B WA 12,635 20,720
Loan interest income BERFEWA 4,087 3,413
Sales of electricity BHHE 212,033 169,803
2,171,194 2,892,578
Timing of revenue recognition U 2oz B 57 5 )
At a point in time A 5B B RS 2 798,691 1,658,448
Over time B — E& B R 1,372,503 1,234,130
2,171,194 2,892,578
Other income and gains: HtWARZEH :
Bank interest income IRITHEWA 16,974 7,335
Others Hith 8,301 3,569
25,275 10,904
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BB
2020 2019
—E-EF —E—hEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMEBEEZNE 70,633 51,627
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEZIE 482 1,542
Total finance costs AR A< 48 %A 71,115 53,169
Less: amount capitalised in cost of qualifying & : @ EREER 4K
assets BEREEEE (28,514) =
42,601 53,169
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9.

Profit before income tax expense is arrived at after charging:

BRFR1S IR A ST A E R
RSB AT RA BN TS E

2020 2019
—EEHF == kE
HK$000 HK$'000
BETFT AT T
Staff costs (including directors’ and BIRA (BEEER
chief executive’s remuneration): TETHAEMSE) :
Wages, salaries and bonuses T #HNRTEA 49,296 46,738
Pension scheme contributions RBIKESETEIMHIR 515 1,913
Total staff costs BTIRASET 49,811 48,651
Depreciation of property, ME- -BREREREBITE
plant and equipment 93,115 79,745
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESEITE 9,549 10,326
102,664 90,071
Other operating expenses: H& &% .
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B4 B %57 B 1,980 1,980
Bank charges RITUE 10,306 12,154
Legal and professional fee FREREEER 10,039 12,536
Short-term and low-value lease expense R RBEEEHEERX 2,634 2,319
Research and development expense EER 12,344 13,560
Expected credit losses on the trade and FE U B 53 BRTE K2 FE UK 2= 4% A e
bill receivables and contract assets SHNEENTARREEEE 14,126 3,843
Others* Hith* 9,326 17,350
60,755 63,742
& Others included business trips, exchange losses, motor * HMBaEERk EXBE SERZ

vehicles expenses, utilities and sundries, which individually not

material to the Group.

APRIEREIE EEME N A&
REK o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows:

10. EEME
EEMEEBENOT
2020 2019
—E-THE e
HK$'000 HK$'000

AT AT

Fees s 675 645
Other emoluments: HMENE -
Salaries e 5,928 5,802
Housing allowance B === 1,012 1,050
Employer’s contribution to benefit scheme  {EE@F 5t & = 131 102
Total directors’ emoluments MEBENE 7,746 7,599
a. Independent non-executive directors a. BIUIEMITESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FARBILFRTEFEZ 2B
during the year were as follows: FUWF :
2020 2019
k- et 3 3 —B—hE
HK$000 HK$'000

AYETT AETT

Mr. Chan Ka Ling, Edmond

Mr. Wang Jimin

Mr. Tian Aiping

Mr. Li Dakuan (Passed away on
18 April 2019)

Mr. Kang Xinquan (Appointed on
14 June 2019)

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year

ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

BREETE

EFFEREE

HEFEE

FRERARE (R-EBE-—NFNA
+/\ B#fit)

BERAE (R-_E—-NERAB
+THEEZE)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

10. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS - continued

10. ESEME— &

b. Executive directors b. BMITESE
Employer’s
contribution
Housing to benefit Total
Fees Salaries allowance scheme remuneration
EXEH
g & [E3E3: 4 BE RSN HhM e st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE_T-Z&E
+ZA=+—HLEEE
Mr. Zhao Yixin (Chairman) HEELE (FE) - - - - -
Mr. Liu Genyu (Vice Chairman) RERE BZE) - 1,800 720 18 2,538
Mr. Fu Zhigang (Chief Executive Officer) TS &I E (FTE#E#,) - 1,176 292 1 1,479
Mr. Tang Jianhua BRELE (HFEEE)

(Chief Operating Officer) - 1,032 - 66 1,098
Ms. Jian Qing fELL - 960 - 18 978
Mr. Chung Chi Shing BEMELE - 960 - 18 978
Mr. Li Jinying FeERLE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Wu Yuanchen SRERE - - - - -

150 5,928 1,012 131 7,221
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS - continued 10. EEME—1&
b. Executive directors — continued b. MITEHF-&
Employer's
contribution
Housing to benefit Total
Fees Salaries allowance scheme  remuneration
BEEF
ik e (Ed=9=4:1 SHEIfHR o4 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BT BT BETT

Year ended 31 December 2019 HE-Z-h&

+ZA=+—HLEEE
Mr. Zhao Yixin (Chairman) BRELE (FR)
(Appointed on 23 January 2019) RZZ—nE—A
Z+=HEZM® = = = = =
M. Ai Yilun (Former Chairman) UBGRE FHEER)
(Resigned on 23 January 2019) (R=—B—h&E—B
Z+=H#E) - = = = =
Mr. Liu Genyu (Vice Chairman) RFLE EZE) = 1,800 720 18 2,538
Mr. Zhang Rui (Chief Executive Officer) RS54 (1T B A8 %)

(Resigned on 4 April 2019) (RZZ—NENBNHET) - 308 83 5 396
Mr. Fu Zhigang (Chief Executive Officer) 1S &I (FTE#E#,)

(Appointed on 4 April 2019) RZE-NENANAH

EZA) - 686 180 - 866
Mr. Tang Jianhua BRELE (FFEEE)

(Chief Operating Officer) - 1,088 67 43 1,198
Ms. Jian Qing HELL - 960 - 18 978
Mr. Chung Chi Shing EERTE - 960 - 18 978
Mr. Li Jinying FEEESE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Wu Yuanchen BRERE - = = = =

150 5,802 1,050 102 7,104
There was no arrangement under which a director and  E_E_ZEF+ZRA=+—HLEF
the chief executive officer waived or agreed to waive E BRI IIESRTHAKBREHRE
any remuneration during the year ended 31 December RHREAMENZE (CTE—NF
2020 (2019: Nil). ") o
Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for IRNFRTEEZHFS ZHREYH
the executive directors are generally emoluments paid mAMZEATREEGHEEAAT REMN
or receivable in respect of those persons’ other services BABREHEZERBZHMRBM —MKZ
in connection with the management of the affairs of TR Z B -

the Company and its subsidiaries.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 1. AUERSHNES

Of the six individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, five (2019: four) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 10
above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2019: one)

individuals were within the following bands.

FEBRURSFMALTEERM (Z
T-hE O ARABESE HMEF
BEREXHWFIORE-BFT— (CF
—hE ! —) ALZMEEEN T

Number of employees
ESA#
2020 2019
ZEZEHF —E-hF

Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZZF % ¥1,000,0007T

HK$ 1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 A H1,000,0007TE
7#51,500,0007T

HK$1,500,000 to HK$2,000,000 A %£1,500,0007TE

#E#2 000,0007T

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the six highest paid
individuals or directors as an inducement to join or upon

joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

( E_E_TER_F-NAFE+ZA
=+—HLEFE  xERTEER N
EBHMATHESTZAEAME  FH
R WEMALERHMALERERZ
RRFARERAMAEE

MERERZENERAT 161
it o

— 55



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T MBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FREREAX

The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

RERERHEMEEKERPAEMS
MFs1E

represents:

2020 2019
—F_FFE —E2—hHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT AT T

Current tax for the year REERHATRIE
Hong Kong &# - -
Other than Hong Kong FAMIME 19,443 24,507
Income tax expense FriefMpx 19,443 24,507

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits

arising in Hong Kong during the year.

Under the Law of People’'s Republics of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the "EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of PRC subsidiaries is 25%
(2019: 25%), except for those subsidiaries described below.

Certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC were accredited
as “Advanced Technology Enterprise” by the Science
and Technology Bureau of relevant provinces and other
authorities for a term of three years, and were registered
with the local tax authorities to be eligible to the reduced
15% enterprise income tax rate in the period from 2020-
2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE - continued 12. FAiiSHRAZ—&

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to KEEFMEREZAZRNTARRES
the profit before income tax expense in the consolidated Em R EMEE SR ERRSRE

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income X AR EITHER

as follows:

2020 2019
ZEZEHF —B—hEF
HK$'000 HK$'000

AYETT AT

Profit before income tax expense PREAISIRAZ AR T 89,811 128,528
Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate FAEREFREFERZ

applicable to profits in the FEMEAEZRIE

respective countries 17,463 29,494
Tax effect of share of profit of associates DMEBEAT R ZRBRE (5.524) (4,403)
Tax effect of differentiated EIT rate BENTEMBRMEZ

RBZE (3,057) (6,956)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AR NRE T E

tax purposes 12,207 8,091
Tax effect of revenue not taxable for BARRMANREZE

tax purposes (1,646) (1,719)
Income tax expense FrEMpx 19,443 24,507
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

13. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 13. Hit 2\ =
Tax effects relating to each component of other AREMEEKESBHZNBLE
comprehensive income
2020 2019
ZECEf ZS-NE
Before-tax Tax Net-of-tax Before-tax Tax Net-of-tax
amount benefits amount amount benefits amount
WREIRIE RBEE & RE CiIEN RBESR bk e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BlETR BETR RETR BETT BETT BETR
Items that will not be reclassified to HERAEENHEE RN (BB
profit or (loss): 2B
Gain on revaluation of property, BENE BERXEZKE
plant and equipment 21,494 (5,374) 16,120 - - -
Items that may be reclassified HEmREHsBE R (518)
subsequently to profit or (oss): pa:I=
Exchange differences on translating BEBNEBELZERESR
foreign operations 95,616 - 95,616 (24,597) - (24,597)
Share of other comprehensive HMEBMERAT Z B2 AN E
income of associates 7,843 - 7,843 (1,871) - (1,871)
103,459 - 103,459 (26,468) - (26,468)
124,953 (5,374) 119,579 (26,468) - (26,468)
DIVIDEND 14. BB

14.

164

No dividend has been declared or proposed by the directors

of the Company in respect of the year ended 31 December

2020 (2019: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. SRR
Earnings B
2020 2019
ot et 3 3 —_F—hEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT BT T
Earnings for the purposes of basic and AR EERERK
diluted earnings per share HwERANZ2BF 57,064 96,820
Number of shares AV E 4=
2020 2019
-t 3 —E—hEF
‘000 ‘000
TR T
Issued share capital at 1 January and H—B—HBHKR+ZBA=+—H
31 December ZBEITRA 1,313,095 1,313,095
Weighted average number of ordinary share AR EEREARKRBEEF
for the purposes of basic and ZEBRMETEH
diluted earnings per share calculation 1,313,095 1,313,095
No diluted earnings per share is calculated for the year HRITmREBEEEELER HEBEEZS
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 as there was no “EERZFE-NAFE+ZA=+—HL
potential diluted ordinary share in existence. FEIERAESREERT
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

4=

11\ A

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. ¥MI1% - BER&HE

Plant and Furniture Electrical Office Motor Power Construction
Buildings ~ machinery and fixtures  appliances  equipment vehicles plants in progress Total
BF BERHE GRRRE B8 HAZRE HE 28y ac &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥Tn  BETRT  BETm  BETRT  AETn  BETR AT BETR ABTr
Cost or valuation: BEHEE:
At 1January 2019 as originally ~ RZE—hE—F—BRF|
presented 21,406 38,204 499 7,060 274 3238 1,016,144 13,796 1,100,621
Initial application of HKFRS 16 #iREEREAMBREZRF 165 - - - - - - (142,437) - (142,437)
Restated balance RZZ-NE-R—BZE5IGH
as at 1 January 2019 21,406 38,204 499 7,060 274 3,238 873,707 13,796 958,184
Additions RE = 60 80 1,565 1" 159 20,294 49,148 71,317
Written off/disposal s/ e - - - - - - (41,953) (843) (42,796)
Transfer an - (2,030) - - - - 159,799 (15,332) 142,437
Exchange alignments ERHE (397) (671) 9 (153) - (62) (18,649) (714) (20,655)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NE+ZB=+—-BRk
1 January 2020 Z22%%-F-H 21,009 35,563 570 8,472 285 3,335 993,198 46,055 1,108,487
Additions RE = 3,235 = 515 24 184 668 1,105,234 1,109,860
Acquisition of subsidiaries KEREAR - 16,567 - 399 - 7 306,864 - 323,837
Surplus on revaluation SR 19,401 = = - - = = = 19,401
Written off/disposal W/ HE - - - (282) - - - = (282)
Transfer o - - - - - - 778,427 (778,427) -
Exchange alignments ERHE 2,557 4,008 34 611 = 231 138,613 22,79 168,850
As at 31 December 2020 RZE-SE+-A=+-A 42,967 59,373 604 9,715 309 3,757 2,217,770 395,658 2,730,153
Accumulated depreciation BB R
and impairment:
At 1 January 2019 as originally ~ RZ=F—hE—B—HRJI
presented 329 3,2% 419 2,848 180 1,989 77,110 - 86,171
Initial application of HKFRS 16 #iaEREBMBREERF 165 - - - - - - (15,321) - (15,321)
Restated balance RZZ-NE-B—RZE5IGH
as at 1 January 2019 329 3,29 419 2,848 180 1,989 61,789 - 70,850
Charge for the year REELH 1,078 4,295 37 928 41 269 73,097 = 79,745
Written off/disposal s/ e - - - - - - (1,165) - (1,165)
Transfer an = = = - - - 15321 - 15,321
Exchange alignments ERAE (1) (121) 9) (66) - (40) (2,297) - (2,554)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-AE+ZA=+-Ak
1 January 2020 ZZ-Z%-F-H 1,386 7470 447 3,710 221 2,218 146,745 - 162,197
Charge for the period AEELH 699 5,244 30 890 43 277 85,932 = 93,115
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBAR - 2,508 - 48 - 2 34,251 - 36,809
Eliminated on revaluation BRERHE (2,093) = = = = = = = (2,093)
Written off/disposal s/ e - - - (257) = = = = (257)
Exchange alignments EREE 8 1,029 30 289 - 162 17,336 - 18,854
As at 31 December 2020 RZ2-8%+-B=+-H - 16,251 507 4,680 264 2,659 284,264 - 308,625
Net book value: BRIEB(E
As at 31 December 2020 BHZE-%E+-A=+-A 42,967 43,122 97 5,035 45 1,098 1,933,506 395,658 2,421,528
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZB=+-R 19,623 28,093 123 4,762 64 1,17 846,453 46,055 946,290
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

- continued
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s buildings

were situated in the PRC and were used by the Group.

Fair value measurement

The fair value measurement of the Group’s building utilises
market observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs
used in determining fair value measurements are categorised
into different levels based on how observable the inputs
used in the valuation technique utilised are the fair value

hierarchy:

o Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical
items (unadjusted);

o Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than
Level 1 inputs;

. Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from

market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is based
on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant
effect on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers
of items between levels are recognised in the period they

occur.

The fair value of the Group’s buildings at 31 December 2020
was arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that
date by Shanghai Lixin Appraisal Co. Ltd, an independent
professional surveyor and property valuer not connected
with the Group. Shanghai Lixin Appraisal Co. Ltd is an asset
evaluation corporation with corresponding qualification
issued by the China Institute of Real Estate Appraisers and
Agents.

16.

ME -BER=E &

e s e e Dl S =
=t+t—HB FxEEZEFHUNRTER
WHAEBER -

AT(EH B
AREBT2ZATEHERTEEAD
BRRRGARBRBE- BEQTE
StEFERZBABBRNERMGES X
PRREABABBHNAIHREZEES AT
FEE#R  BIAFESFHR :

s F—%:EFEEERERTHISMER
B CRERE) ;

s BB RBABRBLINERE
HEEAERBARE

s FBZHR:IFAUBRRBARE AE
EETZBIETE) ©

DA LAERNIEE D ERPER
ZHEEBATEABELEEAREZRE
FMBMABIEHEE SHRZEEHBEH
REELHARES -

SEEBFR_ZE-_SE+_H=+—
AZAFELEREREEHREMAEZEZ
BUSERSMRYEMEMLBILE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ME -BERSH—&
- continued
Fair value measurement - continued RFEFAEE
The fair value of the Group’s buildings is a level 3 recurring FEEBFZATEBE=HLELA
fair value measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and TESE- AU RPRATEGZGRZH
closing fair value balance is provided below. BRI ©
2020 2019
“EEHR C"ZT-AHE
HK$'000 HK$'000

AYETT AET T

Opening balance (level 3 recurring fair value) Hi#1456% (B =REFE AT E) 19,623 21,077
Depreciation e (699) (1,078)
Revaluation B 21,494 -
Exchange alignments [E R sH 2 2,549 (376)
Closing balance (level 3 recurring fair value) HiR#&EER (F=REFEEATFE) 42,967 19,623
The valuation of the Group's buildings was determined FERBFZEENLKSEYENINE
by reference to depreciated replacement cost of the EEMAREELI MO RAFEMETE
properties less the fair value of leasehold land. Depreciated MEEENARMMETLER (FET
replacement cost reflects adjustments for percentage of B) B BREERKCERENS
completion (for construction in progress), age, physical B -FfTHBBEATRZHARBEEES
deterioration as well as economic obsolescence. Key EREA - RERERERHEE - BELK
unobservable inputs used included replacement cost, ERENARBRIEEGEMMIFANE
economic obsolescence and physical deterioration. Key BHLEE20% HAEREEESENRGKE
assumptions in determining economic obsolescence include e M b EAE R LB R MR o

the residue ratio of 20% adopted in the valuation. The
Group’s management has discussed with the valuer on the

valuation assumptions and valuation results twice a year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

- continued
Fair value measurement - continued
There were no changes to the valuation techniques during

the period.

The fair value measurement is based on the above
properties’ highest and best use, which does not differ
from their actual use. Had the revalued properties been
measured on cost model, their net book value would have
been HK$20,189,000 (2019: HK$19,623,000). During the
year ended 31 December 2020, there were no transfers into
or out of Level 3 or any other Level. The Group's policy is to
recognise transfers between Levels of the fair value hierarchy

as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

During the year, HK$21,494,000 was arising from
revaluation of buildings (2019: Nil).

16. ME -BER=E &

ATEHE A
HREER AL EEESE-

AFEHENRELAMENRS RE
FRRAMEE HERARIEEZR
HEMYEZRARNTE A HERE
FEGAABH20,189,000T (ZE—A
F : AB%19,623,0007T) cMREBEZEZ
EFE+ZHBA=+—HIEEE ITHEHA
FEHE=RFAERMEMRR - AER
MW RATERLEATEEREREBRN
RERARBIEMER

FREMEBFEESRBNE21,494,0007T
(ZE—hEFEH) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

17. LEASES 17. A8
The Group as a lessee BEEEAEBEA
The Group leases a number of properties in the jurisdictions FERRKEMENGEZHEREES
in which it operates. The periodic rent is fixed over the lease EYE THHERETHBREER
term. o
The values in the table below reflect the current proportions TRPNWEE &M E E & ISR HA
of lease payments that are fixed. DL 0
Fixed
Lease monthly
contracts payments
EE&A
HEAY HEME
Number HK$'000
31 December 2020 —E_Ef+_”-HA=+—H 4= BT T
40 to 250
Property leases with fixed payments BERERENYERES 6 40F250
Fixed
Lease monthly
contracts payments
EE&A
HEaY HEME
Number HK$'000
31 December 2019 —g-h&E+-H=+—H B BT T
40 to 252
Property leases with fixed payments EEHEERENYERE 4 40FE252
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

17. LEASES - continued 17. HE-&
Right-of-use assets EHESEE
Leasehold Leased Solar
land properties power plant Total
AELH HEME XERERETIL wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT T BT T
Initial application of HKFRS 16 MIRERE BB IR
and restated balances HERB 165K
at 1 January 2019 RZE—NE—AB
—HNES &R 24,664 14,437 127,116 166,217
Transfer to property, plant and BIEEWE-KRE
equipment Kt - = (127,116) (127,116)
Depreciation e (3,526) (6,800) - (10,326)
Exchange alignments ERHE (408) (150) = (558)
At 31 December 2019 and RZBE—hE
1 January 2020 +ZR=+—Hk
—Z22ZTF—A
—H 20,730 7,487 - 28,217
Additions RE 2,144 6,963 - 9,107
Depreciation = (2,929) (6,620) - (9,549)
Exchange alignments ERAE 1,334 355 - 1,689
At 31 December 2020 RIE"ZHF
+—-B=+—H 21,279 8,185 - 29,464
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

17. LEASES - continued 17. HE-4&
Right-of-use assets — continued EHESE-&
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by BEAEENENASNERESER
class of underlying asset is as follows: HRERRUWT :

31 December 31 December

2020 2019
k- et 3 3 —E-hF
+-BA=+—H +=ZHA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Ownership interests in leasehold land Fe g 84 Y A5 5)) BR I 65 7R HA
of amortised cost with MTHHEE T EE RS
remaining lease term of:
— Between 10 and 50 years —10E505 15,665 15,126
— Less than 10 years —RRBI105FE 5,614 5,604
21,279 20,730
Other properties leased for own use, Y3 88 A A 5 BR R AH HA
carried at depreciated cost MW IEEREER
with remaining lease term of: Y E 42 -
— Less than 10 years —ARE10%E 8,185 7,487
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

17. LEASES - continued 17. HE-&
Lease liabilities HEaR
Leased Solar
properties power plant Total
K3 HE
HEmE HE L Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T BT T
Initial application of HKFRS 16 #IRFERE B MRS
and restated balances ZR)E 1657 K
at 1 Janaury 2019 RIE—N%F
—HBA—BMEIEER 12,635 100,746 113,381
Interest expenses FMERZ 324 1,218 1,542
Payments of lease liabilities EHEEAE (6,255) (101,491) (107,746)
Exchange alignments PERAE (141) (473) (614)
At 31 December 2019 and RIE—h%&E
1 January 2020 +-B=+—HBk&
—E-FF—H—H 6,563 - 6,563
Additions B 6,073 - 6,073
Interest expenses MERZ 482 - 482
Payments of lease liabilities BENEEEE (6,189) = (6,189)
Exchange alignments PE QA% 312 - 312
At 31 December 2020 R-_E_EH£+_°H
=+—H 7,241 - 7,241
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A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

17. LEASES - continued

Lease liabilities — continued

Future lease payments are due as follows:

17. A6 -5
HEaEB-—&
KRB RO PE RO

Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
REHE MR 2 RE
31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2020 2020
—E-TH —E-TH —E-THF
+=-ZB=+—H +=ZB=+—H +=ZA=+4+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Not later than one year BB —F 5,832 372 5,460
Later than one year and —FEU EBEREBME
not later than two years 1,886 105 1,781
7,718 477 7,241
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
RIEASER e RE
31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2019 2019
—E-hE —E—-h#F —E—-h#F
+-A=+—H8B +=ZB=+—-H +=B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T BET T
Not later than one year ABBE—F 4,675 337 4,338
Later than one year and —FEYU L EBERBEMRE
not later than two years 2,337 112 2,225
7,012 449 6,563
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e BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (NON- 18. HithE /M EFE GERE)
CURRENT)
2020 2019
—E-EF _"Z—hE
HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR BAEBETT

Financial assets at FVTPL BRATFESAABZZEHMEE 26,756 28,139

Financial assets at FVTPL represent unlisted equity BAFESHAEGZEMEEIEFLT

investments (2019: unlisted equity investments). KREARE (ZTE—NEF:FLTREE
&) o
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19. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 19. ZERATIMBIRRRE
FINANCIAL POSITION
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-hAFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt 5E BT BT T
Non-current asset ERHEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AT ZIKE 20 434,163 486,537
Current assets EIEE
Amount due from subsidiaries FE UK Bf 8 2 Bl =R IE 487,440 527,778
Other receivables H e W =h1E 375 1,125
Cash and bank balances HE RIRIT4E R 40,338 6,337
528,153 535,240
Less: Current liabilities W REas
Other payables and accruals H{thFE (I FRIE K FE 5t R IR 498 506
Bank borrowings RITEE 621,534 657,300
622,032 657,806
Net current liabilities REHBEBE (93,879) (122,566)
Total assets less current HEERTBAE
liabilities 340,284 363,971
Net assets BEFHE 340,284 363,971




19. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

FINANCIAL POSITION - continued

19. ERABMBUKRER—E

2020 2019
—E-FHE —E—hE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt E BT AT T

Capital and reserves Be s Rz (3
Share capital it 34 131,309 131,309
Reserves it 35 208,975 232,662
Total equity w4 340,284 363,971

Chung Chi Shing
EERK
Director

EF

On behalf of the directors
RREE

Fu Zhigang
FER
Director

EF
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2020

17

and 2019 are as follows:

Place of

incorporation

Nominal value
of issued capital/

20. RMIBARZIRE

FEMBAT

CCE-BER-E—H

F+A=+—BZHFRUOT:

and registered and paid- Percentage of equity interest
Name of subsidiary operations® up capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
SEM AR AL R BRTRSERK
MEAR4E i 2he HERETZEE FRARMGREZEATE TEEH
2020 2019
k- ot - ZE-hE
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect
Ef# 5k = i &
Guoxin Energy Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000% (ote 2 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EEERARAR & #H&1,00070* i) - 100% = 100%  REER
CNI (Nanjing) Energy PRC (Mete 1) RMB250,000,000* - 100% = 100%  EPC and consultancy
Development Company operations
Limited
T (ER) EREBARAT HE ) AR #250,000,0007T* - 100% = 100%  EPCRELHIET
BARPZERIEARAT  PRC MoeD RMB250,000,000* - 100% = 100%  EPC and consultancy
operations
R HED AR #250,000,00075* - 100% = 100%  EPCRBs%%
ZERMERE (RI) BRAF PRC toen HK$240,000,000* - 100% - 100%  Financing
R ED #1240,000,0007T* - 100% = 100%  ®MH
MBI ERERAT PRC (Moted USD20,000,000* - 100% = 100%  Solar power generation
A () 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100%  ABAERE
FIZREERERRAT  PRC MoeD RMB50,000,000* - 100% = 100%  Financing
H g D AR ¥50,000,00075* - 100% - 100% @&
HENZABEERAR PRC (ote D RMB29,645,440* - 100% - 100%  Solar power generation
R HED AR #29,645,44075* - 100% - 100%  ARAERE
BEGHAREEERAT  PRC Moy RMB65,463,870* - 100% - 100%  Solar power generation
R ED AR #65,463,8707T* - 100% = 100% AREZE
BN EEERRAT PRC tote D RMB38,131,500* - 100% = 100%  Manufacturing and trading
of solar power related
products
R D AER#38,131,5007T* - 100% = 100%  KFFAEHERERNRER
B85
BRZEMAERERAR PRC (ote D RMB33,352,200* - 90% - 90%  Solar power generation
R HED AR #33,352,2007c* - 90% - 0% KBEZE
BEZRRNEZEERRAT  PRC toel RMB300,833,156* - 100% - 100%  Wind power generation
R ED AE#300,833,15670* - 100% = 100% RBENEE
ZHPRERERBRAT  PRC MoeD RMB64,600,000* - 60% = 60%  General construction
services
AR (D) AR #64,600,0007c* = 60% = 60%  —MRERIRE
Fuyang Hengming Solar Power ~ PRC tete1.3) RMB32,000,000* - 100% - - Solar power generation
Co., Ltd.
EREHAGEENRRART HE®E AE#32,000,00075* - 100% - - AGREEE
Zhenjiang GCL New Energy PRC (Note . 3) RMB34,340,000* - 100% - - Solar power generation
Co., Ltd.
BIRENERERAT HR g (iE3) AR #34,340,0007c* - 100% - - ABRERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
- continued
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2020

and 2019 are as follows: — continued

2 Unless otherwise stated, the place of operations is the place
of incorporation.

= Ordinary shares

Note 1:All PRC subsidiaries are corporations with limited liability.

Note 2:On 30 April 2019, the shareholdings of Guoxin Energy
Limited increased from 80.90% to 100%. In the step-
acquisition, the Group recognised directly in equity the
difference between the amounts by which the non-
controlling interests were adjusted and the fair value of
consideration paid or received, and attributed it to the
owners of the Company.

Note 3:During 2020, the CNI (Nanjing) Energy Development
Company Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into two sale and purchase
agreements with independent third party vendors to
acquire the entire equity interest of Fuyang Hengming
Solar Power Co., Ltd. and Zhenjiang GCL New Energy
Co., Ltd.. After completion of the two acquisitions,
have become indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company as set out in note 33.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of

the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

In the opinion of the directors, there is no subsidiary that has
non-controlling interest individually that is material to the
Group and therefore no information is disclosed for these

non-wholly owned subsidiaries.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

21. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

21. RSB 2

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR AETT

Share of net assets (including goodwill) DEEETE (BEES) 135,145 110,735
Details of the material associates are as follows: BERBMERBZFHERBUWT !
Percentage
of equity
Place of incorporation, attributable
Name operation and principal activity to the Group
TEEMELS
s MM REEMUR T ERH EEaL
HIZIRIERR/AT (transliterated Note (i)  PRC. Construction work for various types of nuclear reactors, nuclear 14.43%
as China Nuclear Industry power plants, radioactive chemical engineering projects in the PRC;
Maintenance Co., Ltd. and businesses of maintenance of nuclear power plants and electrical
("CNI Maintenance Co.")) equipment technology consultancy and technical services.
(ThEEHIEATF)) WizE() PE-EREAMSEEENGRESE GER RIS IEN 14.43%
BEWT ; REZEBMEERENMEE KB RRMRE R
FREREBEAGEEEERAT Note (i) PRC. Solar energy generation and sale, solar power technology 47.13%
(transliterated as Zhong He consulting services, photovoltaic technology development, solar
Qigihar Solar Power Generation photovoltaic system construction in the PRC.
Company Limited) WizEG) HRECRPEETABRERESEFE K7 R MTH AR R 47.13%

ME ABEARRARR
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21. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES - continued

Note (i):

Note (ii):

According to the articles of CNI Maintenance Co., the
Company has a right to appoint a director who represents
the Company in the board of directors’ meeting of CNI
Maintenance Co.. Although the Group’s ownership in
CNI Maintenance Co. is less than 20%, the Group has

significant influence over CNI Maintenance Co..

The primary business of CNI Maintenance Co. is
undertaking construction work for various types of
nuclear reactors, nuclear power plants, radioactive
chemical engineering projects in the PRC; and businesses
of maintenance of nuclear power plants and electrical
equipment, technology consultancy and technical services.
This is in alignment with the Group’s EPC and consultancy

and general construction segment.

The primary business of Zhong He Qigihar Solar Power
Generation Company Limited is solar energy generation
and sale, solar power technology consulting services,
photovoltaic technology development, solar photovoltaic
system construction in the PRC. This is in alignment with
the Group's power generation segment.

21. RS

B 5E )

B 5EGi) -

,‘-\\12* I‘E
REBEFZBEAT Z A M > K
REEREZEE—RESEAREAA
HEFZBEARNZEZTEEE
BEXREARPZIBERBDZFRE
FERE TR IERR20% > A& H 3 R iz i
EREIEBEATEN-

FRBEARZEIEEZEHAETEH
AR BEE MR EE  ZBRK
BEMETIEIRMNEREL ; &
Z BV AEE T EREEE
RfTsE R MRS R HAE
HEPCRAMARERERDHEER

A
=

LR PN LS g@éﬁﬁﬁ’z}ﬁ
ZEEEBRHBRPEHETK
BHEHE - KEH ﬁmuuuﬁJHEi% 7‘5
REMFEE KBEALARRER
BAEBBEBENERRES

hEEAEEEARA
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

21. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES - continued 21. R ERBIZ RS — &
Summarised financial information REEHEBE

Zhong He Qigihar Solar

China Nuclear Industry Power Generation
Maintenance Co., Ltd Company Limited
PERERIRE
FERIERRAHE AEEEEERAR
2020 2019 2020 2019
“BI%F "T-hE C"BI®F _"T-hf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000

BBTR BRI BAETR BETT

At 31 December BK+ZB=+—8H

Current assets MEEE 568,321 545,482 1,289 3,104
Non-current assets ERBEE 354,706 186,217 20,606 20,964
Current liabilities REER (122,312) (94,759) (7,129) (10,952)
Non-current liabilities FEREEE - = - =
Year ended 31 December HE+-B=+—HLEE

Revenue W& 1,237,161 1,140,319 3,787 3,686
Profit Pl 150,039 119,241 732 619
Other comprehensive income Hth2mha 51,361 (12,166) 918 (245)
Total comprehensive income 2ENEEE 201,400 107,075 1,650 374
Dividends received from associate BHEATKEBZEE 5,429 5,385 - =

Reconciled to the Group's interests in A& B B A B i B IR
the associates

Gross amounts of net assets of BHENEFEERS

the associates 800,715 636,940 14,766 13,116
Group's effective interest FERERER 14.43% 14.43% 47.13% 47.13%
Group's share of net assets of FERDEHE AT EETRE

the associates 115,544 91,911 6,959 6,182
Goodwill EE; 12,642 12,642 - -
Carrying amount in the RiGERBRRZIEEE

consolidated financial statements 128,186 104,553 6,959 6,182
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22. INVENTORIES 22. 8
2020 2019
—E-EE C—ZE—NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT 5T BT T
Finished goods SR & 2,987 4,875

23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

(a) Contract assets
Amounts represent the Group’s rights to consideration
from customers for construction work computed but
not billed at the end of the reporting date under such
contracts. Any amounts previously recognised as a
contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the
point at which it becomes unconditional and is invoiced

to the customers.

23. GRNEREERSHAER

(a) GHEE
ZEREFEERBEZFAGON
BREMARMESEERFERR
TREMERKEAENER kAl
BREAANBEENERNESETH
A EETERATEFRAZRE
EMORERKEZRE

31 December 31 December
2020 2019
k- 33 ZE-hE
+ZA=+—-H +IZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
AETR BETT
Contract assets arising from: REELZEHNEE

Provision of EPC and consultancy services and 1R fEPC R sB AR TS K B2 RS B2 R AR 7%
general construction services 1,186,121 852,900
Less: Impairment losses W ORERE (9,667) (4,264)
1,176,454 848,636
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES - continued

(a) Contract assets — continued
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of

contract assets are as follows:

The Group's contracts with customers for the
provision of EPC and consultancy services and general
construction services include payment schedules which
require stage payments over the construction period
once milestones are reached. These payment schedules
prevent the build-up of significant contract assets.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for
contract assets as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are

as follows:

(a)

23. ANRERANAR—@

aNEE-&
FECHNEESHZBEEMNRE
BT :

FEBAERPNRERMEPCRES
RBERBEEERRFTENEEER
EHRER D ERAMBOTRERZ
(—BERER) - LLEMRBE
MIEEREREGHNEE-

RIE-_ZER-_F-AF+Z
BA=+—H&HNEEN WD HE
HREREMT

2020 2019

ok a3 —E-hNEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

AETT BT T

Within one year —FR 1,176,454 848,636

Movement in the loss allowance in respect of contract

assets during the year is as follow:

ERNERENEEZHEERS
T :

2020 2019

—E_8g C"E—AhE

HK$'000 HK$'000

AETT BT T

At beginning of year F1 4,264 1,902
Impairment losses HEEE 5,403 2,362
At end of year FR 9,667 4,264
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES - continued

(a) Contract assets — continued

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected
credit losses. The provision rates for the measurement
of the expected credit losses of the contract assets
are based on those of the trade receivables as the
contract assets and the trade receivables are from the
same customer bases. The provision rates of contract
assets are based on days past due of trade receivables
appropriately grouped by similar loss pattern.
The calculation reflects the probability weighted
outcome, the time value of money, and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions

and forecast of future economic conditions.

As at 31 December 2020, retention held by customers
for contract work amounted to approximately
HK$139,136,000 (2019: HK$65,491,000). The
retention receivables are unsecured, interest-free and
recoverable at the end of the retention period of
individual contracts, ranging from three to six months
from the date of the completion of the respective

project.

23. GHNEERSHAR-&

(a)

aNEE-&
RERSHMERBABERE
TREZN UStERBPEES
B-stBANBEECRREEER
ZREXDNEREBRESREZ
BHREERER BaNEERER
BEZRAENREBERERE -G8
BEZEBAEEDENRKRENSE
BAZEDEZRKEZREN
TR B E &t BRI AR
MEER ERRERNREKSAHN
AENEMBEEER - BAMRMGR
AREEFRGRANGERATSE
Bille

RZE-_ZT&+-"A=+—H"'H
EERBAZENIREREENE
#£139,136,0007c (ZZT—HFE : &
#65,491,0007T) - FEWRIREBE%
BIKH - RERARENSHORE
ETRINMAR (FREB TR B EAEE
FEEXNEAA) WKE -

E AR R B AR AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 23. BNEBEEREGHNEB-&E

LIABILITIES - continued
(b) Contract liabilities (b)

Contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to customers for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer.

ala[/
BHEREARTEEEERS
B ERAE (REIAREREE) MA
MEFEEERIRBZEE-

31 December 31 December
2020 2019
k- k- 35 ZE-hE
+ZB=+-B +ZR=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
AlETR BT
Contract liabilities arising from: REELZEHEE
Provision of EPC and consultancy services and  $RfEEPCHR 3 AR TS K B BB R R AR 7%
general construction services 84,737 45,384
2020 2019
bt S5~ —E-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000

AYETT AT

Balance as at 1 January W—RB—HZ &k 45,384 92,312
Decrease in contract liabilities as a FEANRIWRZERSHNEaERLD

results of recognition of revenue

during the year (45,679) (91,877)
Increase in contract liabilities IR HEPC KBRS K

as a result of billing in advance BRRERRBEREAWR

of provision of EPC and EREHNEBEEM

consultancy services and general

construction services 79,713 46,022
Increase as a result of acquisition WSt B Bt a8 B B B3 N

of subsidiaries 245 -
Exchange alignments (E R AR 5,074 (1,073)
Balance as at 31 December R+ZHA=+—BzZ#&& 84,737 45,384
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES - continued
(b) Contract liabilities — continued
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities are the receipts in advance for the
provision of EPC and consultancy services and general

construction services.

All the contract liabilities as at 31 December 2019
are recognised as revenue during the year ended 31
December 2020. The Group expects that the contract
liabilities as at 31 December 2020 will be recognised as

revenue within a year or less.

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
The Group normally allows a credit period of 30-180 days

with its customers for EPC and consultancy services and
general construction services depending on the customers’
creditworthiness and the length of business relationship with
the customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management of the Company.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing.

23.

24,

BNRERSHAGE-&

(b) EHNEE-&
RECHEBRSHZBEMNRE
BRRMHEPCRAARE R EER
RARFBI TR TRIE

RBEEZZ-_EF+"RB=+—
BEFEE -FRER_Z—h&E+Z
B=+—HZEHNAEYHER
ARG AEBMBRR_ZE_TF
+ZB=+—HBz&aHNE8ERR
—FEZ AW o

B E 2 RERRE
AEE—RHEPCRENRERERE
BRI E B H30E180A 2 EEH
FEFEBRAER ZEBWERRD
TE o 2 £ B R A 1 ) 14 SR L ) 2 B R
H MBBESImAATDBSRERE
SRR o FEU B 2 ARIA 31 B o

2020 2019
—EEHF —E—hE
HK$'000 HK$'000

AYETT AT

Trade receivables FEUX & 5 BR1E
Bills receivables W EE
Less: Impairment losses R EEE

950,866 954,357
555,059 654,253
1,505,925 1,608,610
(26,229) (17,506)
1,479,696 1,591,104
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 24.

- continued

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and
before impairment losses, is as follows:

B E B RERR R &

NBEZBBRZENRAERERNE
RESHRZBREZRERRRZIR
oMW

2020 2019
—EEHE A
HK$°000 HK$'000

BETR AETT

0-90 days 0%E90H

91-180 days 91ZE180H
181-365 days 181E365H
>365 days BiB365H

The Group recognised impairment losses based on the
accounting policy stated in note 4(h)(ii).

Bills receivables are due within six months from date of
billing. Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit
risk arising from trade and bills receivables are set out in
note 39(b).
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871,904 609,832
174,720 235,549
222,842 590,628
236,459 172,601
1,505,925 1,608,610

75 25 B AR B SR 4(h ) (i) FFF 80 & 3t TR 2R R
DR ERSIE

BUEREERAREBEHNERRNE
H-AREAEBEERRRBRE SR
BEREHRZEERRZE-THBHN
M3 3E39(b) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

LOAN RECEIVABLES

25. FEE =

2020 2019
—EEHF == B
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T

Loan receivables comprise: FEWEREIE :
Within one year —FRN 101,471 15,167
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EELF (BREEERE) 14,259 25,125
After five years EEE 4,172 7,823
Total loan receivables FEUR & T 42 %A 119,902 48,115
Less: Portion classified under current assets B REARNEEZEY (101,471) (15,167)
Non-current assets ERIEE 18,431 32,948

Loan receivables as at 31 December 2020 represented loans
to third parties which were secured, bearing interest at 6%
to 8% (2019: 6% to 7%) per annum and repayable in one
to six years (2019: two to seven years).

R_ZE_ZTE+_B=+—HBHZEIK
BRARTIE=-AZER AHIER-
BEMEHNES (ZTE—NEF6%E
7%) st B RR—ERE(CE—NE . =

ELH REE-

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 26. FARIE- B R HEMEWR
RECEIVABLES I8

2020 2019

—E-SF —ZE—hE

HK$'000 HK$'000

T T BT T

Prepayments AT RIE 317,520 503,550

Deposits s 28,165 28,544

Other receivables Hfth e FRIE 429,559 226,325

775,244 758,419

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

L EEREARIFRBE st AL
MR ERE E ST FF BN

Bz EWRIBERR

ERAR R EEERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

27.

190

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

The Group provides financial leasing services on certain
equipment in the PRC. These leases are classified as finance
leases and have remaining lease terms ranging from five
to six years with interest rate ranging from 5.3% to 5.4%
(2019: 5.3% to 5.4%) per annum.

27. MMEHERIWRIE
AEERPERETRERHEMNERST
R -ZEHMEENEAMERAE B
HMEBEEENFEZHE FAXABS3E
ES54E (ZE—NFE 53EES4E) ©

Present value of

Minimum lease payments minimum lease payments
REHET® RIEEERMRZERE
2020 2019 2020 2019
—B-8F E-hE C"B°-8¥F C"EZ-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AETR BRI BAETR BETT

Finance lease receivables comprise: ~ BAEHEMUWIERIE .

Within one year —FR 76,467 77,684 61,643 57,644
In the second to fifth years, inclusive S_EERF (BIEEERE) 262,169 332,968 235,761 289,390
After five years hE®R 3,412 45,877 3,336 44,540
342,048 456,529 300,740 391,574

Less: unearned finance income B RBEZ B (41,308) (64,955)

Total net finance lease receivables HERERKEIEFRE 300,740 391,574

2020 2019

ZEZEE CZ-hE

HKS$'000 HK$'000

BRTR BETT

Analysed for reporting purposes as:  FRIREDMUWT ¢

Current assets MBEE 61,643 57,644
Non-current assets ERBEE 239,097 333,930
300,740 391,574

The Group's finance lease receivables are denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB").
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PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Pledged bank deposits represents deposits pledged to
banks to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group. Deposits amounting to HK$418,183,000 (2019:
HK$481,719,000) have been pledged to secure general

banking facilities and are classified as current assets.

The pledged bank deposits carry interest at fixed rates
ranging from 0.30% to 3% (2019: 0.30% to 3%) per
annum. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon

settlement of relevant bank borrowings.

Pledged bank deposits denominated in RMB amounted to
approximately HK$418,183,000 (2019: HK$481,719,000)
as at 31 December 2020. Remittance of funds out of the
PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC

government.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

28.

29.

EiERRITER
BIRIRIRITEMISIER FRITUBIGEE
FARER -—MRBITREZGTER - TRA
#B1418,183,000T (ZF—h&E . B
#481,719,0007T) B LU BN — AR IR
TRE TESEARBEE-

BIRFIRITERUBEEFEFZFE030%E
3% (ZE—HE 0.30%F3%) st 2o
BIEARITERENEEEMRITES
BEMRPR

RZZZEF+ZA=+—H UA
REAEZEEFRITERABOE
#418,183,0007C (ZE—NF : B
481,719,0007T) -BHAPEZE®ESR
3 A [ B R B9 S BE B 1 57 R ©

HERREZEY
() RERREEEWEIE:

2020 2019

—E-EF —E—NEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT T

Cash and bank balances & KIRITEE R 386,473 448,553

At 31 December 2020, cash and cash equivalents
with banks in the PRC amounted to approximately
HK$338,202,000 (2019: HK$314,066,000). Remittance
of funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange

restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

RIEZZEE+-"A=+—H%&
BMRHPERERRTHNRERRES
L BWH %A 1338,202,0007T (=
ZT— N . #B%314,066,0007T) °
BEHAREZESEZIPEEN
B9 5 BE B I FR IR o
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29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

192

29. RERBFEFEM -

CHINA NUCLEAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

n‘E
- continued
(b) Notes supporting cash flow statement (b) IRE|FRERME
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing METEFFELEE 2R .
activities:
Amount
due to
Bank and an intermediate
other Lease holding
borrowings liabilities company
RITR P& 3 o R B
Hitfg & HEAR AR
(note 32) (note 17) (note 31)
(M5E32) (MzE17) (MEE31)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETT
At 1 January 2020 RZZEZZF—H—H 2,484,520 6,563 100,575
Changes from cash flows: ReERegs.
Proceeds from new bank and R TRAMEERSHRE
other borrowings 2,556,297 - -
Repayments of bank and BERTREMEES
other borrowings (1,639,981) - -
Interest paid BAFHE (65,639) (482) (4,994)
Repayment to a fellow subsidiary RRZKBARER (150,099) = =
Repayment to an intermediate holding & H EZIRABER
company - - (101,229)
Payments of lease liabilities EBRHEER - (5,707) =
Total changes fEE) 700,578 (6,189) (106,223)
Exchange alignments: ERAZE. 174,636 312 654
Other changes: HitEg .
Finance costs BBRE 65,639 482 4,994
Addition of lease liabilities hEHEaR = 6,073 =
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B AR 69,188 = =
As at 31 December 2020 RZBZE2E+"A=+—H 3,494,561 7,241 =
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29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 29. RERIRNELEEBY &

- continued
(b) Notes supporting cash flow statement (b) REFTERME—&
- continued
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing MEESFMEEABZHE —&
activities: — continued
Amount due Amount
to a non- due to an
Bank and Obligation controlling  intermediate
other under Lease interest holding
borrowings  finance lease liabilities  shareholder company
BTk HMEHE FEfIJEERR  FEfTRRERG
Hitfg & & HEER HZRRWE ARRE
(note 32) (note 17) (note 31)
(FffzE32) (Mi=£17) (izE31)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2019 RZE—nE—B—HE%
as originally presented 1,676,470 100,746 - 10,874 51,237
Initial application of HKFRS 16 MR E BB REER
F165% - (100,746) 113,381 - -
Restated balances at 1 January 2019  RZZE—hE—A—BEF#EE 1,676,470 = 113,381 10,874 51,237
Changes from cash flows: BeEREs .
Proceeds from new bank and IR R EMEEREHIE
other borrowings 1,561,242 - - - -
Repayments of bank and BERTREMES
other borrowings (1,110,950) - - - -
Interest paid BAFHE (48,535) - (1,542) - (3,092)
Proceed from a fellow subsidiary BREZWBASMREIIE 458,962 = = = =
Repayment to a fellow subsidiary GIEEN VNG EA (67,994) = - - -
Repayment to a non-controlling IR R RER
interest shareholder - - - (10,874) -
Proceed from an intermediate B EZERARMERE
holding company = = = = 50,996
Payments of lease liabilities ERHEEERE - - (106,204) = =
Total changes BEy 792,725 - (107,746) (10,874) 47,904
Exchange alignments: ERAE (33,210 - (614) = (1,658)
Other changes: Hitgg) :
Finance costs B A 48,535 = 1,542 = 3,092
As at 31 December 2019 RZZE-NE+ZB=+—H 2,484,520 - 6,563 - 100,575
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30. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 30. EERRIERER
2020 2019
ZEZEHF —E—NhEF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR AETT

Trade payables FE 1T & 5 BRI1E 1,635,174 1,056,740

Bills payables &1 = 4% 659,950 833,340

2,295,124 1,890,080

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables at the MBEZRIHHAE RESHRZEGE
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as SFIREREREZREDTWT :

follows:
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000

AT AETT

0-90 days 0F90H 987,512 563,027
91-180 days 91&180H 336,535 451,114
181-365 days 181E365H 854,330 799,742
>365 days BiB365H 116,747 76,197

2,295,124 1,890,080
The trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally B EZIREARS > B—#RAEM30
settled on 30-day term. HAZTe
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31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 31. HfthET IR ESTIA
2020 2019
—EZEFE —E-hFE
HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR ABTT

Other payables H &R 226,732 271,918
Accruals F& 5+ 7RIR 26,020 37,916
252,752 309,834
As at 31 December 2020, included in other payables WN_E_EEFE+_HA=+—H HEth
of approximately HK$Nil (RMBNil) (2019: approximately FEMREAEENBES T (AREZT)
HK$100,575,000 (RMB90,000,000)) which represents ZE—hFE 448 %100,575,0007T
unsecured interest bearing borrowings from CNICL, an (AR 90,000,0005T)) A AKB AR
intermediate holding company of the Company. The interest SAHHEERATFIREEZ BIEHETR
rate of the loan is at the prevailing benchmark lending EBE - BRFEATPTEARBEITEMRDN
interest rate to be promulgated by PBOC multiplied by RITEEBEMNERUTE(+20%) (Z
(1420%) per annum (2019: PBOC multiplied by (1+20%) per TZ—NE PEARBITEMGBNIRTE
annum). EEENERUSE(1+20%)) 5tH -
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(i) The bank and other borrowings were secured by (i)
(i) corporate guarantee provided by subsidiaries
of the Company (2019: subsidiaries of the
Company); (ii) finance lease receivables amounted
to HK$182,082,000 (2019: HK$238,363,000); (iii)
trade receivables amounted to HK$13,111,000 (2019:
HK$22,350,000); (iv) pledged bank deposits amounted
to HK$418,183,000 (2019: HK$481,719,000); and (v)
the share capital of subsidiaries (2019: share capital of

a subsidiary).

CHINA NUCLEAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION LIMITED
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 32. IRITRHEMES
2020 2019
—EEHE =
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
Current ENEHA
Short-term bank borrowings, secured ZHAIRITEE » IR 95,352 169,755
Short-term bank borrowings, unsecured FEHARITBE > BIEW 908,488 636,354
Long-term bank borrowings, secured, RIASRITHEE  BiEH»
current portion ENEAER & 156,723 74,344
Long-term bank borrowings, unsecured, RHEIRITREE » |mIKw
current portion BUHAER 3 86,275 5,588
Other borrowings, secured, HEE > FEH
current portion ENEAER & 304,633 809,905
Other borrowing, unsecured, HMEE » FIKH
current portion BUHA R 3 63,352 3,855
1,614,823 1,699,801
Non-current JEEPHA
Long-term bank borrowings, secured RAERITHEE  BIKE 641,178 628,607
Long-term bank borrowings, unsecured RERITREE » BIEH 592,226 =
Other borrowings, secured HtEE > 5EHF 317,028 130,125
Other borrowing, unsecured HinEE  SmIiKH 329,306 25,987
1,879,738 784,719
Total bank and other borrowings RITREMEE R 3,494,561 2,484,520

RITREMMBEETL U AT HE
AT (ZB—NE : KATHWBA
) REZABER (NBHAE
182,082,000t (ZE—hE: &
#%238,363,00070) ZRIEHERE
U kI8 ;5 (i) & B AR 13,111,0007T

—E—hF:AE¥22,350,000
7T) ZFERE ZERIE ; (V) A BIEE
418,183,0007T (ZEB—H.F : B
481,719,0007t) 2 BiEIRERITE
T RVHBATKRE (ZE—H
F B ATRA) EIKE o
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
— continued

(i)

(iii)

All bank and other borrowings bear interest at floating
rates, with effective interest rates ranging from 2.0%
to 6.3% per annum (2019: 2.0% to 6.3% per annum).
The carrying amounts of bank and other borrowings
approximate to their fair values.

As at 31 December 2020, included in other
borrowings of (i) approximately HK$256,259,000
(RMB215,000,000) (2019: approximately
HK$385,538,000 (RMB345,000,000)) which represents
secured interest bearing borrowing from Hi%ERIE
AERMAERAE (transliterated as China Nuclear
Engineering and Construction Financial Leasing Co.,
Ltd. ("CNECFL")), a fellow subsidiary of the Company.
The borrowing is secured by certain trade receivables
of the Group amounting to HK$13,111,000 (2019:
HK$22,350,000) and bearing interest at 5.8% per
annum (2019: 5.8% per annum); and (i) approximately
HK$27,718,000 (RMB23,255,000) (2019:
approximately HK$29,842,000 (RMB26,704,000))
which represents a unsecured interest bearing
borrowing from CNECFL. The interest rate of the
borrowing was 5.8% per annum (2019: 5.8% per
annum).

The carrying amounts of bank and other borrowings at the

(ii)

(iii)

32. IRITRHEMBEET &

FFERTREMBEEHEN T
20%%E63% (ZTE—NE:2.0%
F6.3%) ZEZHEBEREFEGFR
RTKREMEEZREEREA
FEESE-

RIE-_ZTE+"A=+—H H
&S BIE()A B 256,259,000
7t (AR #215,000,0007T) (==
—hE : #9#385,538,0007T (A
E #345,000,0007T)) » AR B K
AR ZMBAT PIZEREME
ERMERL2AE (TPIZERE)
HNERFGTEEE ZBEUE
#13,111,0007c (ZE—hEFE B
#22,350,0007T) WANEEE THE
WE ZRIBEEIRT WiRENE
5.8%(ZF—NEF  EFFE58%)
R R(iNAHB127,718,0007T
(AR #23,255,0007t) (Z&—H
&£ 498 1829,842,0007T (AR #E
26,704,0007T)) 5 R B RiZE AL E
HEIBEFAEBE -ZBENER
KAS8%(ZT—hE EMEXS
5.8%) °

REBESAH RITREMEEZREE

reporting date are denominated in the followings currencies: AL TS GHEEHE -
2020 2019
BT —E—hE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
HK$ B 330,000 450,000
RMB AR 2,829,289 1,776,093
United States dollars (“USD") E5t (M%Em)) 335,272 207,127
Euros (“EUR") Br7t (TER7Tl) - 51,300
3,494,561 2,484,520

2“‘: N £E I'\E
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32.

198

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 32.

- continued

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had undrawn
bank loans facilities of approximately HK$293,864,000
(RMB246,551,000) (2019: approximately HK$295,950,000
(RMB261,154,000)).

At 31 December, total current and non-current bank and

other borrowings were scheduled to repay as follows:

IRTREMES &

R=F_Fg+_H=+—H &
EENARENBITERMREANBIEL
293,864,0007T (A K #246,551,0007T)
(ZE—NE : 4%¥295,950,0007T
(NE#261,154,0007T)) °

R+ZA=+—8 > RBKRIFRBIRT
REMEEHEBNABEEBROT !

2020 2019
—E-EF —E—-AE
HK$'000 HK$'000

AT AETT

On demand or within one year BEREBEIN—FA

More than one year, but not BR—FEREAMFE
exceeding two years

More than two years, but not BEMEEREBALE
exceeding five years

After five years hF®E

CHINA NUCLEAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION LIMITED
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1,614,823 1,699,801
416,922 390,487
840,630 377,967
622,186 16,265

3,494,561 2,484,520
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 1 January 2020, 21 January 2020 and 21 January 2020,
the Group entered into three sale and purchase agreements
with independent third party vendors to acquire 90%,
100% and 100% of voting equity interests of Danyang
Jinyangguang Photovoltaic Power Co., Ltd. (“Danyang
Photovoltaic Power”), Fuyang Hengming Solar Power
Co., Ltd. (“Fuyang Solar Power”), and Zhenjiang GCL
New Energy Co., Ltd. (“Zhenjiang GCL") respectively.
The principal activities of the above companies are power
generation operations of photovoltaic power station.
The considerations are approximately HK$12,140,000
(RMB10,860,000); HK$38,328,000 (RMB34,966,000);
and HK$46,597,000 (RMB42,510,000) respectively. The
acquisitions were made with the aims to acquire high-quality
assets for the expansion of the Group’s power generation
business. The acquisitions were completed on 17 January
2020, 13 March 2020 and 23 June 2020 respectively.

(a) Danyang Photovoltaic Power
Prior to the acquisition of 90% of voting equity
interests in Danyang Photovoltaic Power, the Group
owns 10% of voting equity interests in Danyang
Photovoltaic Power and recognised as financial assets
at FVTPL with carrying amount of HK$1,383,000.
At the date of acquisition, the Group remeasured
the financial assets at FVTPL and recognised loss on
disposal of financial assets at FVTPL of HK$34,000.
Upon the completion of the acquisition, the Group
owns 100% of voting equity interests in Danyang

Photovoltaic Power.

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the

acquiree as at the date of acquisition were:

33. KIEKI B A E]

R_E_TF—HA—B -Z8_%&—
= = s T S = e
B &AEERBIE=ABAIL=H

BEWE 2AKERBERAALRE
HERAT (TRBXRENL) Bl E
WABEEBNHERLE ((ERKBEIEE
N REIGEMAERERAT (T8
IR EI) 90% ~100% KR 100% M A K
RERE LRATINEBEFTHAR
BEMNBEEZ - RKEINNABE
12,140,0007t (AE#10,860,0007T) *
7 1%38,328,0007T (AK 34,966,000
o) R#H®A6,597,0007 (AR I
42,510,0007T) ~Z=HWEETWE
BEEEUBAEREENZEEERE K
BANK_E-_EF—A+tH =%
—EFE=ZR+=HKRZEZZTEA
“+=H%mK-"

(a) BEBEARKEN
RKERBARENIO%KBLR
EERER NEBRERARBRK
EN10%MBERZHEMKE WHE
RAREEAB1,383,000T2
RATEAABZZEMEE-
RIKERE ~EESMAERA
FEABHEZEMEE > LD
HERAFEFAABRZEME
EZEEE34,0005T ST
B AEERREERBARENED
MBERERERE-

RUE R WS Z AT # A&
ERBBEZATE:

PR ERE R
e
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
— continued

(a) Danyang Photovoltaic Power — continued

33. kBB AR — &

(a) BEBEAREN-&

HK$'000
BETT
The fair value of identifiable assets and RWEBE AI#NEEREEZ
liabilities as at the date of acquisition were: NEE
Property, plant and equipment L ER =Y 35,453
Trade and bills receivables FEU B 2 BRTE K E45 769
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEATFRIE ~ ¥ R EL At FE UL FRIE 7,524
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 1,746
Trade and bills payables FEH B S IRIEREE (169)
Other payables and accruals H (I R IB K FE st TUIE (31,834)
13,489
The fair value of consideration transferred: BEEEREBEZATE:
Cash RE 12,140
Financial assets at FVTPL BATESABOZEHEE 1,349
13,489
Cash outflow arising from acquisition of WiE—EREATSEENRERE
a subsidiary
Cash consideration paid BENRENAE (12,140)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BRERERIREEEY 1,746
(10,394)
Had the business combination taken place on 1 HWEEEHNR_S_ZT&F —
January 2020, revenue and net profit of the Group for BE—BE&ET xEBHE_Z
the year ended 31 December 2020 would have been 2+ _HBA=+—HLE=E
approximately HK$2,173,954,000 and HK$70,830,000 EWWaE kAT EDNNOE
respectively. The pro-forma information is for HM2,173,954,0007T K B &
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an 70,830,000t E Z B REH R
indication of revenue and results of the operations of B RBARRRZZBZEF—HF—
the Group that actually would have been achieved had HEBRWREREATDRAERSE
the acquisition of the Investee been completed on 1 REESZzZHaRKEEXEZIE
January 2020 nor are they intended to be a projection 1B IR ERIREZ TR o

of future results.
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
- continued
(b) Fuyang Solar Power

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the

acquiree as at the date of acquisition were:

33. kBB AR — &

(b) BEXEBEEN

ERBREZAFE:

RUEE R WIS Z AT &

HK$'000
AETT
The fair value of identifiable assets and RKEBR AI#EEREEZ

liabilities as at the date of acquisition were: NEE

Property, plant and equipment ME-BEREB 131,986

Trade and bills receivables U B 2 BRIE R E45 34,376

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEMTFRIE & R H A FEUTRIE 8,645

Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 800

Trade and bills payables FETE ZIRIERZHE (384)

Other payables and accruals HL 1 & {5 7R I8 Fe & 51 FRIE (67,104)

Other borrowings HMtEE (69,188)

Tax payable FETFRIE (571)

38,560
The fair value of consideration transferred: BEEERBEZATE:

Cash RE (38,328)
Gain on bargain purchase EEREE WA 232
Cash outflow arising from acquisition of KWE—MNEASEENRER

a subsidiary
Cash consideration paid ENIREAE (38,328)
Cash and cash equivalent acquired BRERERREEEY 800

(37,528)

thEAE R R EEARAT
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. WEBMIB AT — &
— continued

(b) BEREXBZEEN-&

(b) Fuyang Solar Power - continued

Gain on bargain purchase was mainly due to the
fact that the seller had the intention to exit from his
investment in the acquired business due to his business

reasons.

Had the business combination taken place on 1
January 2020, revenue and net profit of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2020 would have been
approximately HK$2,181,300,000 and HK$75,093,000
respectively. The pro-forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of the operations of

the Group that actually would have been achieved had

HERBZUETEREAEE
BREMASRREWBERHE-

WEBEEHNR ST F —
B—BE&ET AE@EE_-T
ZTEE+ZHA=+—HLE
EHBRREFN 2N 5
#H&2,181,300,0007T K # &
75,093,0007c c 5 ZE B BHE HER
B RABRER B _TF—HF—
HERKEREATDREAERE

RERESZWRGERQEXBEZEE
B TRARIEREKRERZTRA

the acquisition of the Investee been completed on 1
January 2020 nor are they intended to be a projection

of future results.
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. BB AR —4&
- continued
(c) Zhenjiang GCL (o) SHIHE
The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the RUEEBER > RIS 2 el hl &
acquiree as at the date of acquisition were: ERBBEZATHE:
HK$'000
AETT
The fair value of identifiable assets and RKEBR AI#EEREEZ
liabilities as at the date of acquisition were: NEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BEREB 119,589
Trade and bills receivables FEURE 5 BRTE R 2 4% 25,171
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 5,177
Trade and bills payables FEt B 2 IRIE R 45 (1,308)
Contract liabilities EHEME (245)
Other payables and accruals HL 1 & {5 7R I8 Fe & 51 FRIE (98,488)
49,896
The fair value of consideration transferred: BEENEZAFE:
Cash HE (46,597)
Gain on bargain purchase HERBE WS 3,299
Cash outflow arising from acquisition of KE—HRNERASELENRER
a subsidiary
Cash consideration paid ENRENRE (46,597)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BRERERIREEEY 5,177
(41,420)

hEEAEHEERERAD
e zaay 203
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
— continued

(c)

Zhenjiang GCL - continued

Gain on bargain purchase was mainly due to the
fact that the seller had the intention to exit from his
investment in the acquired business due to his business

reasons.

Had the business combination taken place on 1
January 2020, revenue and net profit of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2020 would have been
approximately HK$2,181,135,000 and HK$72,141,000
respectively. The pro-forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of the operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition of the Investee been completed on 1
January 2020 nor are they intended to be a projection

of future results.

33. InHEEHIE AT —

(c)

n\E

HImE—&
HERBZUETEREAEE
BREMASRREWBERHE-

HEBSHR_Z_ETF—HF—H
BT AEEEES-TE+Z
B=+—HLFENKERAT &
PDRNA A AENE2,181,135,0007T &
BHT72,141,0007C ° fEE B RMEMH
A RKBRRRZZEZETFE—A
—HERKBEEATRREEEE
MEESZWNERKSEEEZIE
o IRAREERREEZ ZTER o

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. ig7s

Ordinary shares HiEhk
2020 2020 2019 2019
—7—7$ ——-r—wi :g_hﬂi _j.l.:ﬂs
Number Share Number Share
of shares capital of shares capital
K& E g7 RRHEE g
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
The ABTR T BETT

Issued and fully paid: BRTRARE

At 1 January and 31 December R—B—HKR+ZA=+—H 1,313,095 131,309 1,313,095 131,309
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35. RESERVES 35. {#fE
(a) The Group (a) =&H

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

Properties revaluation reserve

The properties revaluation reserve has been set up and
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
of “Property, plant and equipment” as set out in note
4(e).

Exchange reserve

Exchange difference arising from the translation of
the net assets of the Group's foreign operations from
their functional currencies to the Group's presentation
currency (i.e. HK$) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the

exchange reserve.

Statutory reserve

The statutory reserve of the Group refers to the PRC
statutory reserve fund. Appropriations to such reserve
fund are made out of profit after tax as recorded in the
statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries.
The amount should not be less than 10% of the
profit after tax as recorded in the statutory financial
statements unless the aggregate amount exceeds 50%
of the registered capital of the PRC subsidiaries. The
statutory reserve can be used to make up prior year
losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into
the PRC subsidiaries’ capital by means of capitalisation

issue.

SEESFERBEFEZHS
SEREBPLINGA RER
DR

MEE LR
MEEGHBERBEME4()FTE
A HRME -BERRHEHI B
TR BRI

ERHAE
FEEBIEHCEEFERE
MWEEERRMENAERZ 25 G
(BNB) RIrEEZERERTD
E#EREMEE W RN
EREER R

R
FEBZAEEMBIREPREIEE R
BET MZFEFEZFLRZER
ThEBEREKEAREEMBR
RFTFIZBRIGBEH - AT EER
SRIGEEMBIRRATIRRE
R Z10% > MEAEER BB B B
AR EMEAS0% 2 1557 AR5 o
EERMEFDTARBMAEESRE (W
B)  TAZBEACRTEHIRS
FENBARZER-

*@tiﬁﬁﬂﬁ%gl‘ﬂﬁﬁl 205
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35. RESERVES - continued 35. Rt —1&
(b) The Company (b) AT
Share
premium  Contributed Accumulated
account surplus losses Total
feiniaER AR RitBHE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT BETT

At 1 January 2019 RZZ2-NFE—B—H
Total comprehensive income  FRZEREELE
for the year

At 31 December 2019and WRZ=ZE—-h&E+-B=+—H
1 January 2020 kR-Z-ZF¥—HB—H
Total comprehensive income  FRZEREELE
for the year

At 31 December 2020 K-E-Z5+-HA=+—H

1,527,293 203,630 (1,456,258) 274,665
= = (42,003) (42,003)
1,527,293 203,630 (1,498,261) 232,662
= = (23,687) (23,687)
1,527,293 203,630 (1,521,948) 208,975

The application of share premium account is governed
by Section 40 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda

(as amended).

The Company's contributed surplus represented
the excess of the fair value of the shares of the
subsidiaries acquired, over the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange therefore. Under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
a company may make distributions to its members
out of the contributed surplus if to do so would not
render the Company’s ability to pay its liabilities as
they become due or the realisable value of its assets
would not thereby become less than the aggregate
of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share

premium.

206 CHINA NUCLEAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION LIMITED
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ERABZMABERS TN B
RERMZAFEEHEKRBEZ
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36. CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any capital
commitments (2019: HK$Nil).

37.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

=g e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

36.

37.

statements, the Group had the following material

transactions with related parties during the year:

a.

Transactions with related parties

B KiE
R-B-SHE+-A=+—0 A%HE
I REMEREE (CE—NE BUS

TRES
EAREALRS

BRiREMBRESTRESN  £5E
RERNEBAEALTBEUTERRS !

a. BREALZXRS

2020 2019
—EEHE —E—hE
HK$°000 HK$'000

BAYETT ABTT

Transaction with intermediate
holding company

— Loan interest expense (note (i)

Transaction with a fellow subsidiary
— Handling fee expense (note (ii))
— Loan interest expense (note (ii))

Transaction with a fellow subsidiary
— Construction cost (note (iii))

Notes:

BREERABZRS

—EXFERAXZ (FEEG) 4,994 3,092
HERAMBATZR S

—FEERMAZ (MEEG) - 9,137
—BHF B (M) 10,251 4,577

HERAMBARZRZ
— R A (MK (i)

(i) The Group borrowed from CNICL, an intermediate
holding company of the Company, with the sum of
approximately HK$Nil (RMBNil) (2019: approximately
HK$100,575,000 (RMB90,000,000)) which was
unsecured, interest bearing at the prevailing benchmark
leading interest rate to promulgated by PBOC multiplied
by (1+20%) per annum and repayable on demand
(2019: PBOC multiplied by (1+20%) per annum and

repayable on demand).

16,104 =

() ZTEERAESQATHEERAT
hiZBREER BELNAEBE
ZT (AREZxX) (ZT—1H
F % ®100,575,0007T (A
E#90,000,0007T)) * ZE&AS
EIRF - KRPBEARRTEMR
MRTEEEEANXFUSE
(1420%) 518 WARERE
HBECE-AE HTRARR
THEGANRITEEESHNERU
% (1420%) 518> WAREK
BEER) ©

ERAR R EEERAT
T oz—sgey 2907
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 37. EXRAEALR B &
TRANSACTIONS - continued
a. Transactions with related parties - continued a. HRABEAXZXRZ-8&
Notes: — continued gk : — 48
(i) The Group borrowed from CNECFL, a fellow subsidiary (i) "EEFERAXIRABDRKEBEA

of the Company, with the sum of approximately
HK$256,259,000 (RMB215,000,000) (2019:
approximately HK$385,538,000 (RMB345,000,000))
which was secured, bearing interest at 5.8% per annum
(2019: 5.8% per annum) and repayable on demand.
The handling fee expense represents 1.7% on the
principal of the borrowing.

The Group borrowed from CNECFL, a fellow subsidiary
of the Company, with the sum of approximately
HK$27,718,000 (RMB23,255,000) (2019: approximately
HK$29,842,000 (RMB26,704,000)) which was
unsecured, bearing interest at 5.8% per annum (2019:
5.8% per annum). The handling fee expense represents
2.4% on the principal of the borrowing.

On 23 June 2020, a subsidiary entered into the
Construction Subcontract with China Nuclear Machinery
Engineering Company Limited (“CNME"), pursuant to
which CNME agreed to undertake the construction and
installation works of wind turbines and transformer
under the Xuzhou EPC Project. The total consideration
of the Construction Subcontract was approximately
HK$16,104,000 (RMB14,725,000).

Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group:

BN ZEREMER BBENB
##256,259,0007T (AR
215,000,0005t) (ZZE—hEF:
#9385 18385,538,0007T (AR
345,000,0007T)) * ZRIEAH IR
A REFES 8% (ZE—NE :
FRE58%) st ERBREKR
BE-FEEHIABELESN
1.7%°

rEERESQ2TARRKEBEA
DR ZEMEGR  HEEY
A HB27,718,0007T (AR
23,255,0007) (ZE—h%=F:
#%1£29,842,0007T (AR
26,704,0007T)) » R RIBAEIR
B REFES 8%(ZE—NE :
FFE58%) stR - FEEMS
BEBARETMN2.4% o

A ZEZEEARNAZ+=H>
— BB AT RSP LW IE
BRATE (THhiZEM IR 5T
NEESBAELN B iz
WIERRRIZRMNEPCIEEHIE
THEMKREBRBZNEERE
HETRE - BEEQEA02HEKE
A HER16,104,0007T (AR
14,725,0007T) ©

TEBFIEEEASZHRM :

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BAYETT AT

Short-term employee benefits EHAEEER 10,037 9,881
Pension scheme contribution BIRE 5T EIHRR 167 173
Total compensation paid to key TNFEEEEAS ZHRMLLE

management personnel 10,204 10,054
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS - continued

C.

Transactions with other government-related
entities in the PRC

CNNC is a PRC state-owned enterprise. Government-
related entities, other than entities under CNNC, over
which the PRC government has control, joint control
or significant influence are also considered as related
parties of the Group (“other government-related
entities”). The majority of the business activities of the
Group are conducted with other government-related

entities.

The transactions between the Group and other
government-related entities are conducted in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business within normal
business operations. The Group has established its
approval process for revenue from provision of EPC
and consultancy services, sales of electricity, purchase
of products and services and its financing policy for
borrowing. Such approval processes and financing
policy do not depend on whether the counterparties

are government-related entities or not.

Having considered the potential for transactions
to be impacted by related party relationships, the
Group’'s approval processes and financing policy,
and information that would be necessary for
an understanding of the potential effect of the
relationship on the consolidated financial statements,
the directors believe that the following transactions are

collectively significant for disclosure purpose:

37. EXKRAEANETR B —E

C.

51 i [ H. fth B 5 46 BA B AR A 32
]
PREESTEEBEEE FH&
EENTEERS  XPBEHFE
HHRAEHRERZENBA
HABRTHRASETEEREAL
(THt B AFHEMRER) - ~&H
WA EHZHHRAEMBA
HEERET

AEEAHMKFEMBERZE
NRZEREAERESEERE
EHENNBEERBRPET-
FEEHEMHERHEPCR AR
s - BAHE BEERMR
BRIUBMERF > LRERRILE
BEHRR -ZEBEMAEFRHERR
TEEHLREANNHERER
mAFAAE e

RESHEATREATEHERS
EEXNEE - FEENEREFR
RAE BRI R LT A2 A B RA (R 1
REMBBRENEEREMSE
VENER EERXR/UTRZH
ERESHEERLETTRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS - continued

Transactions with other government-related

C.

entities in the PRC - continued

revenue from provision of EPC and
consultancy services

The revenue from provision of EPC and
consultancy services refer to the construction of
photovoltaic power plant to local government-
related entities. For the year ended 31 December
2020, management estimates that the aggregate
amount of the Group’s significant transactions
with other government-related entities are at
least 14% (2019: 20%) of its revenue from

provision of EPC and consultancy services.

sale of electricity to the grid

The Group sells substantially all its electricity to
local government-related power grid companies,
and the tariff of electricity is regulated by relevant
government. For the year ended 31 December
2020, management estimates that the aggregate
amount of the Group’s significant transactions
with other government-related entities are at
least 91% (2019: 93%) of its sale of electricity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS - continued

c¢. Transactions with other government-related

entities in the PRC - continued

placement and borrowing

The Group deposits most of its cash in
government-related financial institutions, and
also obtains short-term, long-term and other
borrowings from these banks or institutions in the
ordinary course of business. The interest rates of
the bank deposits and borrowings are regulated
by the People’s Bank of China.

other transactions

Other collectively significant transactions with
other government-related entities include
property, plant and equipment construction. The
pricing and the selection of suppliers and service
providers are not dependent on whether the
counterparties are government-related entities or

not.

38. DEFERRED TAX

Details of the deferred tax liabilities recognised and

37. EXKRAEANETR B —E

¢ BREHMBAFHEREENR
%_HE

ErR R fEm™

REBEEXEBBRRED ~&H
i E X E DR EF R BA
R EZREE TRZFR
THRBREER REPK
HfEm e ZFRITEMRK
BEMBFRBREARIRT

=t
EE-

Hith3z 5

HHMBAFERERNEM
HAERARZEEME K
ERRERE-ARARZHN
EBEURH SRR KRR
HENREFERB SRS
#EFEREREMAR AR -

38. IRIETRIA

TR _RER T -NAFHEDAVEIL

movements during 2020 and 2019: RIEEBREEHFS
Revaluation
of Buildings
BEHETF
HK$'000
BT T
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 N _E—-NFE—A—H-ZZ—NEF
and 1 January 2020 +-A=+—HKERZ-ZZEZEF—H—H -
Charged to other comprehensive income SFAHMEEWE 5,374
Exchange alignments E AR B 320
At 31 December 2020 R-B_EF+_A=+—H

5,694

EEEREEIERAT 544
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL

RISK MANAGEMENT

a.

30. EMMTARETAMKER

Categories of financial instruments a. EMIAZHE
2020 2019
ot et 3 3 —F—hEF
HK$'000 HK$’000
AETT BT T
Financial assets at amortised cost  IR#HMAEFNRZ ERMEE
Trade and bills receivables FEU B 5 RIE R E ik 1,479,696 1,591,104
Loan receivables FEWRE R 119,902 48,115
Financial assets included in st AR & K H At FEURRIE
deposits and other receivables ZERMBEE 457,724 254,869
Financial lease receivables R A B EUREIE 300,740 391,574
Contract assets BNEE 1,176,454 848,636
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 386,473 448,553
Pledged bank deposits BIRIRIRITEMR 418,183 481,719
Other Financial assets HithEREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEABHZEMEE 26,756 28,139
Financial liabilities at BBERAFIRZEMARE
amortised cost
Trade and bills payables FEE BERIBER E 2,295,124 1,890,080
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBE 3,494,561 2,484,520
Financial liabilities included in 5T A EL{th F& {5 R I8 e FE 5t 7R IE
other payables and accruals ZERAE 252,752 309,834
Lease liabilities HEaR 7,241 6,563
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

a.

Categories of financial instruments

- continued

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
include trade and bills receivables, loan receivables,
deposits and other receivables, contract assets, finance
lease receivables, pledged bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents (2019: trade and bills receivables, loan
receivables, deposits and other receivables, contract
assets, finance lease receivables, pledged bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents).

Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value
of trade and bills receivables, deposits and other
receivables and contract assets approximates to fair
value (2019: trade and bills receivables, deposits and
other receivables and contract assets approximates to
fair value).

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's principal financial instruments, other
than derivatives, mainly comprise cash, short-term
deposits, trade and bills receivables, deposits and
other receivables, loan receivables, finance lease
receivables, contract assets, pledged bank deposits,
trade and bills payables, bank and other borrowings,
other payables and accruals and lease liabilities (2019:
cash, short-term deposits, trade and bills receivables,
deposits and other receivables, loan receivables,
finance lease receivables, contract assets, pledged
bank deposits, trade and bills payables, bank and
other borrowings, other payables and accruals and
lease liabilities). Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management of the Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

39. ERMMTARELXAEKRER &

EMIAZSE-&

TIBRAFESENEMIAE
EREEZRERTE BWE
PoBRERHEMEKRRE -ENE
E-MEBAERKMRE BIEFIR
TERRRERREEEN (TF
—NEFE RBREKEZREREE:
FEWRE TR~ B B H At FE W R IE
BHNEE - REHERKREB
BRRTERRBETRBETEE
) o

HRHEERTE BB ZRER
RE -BERHEMBUREREY
BEZIREERAQTERS CF
—hE EBHREFRARER &
EREMBBREREGNEEZ
SREERATEER) -

TREAREERERBE

FEBZFESMIA T£EIR
BRSN TEEFERES - EHER
BUEZRERRE BRERHE
W RE - BRER - RMEBEE
RKRRE SHWEE  EIRIFIRIT
ERBNESRERERE RTT
REAMEBE « Hth & RIBERE
RENKRBEAR (CE-HAEF:
RE - EHER - BREZRER
RE-BEREMEKRIE B
ER - MEHERKRE -ENE
E-BRFRTER - BHESK
BEREHE RITRHMES  Hith
BYRERESARBEAUAREES
B ZEEHMITAEZFBINIER
MErRE REAEEMTARH
Z B BR e 90 fe) R AR 52 3 L PR 2 B
REIMT -AEREERERKER

ERZERE UEFRAIKREE
R R ENGE B 5 T
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

b.

Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

There has been no change to the Group’s risk exposure

relating to financial instruments or the manner in

which it manages and measures the risks.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial

instruments in the normal course of the Group's

business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk

and currency risk.

These risks are limited by the Group's financial

management policies and practices described below.

3. ERMMTAREXEAREERE &

THEREERRREE-&

FEEHSMTIAAMZ AR
ERRHEAR S AL EET

FEBEMITANKER KX
BRRPELENTERRARFGE
BB BN E = LR AR E R K
B mERE-

EAEET XAtz 75 EER
RRIEG ZFERBAR-

Market risk 5 A&
(i) Foreign currency risk management (i) SMEREEEE
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily AEEMNIIERBEERE

through bank and other borrowings that are
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which
they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk

are primarily EUR and USD.

Some of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
are denominated in the functional currency of
the entity taking out the loan or, in the case of
group entities whose functional currency is HKS$,
in either HK$ or USD. Given this, management

considers no significant exposure to currency risk

MREEMRBZINEG KU
SN EESHEZRITREM
BE -SIBRILERBZERE
EREMTRET

ETHFEBZRITRAEAMBE
EYUEHERNERZI
EERE AHNERER
HINsEE WA AT AILUE
e ETetE Bt AR A
WHETHH EEERR

because of the HK$ pegged to USD. Al % 88 KM BB o
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
EUR’000 EUR'000
FET FE&T
Bank and other borrowings RITRHEMEE - 5,880
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

b.

Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Market risk — continued

(i)

Foreign currency risk management — continued

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group’s profit for the year and
accumulated losses and other components of
consolidated equity in response to reasonably
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to
which the Group has significant exposure at the
end of reporting period. The sensitivity analysis
includes balances between Group companies
where the denomination of the balances is in a
currency other than the functional currencies of
the lender or the borrower. A positive number
below indicates an increase in profit and other
equity where the HK$ strengthens against the
relevant currency. For a weakening of the HK$
against the relevant currency, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on the profit and

other equity, and the balances below would be

39. ERMMTARELXEARER &

THEREERRREE &

5% AL — 48

(1)

SMEREEE A
TRETNRRSHARELXE
B 18 A K R B 2 O BE BE =R
ZAREGEEHENEER
FREHM KRR R U R 4R
GiEmH AR AR D Z A
B -PRENINBELE
BRAABMZER MxF
RBERIDUERHES ZIhEE
BB ZEEE-HE
KRMBEEERRY  UTIE
BR T E A R H i
m-Z2EBERAMERHH
AIRTHEBEMNREMEDE
REESEREARZEE
BUTEHAIEEREH-

negative.
2020 2019
k- Jant- 23 ZB-NE
Effect on Effect on
Increase profit for Effect on Increase profit for Effect on
in foreign  the year and other in foreign the year and other
exchange  accumulated  components exchange accumulated components
rates losses of equity rates losses of equity
HEMER Higa HERET K
MEEE REsEH HitE 2 HEEE REHBHE A5
I A 7% A7 Lt A% A7
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BBTR el s BT
EUR B 5% - - 5% 2,565 -
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—ECTEFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T MBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL 30. R TARELRAKEER -8

RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. REAMREEBERBE &
policies — continued
Market risk — continued

5 EL B — 48
SMEREEE—AE

(i) Foreign currency risk management — continued (i)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to each of the
group entities; exposure to currency risk for
both derivative and non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that all
other variables, in particular interest rates, remain

constant.

The stated changes represent management'’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in
foreign exchange rates over the period until the
next annual reporting date. In this respect, it is
assumed that the pegged rate between the HK$
and the USD would be materially unaffected by
any changes in movement in value of the USD
against other currencies. Results of the analysis
as presented in the above table represent an
aggregation of the effects on each of the group
entities’ profit for the year and equity measured
in the respective functional currencies, translated
into HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the end
of reporting period for presentation purposes.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2019.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

b.

Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Market risk — continued

(i)

Interest rate risk management

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
bank and other borrowings, loan from related
parties and loan receivables. Borrowings issued
at variable rates and at fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair
value interest rate risk respectively. The Group
will review whether bank borrowings and loan
from related parties bearing fixed or floating rates
should be drawn from time to time with reference
to the trend of changes in interest rates. The
Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the directors monitor
interest rate change exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exchange

exposure should the need arise.

39. ERMMTARELXEARER &

b.

THEREERRREE &

5% AL — 48
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R Em 7 BT
FEBAZHANEXERRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL

RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

b.

3. MM TARELXEAKRER &

Financial risk management objectives and b. ZRMEAMREEBRREE &
policies — continued
Market risk - continued 5 Bk — 48
(if)  Interest rate risk management — continued (i)  FIEEEEE—E
The following table details the interest rate profile TRHFWNAEFES REI
of the Group's borrowings and loan receivables at BHNRE R T R RS
the end of the reporting period:
Group
TEE
2020 2019
o 33 —EhE
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) HK$'000 rate (%) HK$'000
BEFIE(%) BETT  BRAE%) BETT
Floating rate L8
borrowings
Bank borrowings RITEE (FEF32)
(note 32) 4.4 2,480,242 49 1,514,648
Other borrowings Hittfg & (i32)
(note 32) 5.0 730,342 5.5 554,492
Loan from an REFERABZER
intermediate (PtzE31)
company (note 31) - - 5.2 100,575
Loan from an fellow RERARMBARZER
subsidiary (note 32) (PHzE32) 5.8 283,977 5.8 415,380
3,494,561 2,585,095
Floating rate loan ZEEKWER
receivable
Finance lease receivables FiE#H & EKFIE (HzE27)
(note 27) 5.4 300,740 5.4 391,574
Total net borrowings FEEHE 2,193,521

3,193,821
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

b.

Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Market risk — continued

(11)

Interest rate risk management — continued
The interest rates and terms of repayment of the
Group's borrowings are disclosed in notes 17, 31

and 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a
general increase or decrease of 50 basis points
in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would decrease or increase the
Group's profit for the year and accumulated
losses by approximately HK$11,977,000 (2019:

HK$8,226,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of reporting period
and had been applied to the exposure to interest
rate risk for the borrowings in existence at that
date. The 50 basis point increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over

the period until the next annual reporting date.

The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2019.

3. ERMMTAREXEAREE &

b. &MEREEBERER &

5% AL — 48

(11)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
its trade and bills receivables, deposits and other
receivables, loan receivables, finance lease receivables,
contract assets, pledged bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents. Management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are

monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and bills receivables, deposits and
other receivables and contract assets, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customers as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customers operate. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade and
bills receivables, deposits and other receivables and
contract assets at the end of each reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regards, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group's credit risk
is significantly reduced. In response to the COVID-19
pandemic, management has also been performing
more frequent reviews of credit limits for customers in

regions and industries that are severely impacted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued

Credit risk — continued

At the end of reporting period, the Group has a certain
concentration of credit risk as 21% (2019: 13%)
and 35% (2019: 37%) of the total trade and bills
receivables was due from Group's largest customer and
the five largest customers respectively. The Group’s
concentration risk of credit risk by geographical
location is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for
100% (2019: 100%) of the total trade and bills

receivables.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and bills
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group's historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns
for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished

between the Group's different customer bases.

39. ERMMTARELXEARER &

THEREERRREE &

EERAE-&

REBEHFR AREAEERKE S
IRIERZREEEN21% (Z2—H
F:13%) R35% (ZE—h&E:
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL 30. R TARELRAKEER -8

RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. EREAMREEBEREE &
policies — continued
Credit risk — continued EERAE-&
The following table provides information about the TREMERAEERTZA
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and =+—HNEERBKREKES
bills receivables and contract assets as at 31 December: REREBERGHNEETRAGE
EHEINER
Gross Net
carrying Loss carrying
ECLs rate amount allowance amount
FHEE
Fi B S BEREE EiaEE AREFE
2020 % HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$"000
b k3.3 AT AETT BETT
Trade and bills receivables  FEWE 5 IRIB K 21
Current (not past due) Al (I EA ) 0.42% 1,011,942 (4,271) 1,007,671
1 - 90 days past due BH1ZE90H 0.54% 169,229 (914) 168,315
91 - 180 days past due AHER1ZE180H 1.37% 175,699 (2,407) 173,292
181 - 365 days past due #IHA181E365H 12.50% 149,055 (18,637) 130,418
1,505,925 (26,229) 1,479,696
Contract assets BHNEE 0.82% 1,186,121 (9,667) 1,176,454
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL 30. Rt TAREFXAKEER -8
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

b.

Financial risk management objectives and b. £FEAMREEBEREE &
policies — continued
Credit risk — continued EERAE-&
Gross Net
carrying Loss carrying
ECLs rate amount allowance amount
FHEE
BIEE RIREE BEEE BREFE
2019 % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—2—NhEF BEFT BT BETT

Trade and bills receivables FEW B S REBERERE

Current (not past due) a1 (T EA ) 0.35% 1,088,185 (3,790) 1,084,395
1 - 90 days past due B E90H 1.38% 145,738 (2,014) 143,724
91 - 180 days past due AR 1E180H 2.45% 307,904 (7,535) 300,369
181 — 365 days past due #E181FE365H 6.24% 66,783 (4,167) 62,616

1,608,610 (17,506) 1,591,104
Contract assets BHNEE 0.50% 852,900 (4,264) 848,636
ECLs rates are based on historical loss experience over FEHEEEBLEEUBE=F
the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect NEAEEEEREBEAREE ZSE
differences between economic conditions during the EEET AR U RBUREEE H
year over which the historical data has been collected, BEENKERRT - BAikn UK
current conditions and the Group's view of economic AEESEKREREENTER
conditions over the expected lives of the trade and bills FHRERRZBENER
receivables.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

3. MM TARELXEARER &

b. Financial risk management objectives and EMAKEEEEREE &
policies — continued
Credit risk - continued EERE—&
Movement in the loss allowance in respect of trade and FAMEKREZRERZEHRMES
bills receivables during the year is as follow: ZEEEBESEWT
2020 2019
—EZEFE E-NHFE
HK$'000 HK$’000

224

AYETT AT

At 1 January w—HA—H 17,506 16,025
Impairment losses for the year FRHERE 8,723 1,481
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 26,229 17,506

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits
are placed with financial institutions with sound credit
ratings to minimise credit exposure.

For deposits and other receivables, the directors of
the Company make periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of deposits and other receivables
based on historical settlement records, past experience
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information available without undue cost or effort at
reporting date. The directors of the Company believe
that there is no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12 months ECLs. For the
year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group
assessed the ECLs for deposits and other receivables
were insignificant and thus no loss allowance was
recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued

Credit risk — continued

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to
finance lease receivables and loan receivables, credit
limits and credit terms granted to customers are
approved by delegated officers and follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the credit risk
of the Group is significantly reduced. The directors of
the Company estimates the ECLs rates of finance lease
receivables and loan receivables based on industry
types, this historical past due information and lessee’s
creditworthiness. The directors of the Company believe
that these amount since initial recognition and the

Group provided impairment based on 12 months ECLs.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position after

deducting any impairment allowance.

Further quantitative disclosure in respective of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and

bills receivables are set out in note 24.

39. ERMMTARELXEARER &

THEREERRREE &

EEER-&

AEERCRERNEREREMRIE
REVERBANEERR &
FERFNEEREKRGEEHRARA
EREASHE  BIRNBETH
NipE@pEH -t ms > =2
AEEXRETEENGFEERKE
RIEEE - AARDEFTERITESR
B ELBHENKEABANEGEE
EfstMmEEAERKRERERK
ERNEREEGER - ARFE
FHEGEEVREDURNEER
FEERBI2EBAFEHEEHE
sHRRE R o

FEBEEZ&RAEERRUR
EMBERARPEEMEEZR
EEAREMREZRERES

rEBELEBERESRERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board
when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined
levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the

short and longer term.

As indicated in notes 17, 30, 31 and 32, all financial
liabilities of the Group were due to be repaid within
one year or repayable on demand except for the long-
term bank and other borrowings of HK$1,879,738,000
(2019: HK$784,719,000).

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds
using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool
considers the maturity of both its financial instruments
and financial assets (e.g. trade and bills receivables)

and projected cash flows from operations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

b.

39. ERMMTARELXEARER &

Financial risk management objectives and b. £FEAMREEBEREE &
policies — continued
Liquidity risk — continued TEN 1 BB — 4B
The maturity profile of the financial liabilities of the REIEHR > RBESAREIRAIR
Group at the end of the reporting periods, based SEZAEBEZEMEBEAIEHK
on the contractual undiscounted payments, were as MUWT
follows:
3to 1to 2to Total Total
Less than less than less than less than ~ More than undiscounted carrying
3months 12 months 2 years 5 years 5 years amount amount
EAMA  3EN1MER 1525 21E55 BiBsE  ANRAE REGELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
AETR  AETR  AETm  BMTR  BMTR  BETR BETR
At 31 December 2020 R-F-E£+-A=+-H
Trade and bills payables B8R RERER 2,295,124 - - - - 2295124 2,295,124
Financial liabilities included in stARMEA AR EH B
other payables and accruals ZEMBE 252,752 - - - - 252,752 252,752
Bank and other borrowings BIREMEE 351,044 1,351,801 515732 1,003,390 708,576 3,930,543 3,494,561
Lease liabilities HEaR - 5,832 1,886 - - 7,118 7124
2,898920 1,357,633 517,618 1,003,390 708576 6,486,137 6,049,678
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+_A=+-H
Trade and bills payables ERERRERER 1,890,080 = = = = 1,890,080 1,890,080
Financial liabilities included in StARMEARIEREH B
other payables and accruals AL 315,064 - - - - 315,064 309,834
Bank and other borrowings BAREMBEE 663,305 1,039,954 296,190 508,232 155502 2,663,183 2,484,520
Lease liabilities HEaR - 4,675 2337 - - 7,012 6,563
2,868,449 1,044,629 298,527 508,232 155502 4875339 4,690,997
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

C.

Capital risk management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period was as

3. MM TARELXEARER &

BXERmEE
FEBEABEEZTIEERERE
REEERENFHREEXRE I
MERRZENEE UXFHE
BEBRRAREMESKRRE
&

FEERBSEREZEECEE
HEAEBUEHAE BHEIFR
AEEAREE AEERERES
NFREZRE-BREBRTRE
WETHR - BE_S_ZER_
E—_NE+-_A=+—HLEE"
BEAEEZBE BRKRRELSE
IR & o

R
REEHRZRRLERIT ¢

follows:
2020 2019
k- et 3 3 —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
Debt* B 3,501,802 2,591,658
Total equity 4R AR 1,126,825 936,878
Gearing ratio BIREEE 3.11 2.77
& Total debt comprises loans included in lease liabilities, # EREEQIEst ATAEaE |

other payables and accruals and bank and other
borrowings as detailed in notes 17, 31 and 32.

The Group monitors its current and expected cash flow
requirements to ensure it maintains sufficient cash and
cash equivalents and has available funding to meet its

working capital requirement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE _E_ZTF+_H=+—RHILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

d.

Fair value measurements
The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments that are measured at fair

value at the end of the reporting period:

39

EMIAREFAMEE &

d. ATMEHE
T 2 90 K B 10 5 3R 45 A 1
AFEAENERMTIRAZAFE:

2020 2019
—E_8EgE C"E—AhF
Level 3 Level 3
B B4R
HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT BT T
Financial assets at FVTPL BATESt ARG ZEMEE
— Unlisted equity investments —JELEHRAKRE 26,756 28,139

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets

and financial liabilities.

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value
hierarchy:
Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical

items (unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other
than Level 1 inputs;
Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from

market data).

FR-EHEERTMEBES R
HE_RATEFAEZELIESE
B BRI ESALER-

TRLBERFEFRKTEDZ
AFEFAENERIRZDM !

BT
B4R
B=4

HEREBREED S
FRERER (CRERE) ;
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiE _E_ZTF+_H=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

d.

230

Fair value measurements — continued
The following methods and assumptions were used to

estimate the fair values:

The fair value of unlisted equity investments classified
at FVTPL have been estimated by using a market-
based valuation technique based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices
or rates. The valuation requires the directors to
determine comparable public companies (peers) based
on industry, size, leverage and strategy, and calculates
an appropriate price multiple, such as enterprise value
to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“EV/EBITDA") multiple, price to earnings
(“P/E") multiples and price to book (“P/B”) multiple
for each comparable company identified. The multiples
is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the
comparable company by an earnings measure. The
trading multiples is then discounted for considerations
such as illiquidity and size differences between the
comparable companies based on the company-specific
facts and circumstances. The discounted multiple is
applied to the corresponding earnings measure of the
unlisted equity investments to measure the fair value.
The directors believe that the estimated fair values
resulting from the valuation technique, which are
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the related changes in fair values, which
are recorded in profit or loss, are reasonable, and they
were the most appropriate values at the end of the

reporting period.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

d. Fair value measurements - continued
For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments
at FVTPL, management has estimated the potential
effect of using reasonably possible alternatives as
inputs to the valuation model and has quantified
this as a reduction in fair value of approximately
HK$1,200,000 (2019: HK$2,911,000), using less
favourable assumptions and an increase in fair value
of approximately HK$738,000 (2019: HK$1,739,000),

using more favourable assumptions.

40. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 March
2021.

39. ERMMTARELXEARER &

ATEHAE-E
HRBAFEFABEWIELS
RELREZATE EEEEHE
HEEAPERSETAENER
MABZEETRZEEHMGEE LM
MEL;, RARARMNBRRER
ToERMBEREELLAATER
LEHE 1,200,000 (ZE—H
£ #A%2,911,0007T) ; RARS
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Five Year Financial Summary

hEMBERE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited consolidated financial statements and restated

or reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

rEBRBERLAVWBREEZREREERE
BRE DEREETIZEZRBERGEMH
RR UWEFBEEETHEMIE  RETIW
To

=E
RESULTS ¥iE
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ot et -3 —E-hE ZE-)\E —E—tE ZE—RE
+-B=+-B +ZA=+—-B +ZA=+—-H +ZB=+—-H +ZHA=+—-H
LLEE HEE LLEE LHEE HFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AREFR AT BT AT AT
Revenue WA 2,171,194 2,892,578 2,256,268 1,963,381 2,215,305
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERindl 70,368 104,021 94,415 120,402 82,539
Attributable to: TR BRER:
Owners of the Company A UNGIEZ 2N 57,064 96,820 90,960 116,081 78,571
Non-controlling interests E[adiy 13,304 7,201 3,455 4,321 3,968
70,368 104,021 94,415 120,402 82,539
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND NON- BERBEARIEZERER
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
KZEZ%F RIZ-hE RIZ-N\F RKRIZ—tE RIZ—RE
+-ZA=+-B +ZA=+-B +ZR=+-H +ZA=+t-H +=A=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR BT BT BT AT
Total assets BELE 7,272,572 5,686,376 4,338,666 4,322,308 2,596,972
Total liabilities BELEE (6,145,747) (4,749,498) (3,456,997) (3,447,595) (2,088,183)
Non-controlling interests [y (19,981) (8,116) (14,797) (11,744) (7,366)
1,106,844 928,762 866,872 862,969 501,423
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